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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

Dear shareholders and partners,

Since the Company’s foundation, we have been providing routers
and software features to make connectivity more reliable, faster and
more usable in all kinds of use cases and locations. We have been
misunderstood as a hardware company for years.

Moving forward, we are going to change this perception to reflect
what we do. That is, “Supercharged Connectivity” for all industries.

In gist, we “supercharge” connectivity for customers, whether the
customer is using 5G, LTE, satellite, SD-WAN, or fixed network.

What is “Supercharged Connectivity”?

Network connectivity has become an indispensable part of our daily
lives. For most of us, connecting to the Internet is as simple as
subscribing to a 5G or broadband plan. However, relying on just one
single connection is often not enough.

For example, in home offices, a single home broadband may not
be enough for all the conferencing, cloud workload, and home
entertainment content streaming.

POS terminals, cloud-based SaaS applications and internal backend
systems commonly used in small businesses may depend on a single
business broadband. Any disruption to the connection would result in
lost customers and revenues for these businesses.

Similarly, an enterprise using a single fiber connection will lose a lot
of productivity to network congestion or network outage, even for just
a few hours.

In another example, broadcasters uploading live footage with a single

5G connection are prone to network congestion or poor reception.

In all those cases, the problem lies in relying on a single connection,
and the result is user frustration and lost productivity.

Peplink’s extensive ecosystem can supercharge connectivity by
combining different networks together, whether they are broadband
and mobile, or multiple mobile networks, or even mobile and satellite.
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Using multiple networks at the same time boosts network bandwidth,
provides multiple redundancies, reduces network latency, and enables
deployment in remote locations, vehicles and vessels.

The result is a better customer experience, more reliable network, and
flexibility to deploy anywhere.

In fact, in a recent use case, one of the largest cruise ship operators
in the world has selected Peplink to supercharge connectivity on their
whole cruise liner fleet by combining multiple Starlink connections.
Combining multiple Starlinks allows passengers and crew onboard to
stay in touch with their loved ones, stream their favorite content, or
work remotely in the open seas. This is a game changer. We believe
it will generate similar use cases among other maritime shipping
companies in the coming months.

In this example, our technology has “supercharged” Starlink to make
it more reliable, faster and more usable.

On top of that, we are also involved in numerous supercharged
applications that were not financially or technologically feasible in
the past, such as drones, remotely driven vehicles, and robotics.

Meanwhile, we continue to supercharge connectivity for businesses
of all sizes. For example, we have been selected by a fast food chain
restaurant operator in Malaysia to provide reliable connectivity to
store backend systems in over 1,000 restaurants. In Hong Kong, a
public transport company has deployed our ruggedised 5G routers to
provide passengers with free WiFi in over 1,000 buses. In Australia,
we have been chosen by a regional telecom operator to be the
standard connectivity product for their small enterprise services.

We continue to gain traction in North America and Europe, the
Middle East and Africa (EMEA) across many different businesses
and verticals. These opportunities are mostly addressed by our
service provider partners, who are our gateways to the diverse
enterprise market. While these opportunities are not as high-profile
as large cruise ships and robotics, they are equally important to our
business as they represent the volume opportunities for supercharged
connectivity.

Ultimately, Supercharged Connectivity is about making connectivity
better, and the need for better connectivity is almost universal across
all businesses and industries.
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERE

Significant Growth in Recurring Revenue

Supercharged connectivity is not just about selling routers and
hardware. The underlying technology requires a cloud infrastructure
to work, and our subscription packages and service bundles make it
easier for users to build and manage their supercharged networks.

We have seen significant growth in our recurring revenues, which
grew 37% year over year and now consist of over 27% of our sales.
During the year, we launched a software feature called InTouch,
which enables web browser-based remote management of third
party devices (such as connected cameras, server racks) without any
dedicated terminal, additional software licenses, and the need for
on-site work for IT operations. We have also enhanced the features
available in our CarePlan subscriptions. We believe these efforts have
driven significant growth to both the number of devices with at least
one subscription, which grew 33% year-over-year, and subscription
bookings dollar amount, which grew 49% year over year.

Supply Chain

During the semiconductor shortages, many of the key components for
our best-selling LTE routers running on older platforms have been
discontinued. We have successfully migrated to new platforms which
allow us to enable more advanced software features.

We have taken up significant investments in these hardware platforms
and get ourselves ready for an accelerated growth in software
subscriptions. Our increased inventory is a reflection of this strategy.
We reiterate that Plover Bay is not a hardware company. We create
value for our customers via software. We make hardware devices
so that these software features are available for every deployment
scenario easily. Hence we need to make sure we have these hardware
devices available and ready for our software subscriptions growth.

Software Subscriptions and Profitability

For instance, all our new platforms now have built-in 5G/LTE
connectivity. Users now have the choice to turn on and use this
built-in service only when they need an extra 5G connection to
supercharge their network. The service does not require any contract
or fixed monthly payment. Instead, data credits will be deducted
based on actual usage. We have already seen promising results from a
pilot project for this kind of built-in data service. Once our installed
base for this service reaches a certain critical mass, we believe our
recurring revenue growth will be extremely strong, and provide
another stream of recurring revenue on top of our existing CarePlan
service packages.

Therefore, we believe giving up short-term profitability to accelerate

the growth of our installed base will be very rewarding in the long
term.
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Partnership or Crossover Opportunities

Connectivity is highly crucial to the business models of IoT/SaaS
service providers that use connected devices (e.g. cameras, sensors,
GPS trackers, etc) to gather data and provide analytics and derive
insights. This market is highly diverse, with applications spanning
from agriculture to energy to retail and more. For these IoT/SaaS
businesses, uninterrupted connectivity is pivotal to providing a high
quality of service. Outages lead to dissatisfaction, and dissatisfaction
leads to lost customers.

For this reason, we believe many [oT/SaaS companies will benefit
from Supercharged Connectivity. Right now, the importance of
connectivity is often overlooked. Therefore, we believe there are
plenty of opportunities to partner or crossover with an IoT/SaaS
provider. Going forward, this will be one of our focus areas to grow
our business.

The Journey

We believe what we are doing is a game changer for the connectivity
market in the long run. Future connectivity should not just rely on a
single network connection. Having just a single network connection
should become history.

Using multiple networks at the same time delivers better speed,
better redundancies, better latency and enables deployments and
applications that were not financially or technically possible before.
The whole process should be simple, easy and straightforward.

While this is going to be a multi-year journey, we are not alone.
Over the years, we have built a community of channel partners
who passionately work on the ground to build solutions and solve
customer problems. They also provide valuable feature suggestions
and insights which our own passion driven R&D teams experiment
with, and turn into new products and features. This cyclic community
driven by passion is never stagnant, and is not something that can be
easily replicated.

During the discovery process, there are always ups and downs and all
this requires relentless belief that we can build something amazing.
We are fortunate to have team members who are also shareholders
around the world working together in chasing this dream. Thank you
for everybody’s hard work and relentless effort.

It takes a lot of patience and courage to invest in Plover Bay and we
appreciate this very much. Thank you for partnering with us in this
journey.
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Financial Summary

MBEEE

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
equity of Plover Bay Technologies Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (referred as the “Group” or “we” or “our” or
“us”) for each of the five years ended 31 December is as follows:

RESULTS

2022

20225
US$’°000
FEx

Hy iR BOA IR R (AR 2 7] ) 2 (] B
QA (TS s A ) B =12 H31H 1k T
fAFREAFERN OIS EE L ERE - Al
Lo HE S 1 B4R

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALLFE
2021 2020 2019 2018
20214F  20204F  20194F  20184F
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$ 000
T*m TFEm TFEmL THET

Revenue e A 86,757 74,128 52,818 45910 41,806
Profit for the year attributable B AT HEBEAELER

to owners of the parent & A 22,659 21,200 14,230 12,089 10,620
Adjusted by: R R

Equity-settled share-based DARE 5 %5 5 2 e 4y

payments b 3B X 266 123 215 530 761

Core net profit 2 F s F 22,925 21,323 14,445 12,619 11,381
Earnings per share — BRERN —

basic (US cents) E A (EAL) 2.07 1.96 1.34 1.17 1.04
Core net profit per share — BREOCFEFNE —

basic (US cents) E AR (EA) 2.10 1.97 1.37 1.22 1.12
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Financial Summary

MBRE

AE BEKER

As at 31 December
M12831H

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

20228 20214 20204F  20194F  20184F
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$ 000
FExx TF*Xx FFEx TFTFEL THEi

Assets EE
Total non-current assets IE VLB A AL 5,494 4,800 4,366 5,520 3,391
Total current assets Ui B A AL 77,796 66,943 54,941 44,558 41,904
Total assets & MR 83,290 71,743 59,307 50,078 45,295
Liabilities B
Total current liabilities B A 35,233 27,388 20,914 12,906 10,559
Total non-current liabilities W AR 4,766 4272 2,555 3,058 2,018
Total liabilities B 45 39,999 31,660 23,469 15964 12,577
Equity HE fi
Equity attributable to owners ‘AT EAFAELER

of the parent 43,291 40,083 35,838 34,114 32,718

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated L #i i Zl FE BB EZEZ A M B R E 2
financial statements. —Hpy e
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWR D

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue and segment information

Plover Bay designs and markets connectivity-related products and
technologies, including wired and wireless routers, software and
services. Our products include wired SD-WAN routers, wireless
SD-WAN routers and networking peripherals that support customers’
networks. We also sell add-on software licences, warranty and
support services, which includes on-demand data services.

Our revenue segments consist mainly of the following categories: (i)
SD-WAN routers, which is further divided into wired and wireless
products; (ii) warranty and support services, which includes provision
of warranty and usage-based data services; and (iii) software
licences, which includes one-off software licences and subscription
of InControl2 service.

Revenue overview

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s revenue
increased to approximately US$86,757,000, representing an
approximately 17.0% year-over-year growth. The sales of wired
SD-WAN products increased to approximately US$14,430,000,
or an increase of about 15.8% year-over-year. Sales of wireless
SD-WAN products increased to approximately US$46,773,000, or
an increase of about 9.9% year-over-year. Warranty and support
services increased about 34.2% to US$21,107,000. Finally, the
sales of software licences increased about 31.6% year-over-year to
US$4,447,000.

Within the sales of wired and wireless SD-WAN routers, sales of 5G
routers were particularly strong, while small enterprise routers and
supporting products such as long-range mobile antenna also showed
significant growth. This was partially offset by our LTE products
portfolio as they transit to new platforms, as components for old
platforms were being discontinued. Growth in warranty and support
services has been driven by rapidly growing number of devices
under subscriptions, which increased by approximately 32.7%, as
well as subscription booking dollar amount, which increased by
approximately 48.8% year-over-year. In addition, sales related to data
services (recorded in warranty and support services) have also seen
impressive growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The table below sets out our revenue by product and service category
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021:

BEEmR DA

TR H A 20224 X 20214F 12 A31H 1k
A R O B RO SR B A A

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
H B AR fib SR ARy
N BoE e A Bt
US$°000 % US$’000 %
TER % T%£7t %
SD-WAN routers: SD-WAN i i #% :
Wired A B 14,430 16.6 12,463 16.8
Wireless 4 4% 46,773 53.9 42,561 57.4
Warranty and support services & & 5 37 48 IR B 21,107 24.3 15,724 21.2
Software licences A FF AT 4,447 5.2 3,380 4.6
Total &t 86,757 100.0 74,128 100.0

Overview of one-time sales and recurring sales

We consider the sales of wired and wireless SD-WAN routers,
licences for virtual appliances and add-on licences for software
features to be one-time sales.

Recurring sales mainly include the revenue of (i) embedded first-year
warranty, (ii) the subsequent renewal of warranty and support
services (typically in one to three years intervals), subscription for
InControl2 (typically in one to three years intervals) and (iii) the
sales of cloud and data services, which are based on data usage.

As part of the sale of a router or product, we include a one-year
embedded warranty and access to various features and services. To
reflect the embedded first-year warranty upon sales of a product, a
portion equivalent to 15% of the product’s sales value is deducted
from the sales value and recognised as contract liabilities. This
amount is then recognised as warranty and support services revenue
over the embedded warranty period (i.e., twelve months) in equal
instalment.

Subsequent renewal of warranty and support services refer to the
extension of warranty and services after the embedded first-year
warranty has run its course. Subsequent renewal requires additional
purchase of subscription contracts which typically have a valid
period of one to three years. We also refer to subsequent renewals as
“subscriptions”.

—AMEHERREHHEEME
AR5 A 4R S ISR SD-WAN B h #% ~ )&
$5E 5% A AT R SRR T B BRI AT ) 8
B— ke -

REEHE EEAREOMA LS —F R
& 5 Gi) PRAE FI 238 IRBS 48 5T G F MR —
F| =4F) » InControl2 5] B (&8 # b7 — 2 =
) F (i) A SRR 1F 1) &2 B 2R o A BOHR
i 5 1Y 85 B IR A o

A Ty B i 28 o 9 B B — 0 o FRAM 4R
e — AR ji A AR AE DL B4 5 2 58 AR BS 1Y
o FIHE o 2 R R i 8 4 R R B — 4R 1Y
i B AL DR AE > FRAM A 5 45 B o 1 BR AR A
E ity B B 15% AF 1 & R B - B4R
b AR i A SCOR B (R + 8 H) 4
3 U)W R A AR B R SR RS WA o

PRAE 0 S48 IR B 10 A 5T 2 18 7 ik A U5
— AR R B A R AR SE R AR R R B o A
w1 BRI EET B R AT A A
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR ECISER

During the year, one-time sales increased approximately 10.9% and
recurring sales increased approximately 37.2% year-over-year. Due
to the deferred nature of revenue recognition of embedded first-year
warranty and its subsequent renewal, the year-over-year growth of
recurring sales generally follows the growth trend of our router sales
of the past twelve months. In addition, the number of devices that
are currently under a valid subscription has increased owing to our
efforts to develop new features and services into our subscription
bundles.

During the year, many products on older platforms have been
migrated to new ones. The new platforms are designed to support
new software features and have built-in access to our cloud and data
services. In the longer term, as we accumulate a larger installed base
and enrich our subscription services, we expect recurring sales to
continue to increase rapidly.

The table below sets out the breakdown of revenue according to the
timing of revenue recognition for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021:

AAFRE > — RS R %10.9% »
KCHVE BB IR AR O A37.2% o B A
3R R 6 U g B R S AT Y R AE P
B AR IR B B R AR B RO W K 4G SD-
WAN B #3825+ 8 H 8 B R ) 1 =l
Bhoo AR > ph A FRAM BF 75 B T e AN IR B
PR R MM ETR a9 > BarH A A 3G
] 1) % A = A P 48 o

JRAAEJEE > FAM S B B A7 B A b
W 2098 15 B0 BE 1FF- & - BT B SRR
A8 A T B - Sl A S i A R IR
B oo REREAE - B TN M A R OK %k
BBt DA K A 80 5 T RT B A £ RE AN AR S
TR REH S B B AR R -

R E I A E 20224 KX 202112 31 H 1E
R N A RN N

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214

Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
1 4 A B fif B A
N Bat e A A
US$°000 % US$°000 %
FTEx % T %7t %
One-time sales: — WM B 63,004 72.6 56,815 76.6
Recurring sales: KW S 23,753 27.4 17,313 23.4
Total Gt 86,757 100.0 74,128 100.0

Overview of sales in geographical regions BHWENHEHEME

We divide our sales into the following geographical regions: North
America, EMEA (including Europe, Middle East and Africa), Asia
and other regions. During the year ended 31 December 2022, sales
from North America increased to approximately US$52,017,000,
representing year-over-year growth of approximately 20.7%. Sales
from EMEA rose to approximately US$21,736,000, representing
a year-over-year growth of approximately 10.6%. Sales from Asia
increased approximately 19.3% to approximately US$11,121,000.
Sales from other regions decreased approximately 8.6%
year-over-year to approximately US$1,883,000.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Sales from North America increased mainly due to strong growth
in the sales of warranty and support services, 5G routers and small
enterprise routers to a wide customer base, but offset by the decrease
in sales of LTE products due to their transition to new platforms. In
EMEA region, growth was mainly driven by 5G routers and warranty
and support services for maritime and transport customers, offset
by decreases in older platforms. In Asia, the increase was mainly
contributed by strong growth in Hong Kong, Malaysia, and Japan,
offset by general weakness in other Southeast Asian countries,
particularly Singapore and Thailand. In the Others region, sales
decreased mainly because of the high inflation and unfavourable
exchange rate movements of local currencies against USD, eroding
the purchasing power of customers in those regions.

The table below sets out the breakdown of revenue amount by
geographical location of customers and the respective proportion of
total revenue for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021:

BEEmR DA

LR e MR T2 RN REMZIE
R B ~ 5G B ih 25 A/ B A 3 B Y A0 8
BN IE > BN RELTERE &
FE1- & B B0EH B D T A AR I R B B o
FEEMEA M [ > 342 3 2 5G B Hh #% Dh &
T[] JAF 3 F0 A 8 %5 0 PR A8 R S 1R IR B
e B > (L [R] KK FILTE & & 8 %% 1 & 1M 35 4
HEEY o fERE > MR EEABNEBL B
A TG 55 A H A 3 S e R > H B = A B R
H B S (0 =2 8 3 A0 2= B 1 5 AR 9 i
PRIkl o fE HoAb b [m > BB PR EER
H A 1 4 iR RN M B W B0 3% oo 1 A R REE
) W T ZSMEEFNEE S -

TR H AL 20224F X 20214F 12 A31H 1
T {081 4 B i % 5 b S ) 0 B 4R S R A
Ak 280 A 4 L R B AR

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2022 2021
2022 20214F
Revenue % of total Revenue % of total
Y ON:Y i A A
N Aotk e A Bt
US$°000 % US$’000 %
TEx % T%£7t %
North America Je =M 52,017 60.0 43,087 58.1
EMEA EMEA 21,736 25.1 19,658 26.5
Asia i 11,121 12.8 9,322 12.6
Others HAthy 1,883 2.1 2,061 2.8
Total Gt 86,757 100.0 74,128 100.0
Gross profit and gross profit margin EXNRERNZE

For the year ended 31 December 2022, our gross profit was
approximately US$46,507,000, a year-over-year increase of
approximately 7.8%. Our gross profit margin for the year was
approximately 53.6%, compared to approximately 58.2% for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

BE20225F12H31H 1EE > FAM A E F|
#146,507,0003 JC > & 44 R £7.8% o K
R F) K 453.6% > T F 20214512 H31
H IE4F B F R 4)58.2% o
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Management Discussion and Analysis
SRR ECISER

During the year, our gross profit margin decreased as our product
mix continued to shift towards high-volume, small enterprise router
products, which are positioned at competitive prices to accelerate the
growth of our installed base and subscription services in later years
despite component cost increases.

The table below sets out our Group’s gross profit and gross profit
margin by product and service category for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021:

JAASAETE > FAM B T B A TR A BAM B E
AL A AR ) AR~ /DR A SE Bl AR
b T AT T B o A A R AF A 3 > A
75 S il A R S A FR A LU A B
TEAL > DU F AP A S o€ 26 4F 22 % HE WA
w1 B R B 3 = o

TR FAN A E 20224 K 2021412 A31H 1k
TR 1] 4 A 5 [ e i M AR 5 8 A 381 4 1)
EEV DS EEY B

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12R31BLEE
2022 2021
20226 20214
Gross Gross Gross Gross
profit margin profit margin
ER ERNE E A TAE
US$°000 % US$°000 %
FEx % T x5 %
SD-WAN routers: SD-WAN [ H ¢ :
Wired RN 6,166 42.7 6,520 52.3
Wireless e 452 16,682 35.7 18,389 43.2
Warranty and support services 15 Bl 32 & Ik 5 19,782 93.7 14,866 94.5
Software licences WA AT 3,877 87.2 3,380 100.0
Total Gt 46,507 53.6 43,155 58.2

Other income and gains, net

Other income and gains, net for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately US$183,000 (2021: approximately US$57,000).
They mainly comprised of approximately US$104,000 bank
interest income and approximately US$57,000 gain on disposal of
subsidiaries. For the year ended 31 December 2021, other income and
gains, net mainly comprised of approximately US$30,000 on bank
interest income and approximately US$16,000 on sale of parts.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses comprised mainly salaries and
benefits of our sales and marketing staff, advertising and promotion
expenses incurred to promote our products and other expenses
relating to our sales and marketing activities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31 December
2022 were approximately US$3,100,000, a year-over-year increase
of approximately 13.2%. During the year, the increase in selling and
distribution expenses was mainly due to increased warehousing costs
and increased spending on advertising and promotion.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses mainly represented salaries
and benefits of our administrative, finance and other supporting
staff, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, amortization of
intangible assets, lease expenses and other office expenses.

General and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December
2022 were approximately US$8,173,000, a year-over-year increase of
approximately 17.2%. During the year, approximately US$1,657,000
foreign exchange losses, net were recorded (2021: approximately
US$821,000). Excluding the effects of foreign exchange fluctuations,
general and administrative expenses increased by 5.9%, which
mainly represents the increase in staff salaries and lease payments.

Research and development, consultancy and other
expenses

Research and development (“R&D”) expenses mainly represented
salaries and benefits of our engineering, testing and supporting
staff, product testing fees, certification costs, tooling, components
and parts used for product research and development purposes.
Consultancy and other expenses mainly represented payments
to service providers for testing, technical support and system
maintenance.

Research and development, consultancy and other expenses for the
year ended 31 December 2022 were approximately US$8,792,000,
increasing 1.6% year-over-year. The increase was mainly contributed
by increase in consultancy and other expenses and offset by a
decrease in discretionary bonus granted to R&D team compared to
last year.

Government subsidies

For the year ended 31 December 2022, government subsidies of
approximately US$401,000 (2021: Nil) were granted under the
Employee Support Scheme implemented by the HKSAR Government
and approximately US$490,000 (2021: approximately US$646,000)
were granted by the Government of the Republic of Lithuania for
several R&D projects.

BEEmR DA
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB RO

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses

Included in selling and distribution expenses, general and
administrative expenses, and research and development, consultancy
and other expenses were equity-settled share-based payment expense,
representing equity-settled share-based payments to directors,
employees and consultants which are expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period since the grant date.

During the year, the Group granted 7,400,000 share options to 56
employees and 8§ eligible consultants on 17 June 2022. Equity-settled
share-based payment expense for the year ended 31 December 2022
was approximately US$266,000 (2021: approximately US$123,000).
Details of share options granted by the Group are set out below under
the heading “Share Option Scheme” of this annual report.

Total operating expenses

Total operating expenses for the year ended 31 December 2022,
which includes selling and distribution expenses, general and
administrative expenses, and research and development, consultancy
and other expenses, amounted to approximately US$20,065,000,
representing a year-over-year increase of approximately 9.2%.
Employee cost (including equity-settled share-based payment expense
and directors’ remuneration) remained our largest cost component,
which amounted to approximately US$9,957,000 for the year (2021:
approximately US$9,854,000). Excluding the effects of government
subsidies, the gross employee cost for the year amounted to
approximately US$10,832,000 (2021: approximately US$10,446,000),
representing a year-over-year increase of about 3.7%.

Finance costs and interest-bearing bank borrowings

Finance costs mainly represented interest on bank borrowings and
interest on lease liabilities.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approximately US$244,000, representing a year-over-year increase of
approximately 398.0%. The increase was mainly due to more loans
were borrowed during the year with higher interest rates.

As at 31 December 2022, bank borrowings were approximately
US$6,471,000 (2021: approximately US$4,639,000). The increase in
bank borrowings was mainly because of more credit facilities being
drawn down for working capital purposes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Income tax expense

During the year, the Group provided for Hong Kong profits tax at
a rate of 16.5% on its estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong, except for one subsidiary which is a qualifying entity under
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Taking into consideration
the effects of super deductions of qualified R&D expenses by the
HKSAR Government, the overall effective tax rate for the year was
approximately 14.1%.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 was approximately US$22,659,000, representing an
increase of approximately 6.9% year-over-year.

Inventories

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s inventory balance was
approximately US$32,333,000 (2021: approximately US$18,622,000).
During the year, we continue to accumulate a strong buffer of
key components to ensure customer demands can be met within
reasonable lead times. We also invested substantial working capital
into new hardware product platforms in order to accelerate the
growth of our user base and subscriptions.

Impact of COVID-19

To reduce the risk of cross infection of COVID-19 among employees
in our offices, the Group requires the wearing of facemasks at all
times during work and regularly disinfects our premises. In addition,
our offices are installed with medical grade air filters. We also
implemented work from home arrangements to reduce the number of
staff in the office at any given time.

BEEmR DA

ek

RN BT AL — [ E A A G
ISR 1R A T AR R4S B R R B
A S ) DLTE 7 Hk AR Al ST B s R
16.5% 1 Bl 2 43 15 75 s A5 Bl o 5 8 2 &
W R AT B BT 4 T A B E B
AH BH B BB B B AR AR B AR
) B B A OB R A 1514.1% ©

BARIEEAEEFE

B E20224F12H31H IL4E > R A HEA
N HE AL FI 3 4 522,659,000 TT 0 4E B
n#16.9%

7E

R20224F12H31H » AEFENTFEL HA
1432,333,0003E JC (20214 © #18,622,0005
JC) o AAAE R RAMAE B R B R & (1B
BT AAFAT > DR S sC BE R A
2B T 2R o FAM 3 B 3 44 2
BWRATRKEESERS > D22 23R M
F P B AN BT B 3 R R g o

Q09FFHBEBTRHEEMRX 2 E
EyBEAR AN E B T 0 28 SURR YL R B > A48
B R T IRE AT A X O 8 10 BB NI T A
WENGRT o BLAh > FRAM O AE A T R
FH 8% 722 SRR AL W 28 o TRAM IR E M JE A
NP WATATR E RE R BE A E W E T
BH -

202248 HEREAERAT 17



Management Discussion and Analysis
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is a summary of certain principal risks and
uncertainties the Group is facing, some of which are beyond our
control:

— Brand recognition of our customers depends on our ability to
keep up with the rapidly changing technologies or conduct R&D
and market our new products and services;

—  Competition from existing or new competitors may affect our
market share in the SD-WAN markets and our revenue may be
reduced;

—  Our business and financial performance depend on our ability
to manage our inventories effectively;

— Global trade policy uncertainties, which may affect the
economics of the purchasing decisions of our end customers;

— We do not have long-term purchase commitments from our
customers, which may lead to significant uncertainty and
volatility within our revenue;

— We may be exposed to credit risk of our customers, affecting
the collectability of trade receivables and adversely affecting
our cash flows; and

— Disruption of supply chain and raw material shortages may
affect our ability to meet customer demands.

The above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to make

their own judgement or consult their own investment advisers before
making any investment in the Company’s shares.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, our bank borrowings amounted to
approximately US$6,471,000 (2021: approximately US$4,639,000)
which are secured by the pledge of a time deposit amounting to
approximately US$2,029,000 (2021: approximately US$2,004,000).

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio (which is defined as
total borrowings over total equity) of our Group was approximately
14.9% (2021: approximately 11.6%). The Directors confirm that the
Group financed its operations principally from cash generated from
its business operations and expect that this will continue to be the
case in the coming year. We did not experience any liquidity problem
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

AGEING ANALYSIS OF TRADE
RECEIVABLES AND TRADE PAYABLES

For details of our ageing analysis of trade receivables and trade
payables, please refer to note 17 and note 21 to the consolidated
financial information, respectively.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, mainly in Euro, US dollars, Pound Sterling and
Australian dollars, hence exposure to exchange rate fluctuations
arises. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure closely in order to keep the net exposure to an acceptable
level. The Group will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

EMPLOYEE AND SALARY POLICIES

The Directors consider the quality of employees as the most critical
factor in maintaining the Group’s business growth and enhancing
our profitability. The Group offers remuneration packages including
salaries, bonuses and retirement benefits with reference to the
performance and working experience of individual employees, and
the prevailing market rates. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had
202 (2021: 190) full-time employees. The total amount of employee
costs of the Group (including equity-settled share-based payment
expense and executive directors’ remuneration) for the year was
approximately US$9,957,000 (2021: approximately US$9,854,000).
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The Company also adopted a share option scheme approved on 21
June 2016 for the purpose of, among other things, recognition of
employees’ contribution to the Group’s continued growth. During
the year, the Company issued share options on 17 June 2022. Details
have been set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
elsewhere in this annual report.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualified employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
from employers and employees are 5% each of the employee’s
relevant income. The maximum mandatory contribution per employee
is HK$1,500 per month. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of an
independent trustee. The expenses arising from the provident fund of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 were approximately
US$257,000 (2021: approximately US$235,000).

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in Malaysia are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme, the Employees
Provident Fund (the “EPF Scheme”) operated by the Malaysian
government. The subsidiary is required to contribute a certain
percentage of payroll costs to the EPF Scheme. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
specified contributions. The retirement benefit scheme contributions
arising from the EPF Scheme charged to profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were approximately US$44,000 (2021:
approximately US$39,000).

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in Taiwan chose to
participate in a defined contribution scheme governed by the Labour
Pension Act of Taiwan. This subsidiary contributes 6% of the total
salaries of participating employees who have chosen to participate in
the defined contribution scheme, deposited into individual pension
accounts at the Bureau of Labour Insurance of Taiwan. The expenses
arising from the defined contribution scheme for the year ended 31
December 2022 were approximately US$48,000 (2021: approximately
US$40,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The employee of the Group’s subsidiary in Singapore participate
in the Central Provident Fund scheme (the “CPF”) organized by
the government of Singapore. This subsidiary and its employee
are required to contribute a certain percentage of the employee’s
payroll to the CPF. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the CPF. The
subsidiary has no further obligations for the actual pension payments
or post-retirement benefits beyond its contributions. The expenses
arising from the CPF scheme for the year ended 31 December 2022
were approximately US$11,000 (2021: approximately US$7,000).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
AND FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENT

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant investment
held and no material future investment plan.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND

DISPOSALS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, other than the disposals
of two subsidiaries on 24 February 2022, the Group had no other
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated
companies. Details of the disposals are also disclosed in the Group’s
announcement dated 10 December 2021 and in note 20 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately US$145,000
in respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated financial statements (2021:
approximately US$61,000).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group’s bank facilities amount to US$14,927,000 (2021:
US$10,752,000), of which US$6,471,000 (2021: US$4,282,000)
had been utilised as at the end of the reporting period, and are
secured by the pledge of a time deposit of the Group’s amounting to
US$2,029,000 (2021: US$2,004,000).

DECLARATION AND PAYMENT OF
DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved to declare a second interim dividend of
HKS8.69 cents per share (the “Dividend”) for the year ended 31
December 2022. The Dividend will be paid on Friday, 24 March
2023 to shareholders on the register of members on Friday, 10 March
2023.
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Corporate Governance Report
EREREBE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Plover Bay Technologies
Company Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries
(referred as the “Group” or “we” or “our” or “us”) is pleased to
present the Corporate Governance Report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board has committed to achieving high corporate governance
standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company
to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company
(“Shareholders”) and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as its own code of corporate governance, and is committed
to maintaining high standards of corporate governance as well
as transparency. The Company has complied with all applicable
provisions of the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of
the Company for the purpose of complying with the CG Code and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own securities
dealing code to regulate all dealings by Directors of securities in the
Company and other matters covered by the Model Code. Specific
enquiry has been made of all the Directors and they have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code during the year ended
31 December 2022.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Corporate Governance Report
TEERHRE

Shareholders and
stakeholders
Ji& RNy

Board of Company

Directors Secretary

i s AR
Audit Nomination Remuneration Risk Management

Committee Committee Committee Committee

TRERY RHEEEE MEEg EREZ S G

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance best suited to the needs and interests of the
Group as it believes that effective corporate governance practices
is fundamental to enhancing shareholder value and safeguarding
interests of Shareholders and stakeholders. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group’s businesses.

COMPANY CULTURE

The Company’s culture is moulded by our vision and values. They are
shaped by the Peplink community, which consists of our employees,
business partners, and customers. Our culture in turn shapes our
employees, our strategies, and dictate the way we operate, solve
problems and develop new technologies.

The Company’s culture is a reflection of our core values and sets
us apart from our competitors. Our culture ensures employees will
continue to contribute their passion towards their work and our
vision. It also helps attract and retain new recruits from different
backgrounds with similar values. In turn, it solidifies our brand
identity and drives us to continue to innovate. We are committed to
putting our core values into practice every day and creating a work
environment where our employees can thrive and meet their full
potential.
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Throughout 2022, the Company continued to strengthen the cultural
framework and exploit the advantages of its distinguishable culture
in its strategic planning process. Such a process assists the Company
in identifying and assessing the opportunities and challenges that the
Company might face, and to develop a planned course of action that
will make the best use of its unique culture.

In 2022, our cultural framework shaped the Company’s strategic
priorities: (i) product innovation; (ii) user base and ecosystem
expansion; (iii) supply chain management; and (iv) enhance
operational efficiency. In each of these, our culture and values
directly or indirectly influenced the thought process, planning and
the subsequent execution of those strategies.

Please visit our website (“Company > Our Business” section) to learn
more about the Company’s purpose, vision and values.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven members, consisting of four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The function of the Board is to guide the management to ensure the
interests of the Shareholders are safeguarded.

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (Chairman)

Mr. Chau Kit Wai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chong Ming Pui

Mr. Yeung Yu

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Yu Kin Tim

Mr. Ho Chi Lam

Mr. Wan Sze Chung
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Biographical information of the Directors and relationship amongst
them, if any, are set out in the section headed “Profile of Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report.

The Company has received from each of its independent
non-executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based on
such confirmations, considers them to be independent.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations, business strategies and
management of the Group’s businesses to the executive Directors,
senior management and certain specific responsibilities to the Board
committees.

When the Board delegates aspects of its management and
administration functions to the management, it has given clear
directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with
respect to the circumstances. While allowing management substantial
autonomy to run and develop the business, the Board plays a key
role in structuring and monitoring the reporting systems and internal
controls. The composition and functions of each Board committee
are described below. The final decision still rests with the Board
unless otherwise provide for in the terms of reference of relevant
committees.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of skills
and business experience to the Group. They also bring independent
judgment on the issues of strategy, performance and risk through
their contribution to the Board meetings and to the committees’
meetings.

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the management of
the Company’s businesses and affairs with the goal of maximising
long-term shareholder’s value, while balancing broader stakeholder
interests. The Board has the following main duties:

o determine all the corporate matters;

. be responsible for the management, direction and supervision of
the businesses of the Group; and

. be responsible to ensure the effectiveness on Group’s financial
reporting and compliance.

The composition of the Board is well-balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the businesses of
the Group. All executive Directors, and independent non-executive
Directors bring a variety of experience and expertise to the Company.

Corporate Governance Report
TEERHRE

o R R R AT 2 TR A BR AR (A
HR A A R g AR P R
#i o

ARy w EAR B R TR B 59313 40 4 A A%
T 57 IR AT S R R LM AL o I
W2 RS > AN RS AL AT
A5y -

EREN AR 2 HEEE - 5K
W R O MEN R EAT R AT EFR - &
B PR A T E AT TEF
ZHT-

SN P R AT B RE D5 A HE T &
IR T B G R > [ IR R A A B 1
TIEAGDLAG TG MR8 5] o SR oA 2R
J& £ 7850 B iR WY AR T 5858 X 9 R 267
{EL S o 0 A D I AR RO D v S
BEHENEEEEAC  SERERY
9 AL B S Zh BB AE R SCREAL o B A B 7 g
ZHENMMEEE S AR EE > HEg
A3 R BR d5 6 PSR AHE o

J8 S I AT HE g I A AR A AR A T
il e 36 B A8 B o b AP I 7 4 B B ok
LeZz Bk > BPEms - KRB R B %
FE A 8 ST F Al o

HREGATEBEANFAERRFHENE
Mo HEARERFA R ER > R
TG M AL o EHREE
EREEAWT

e REMAMEHENE:

o RARALEIETHAEM LB
e

S O PR S
1A Rk

HEHFNRBSA IR > 54 E R R
A T P 4R 2 3 B 2 B T AT S
W A 3 R W R A B K el EE
Bl - TA BT E S MWL RTERY
RE 7 AR o ) A7 A8 4% T A8 B B ST Al o

202248 HERHEHEAERAT 25



Corporate Governance Report
TEERHRE

BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD
PRACTICES

The Board holds regular meetings at appropriate intervals during a
year. The Board will also meet on other occasions when a board-level
decision on a particular matter is required. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Board held 4 regular meetings. The attendance
records of the Directors to these regular board meetings are set out in
the table on page 31 of this annual report.

All minutes of the meetings, record in sufficient detail the matters
considered and decisions reached, are kept by the Company Secretary
and are open for inspection by the Directors at any time.

The meetings are structured to allow open discussion. All Directors
participate in discussing the strategy, operational and financial
performance and internal control of the Group.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman to prepare the agenda
of the meeting and each Director may request to include any matters
in the agenda. At least 3 days’ notice is given to the Directors for
the regular meetings by the Company. All substantive agenda items
have comprehensive briefing papers, which are distributed by the
Company Secretary to the Directors at least 3 days before the Board
meetings so as to ensure that the Directors may receive accurate,
timely and clear information to make informed decisions regarding
the matters discussed in the meetings.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance and
regulatory matters. The Company Secretary is also responsible for
ensuring the procedures of the Board meetings are observed and
providing the Board opinions on matters in relation to the compliance
with the procedures of the Board meetings.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OFFICER OF THE GROUP

The Chairman of the Group is Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Group is Mr. Chau Kit Wai.
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate
and not performed by the same individual to ensure a balance of
power and authority, so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. The Chairman of the Group is primarily responsible for
the management of the Board, whereas the Chief Executive Officer is
primarily responsible for the daily operations and management of the
Group.

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board and ensuring the
Board work effectively, through which the Chairman will ensure that
good corporate governance practices and procedures are established
and followed, and that all Directors receive all relevant information
in a timely manner.
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The Chairman will also encourage all Directors, including the
independent non-executive Directors, to actively participate in all
board meetings and the committee meetings.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company pursuant to which each of
them is appointed for service with the Company for a term of three
years. Their terms of appointment shall be subject to the rotational
retirement provision of the articles of association of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board has
currently delegated specific functions to four Board committees.
They are the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and Risk Management Committee. As at the
date of this annual report, the compositions of each committee are as
follows:

Audit
Committee
B
£ZE8g
Executive Directors: HITES:
Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex R 7K B 5 A=
Mr. Chau Kit Wai JE AR 5
Mr. Yeung Yu B i 56 A=
Independent non-executive Directors: B IEHITESE :
Dr. Yu Kin Tim AR S T M
Mr. Ho Chi Lam il 35 %% Jo 2 M
Mr. Wan Sze Chung 1S5RS A C

Notes: C Chairman of the relevant Board committees

M Member of the relevant Board committees

The written terms of reference of Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Risk Management
Committee are available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.
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Audit Committee

We have established an Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution
of our Directors passed on 21 June 2016. Our Audit Committee
has written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee of our
Company are mainly to make recommendations to our Board on
the appointment and dismissal of the external auditor, review the
financial statements and information and provide advice in respect
of financial reporting and oversee the risk management and internal
control procedures of our Company. At present, the Audit Committee
consists of three members being all independent non-executive
Directors: Mr. Wan Sze Chung, who serves as chairman of the
committee, Dr. Yu Kin Tim and Mr. Ho Chi Lam. The external
auditor and the chief financial officer also attend meetings of Audit
Committee by invitation.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee
held two meetings to review the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021, and to review the interim results of
the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2022. Subsequent to the
financial year and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee
held another meeting to review the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022. Other than to review financial
reporting, all meetings were also held to assess compliance and
internal control procedures.

The external auditors attended the meeting for the review of annual
results to discuss with the Audit Committee on issues arising from
the audit and financial reporting matters.

Remuneration Committee

We have established a Remuneration Committee pursuant to a
resolution of our Directors passed on 21 June 2016. Our Company
has written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25
of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The primary functions
of the Remuneration Committee of our Company are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and the structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
our Group, review performance based remuneration and ensure none
of our Directors determine their own remuneration. At present, the
Remuneration Committee consists of three members: one executive
Director, Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex, who serves as chairman of the
committee, and two independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Yu Kin
Tim and Mr. Wan Sze Chung.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to review and recommend the
remuneration packages of the Directors to the Board, assess the
performance of relevant Directors and other related matters.
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Nomination Committee

We have established a Nomination Committee pursuant to a
resolution of our Directors passed on 21 June 2016. Our Company
has written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary functions of the Nomination Committee of our Company
are to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of our Board at least
annually and make recommendation to our Board on any proposed
changes to our Board to complement our Company’s corporate
strategy; identify individuals suitably qualified as potential board
members and select or make recommendations to our Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships; to assess the
independence of our independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment or reappointment
of Directors and succession planning of Directors, especially that
of our Chairman and our Chief Executive Officer. At present, the
Nomination Committee consists of three members: one executive
Director, Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex, who serves as chairman of the
committee, and two independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Yu Kin
Tim and Mr. Wan Sze Chung.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
paid to the members of the senior management by band for the year
ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:
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Number of
Remuneration bands person(s)
e = A"
Nil to US$250,000 Z %250,0003% TC 3
US$250,001 to US$550,000 250,001 Jt £ 550,000 JC 1

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity) of our Board and no recommendation to our Board on any
changes to our Board is proposed.
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Risk Management Committee

We have established a Risk Management Committee pursuant to
a resolution of our Directors passed on 29 February 2016. Our
Company has written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. The primary functions of the Risk Management Committee
of our Company are to enhance our Company’s risk management
ability and improve corporate governance of our Company, as well
as to assess the latest sanctions-related risks our operations may be
exposed to. At present, the Risk Management Committee consists
of three members, being Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex, who serves as
chairman of the committee, Mr. Chau Kit Wai and Mr. Yeung Yu. All
of them are executive Directors.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Risk Management
Committee held one meeting to review and assess the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company is committed to equal opportunities in all aspects
of its business and does not discriminate on grounds of gender,
family status, disability, nationality, race, ethnicity, religious or
philosophical belief, age, sexual orientation, or any other factor.

The Company recognises and embraces diversity in the boardroom.
The Company believes that a diversity of perspective can benefit
the Company and diversity can be achieved by considering factors
such as gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
All Board appointments are therefore made based on merit, and
candidates are considered against various objective criteria, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Currently, all Board members are male. The Board has set down
its goals to appoint one female as Board member no later than 31
December 2024 as part of its effort to achieve diversity on the Board
level. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor and
actively consider different aspects of diversity in the boardroom, and
recommend further actions or plan to the Board when necessary.
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INDEPENDENCE

All the Directors have full and timely access to the information of
the Company (including but not limited to financial reports, audit
results and other relevant data) as well as the advice and services of
the Company Secretary. So that Board members are equipped with
necessary professional advice in their decision-making process,
the Board may, in appropriate circumstances, seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expenses to assist them. Board
members are also encouraged to seek inputs from other members,
employees and other stakeholders in appropriate circumstances
to ensure that different perspectives are taken into account in the
decision-making process. There are formal or informal channels in
place to ensure that independent views and inputs are available to the
Board.

ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the attendance records
of the Directors at Board meetings, Audit Committee meetings,
Remuneration Committee meetings, Nomination Committee
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meetings, Risk Management Committee meetings are as follows: kR Rk
Number of meetings attended
SMEERE
Risk
Audit Remuneration = Nomination Management
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
EZe ENZEE FMzZRe REZEE mEER
ESnE - g3 g3 2% ZEEEE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex B K B o6 4/4 — 11 17 11
Mr. Chau Kit Wai [ GRS 4/4 — — — 11
Mr. Chong Ming Pui SHE Bl 5 A 4/4 — — — —
Mr. Yeung Yu ¥ 9 4/4 — — — /1
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Dr. Yu Kin Tim REGL 4/4 212 11 11 —
Mr. Ho Chi Lam s R e A 414 212 — — —
Mr. Wan Sze Chung i 2 A 5 R 4/4 212 11 11 —
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board, through Audit Committee, is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions, which includes developing and
reviewing the Company’s policies, practices on corporate governance,
training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During the
year, the Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND
DEVELOPMENT

During the year, all Directors had received sufficient and relevant
training and continuous professional development. In doing so, the
Directors have undertaken various forms of activities relevant to
the Company’s businesses, directors’ duties and responsibilities.
The Company held a training for all Directors to provide them with
knowledge on the topics of Director’s duties, Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, Securities and Futures Ordinance and anti-corruption
laws.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group. In preparing the financial statements which
give a true and fair view, it is fundamental that the appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently. The
reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor on the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out
in the independent auditor’s report on pages 69 to 74 of this annual
report. The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems and
conducting reviews regularly to safeguard Shareholders’ investment
and the Group’s assets.

In recent years, there has been increasing recognition of the
importance of considering ESG factors in risk management.
ESG-related risks can have significant impacts on a company’s
financial performance, reputation, and ability to operate. Our risk
management and internal control processes therefore take into
account potential impacts of environmental, social, and governance
factors on the Group’s operations, reputation, and financial
performance.

Our systems of risk management and internal control include a
defined management structure with appropriate limits of authority.
They are designed to safeguard its assets against unauthorised use
or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
for publication, and to provide reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The systems also aim to ensure compliance
with relevant laws and regulations, and to manage — rather than
eliminate — risks of failure in the Group’s operational systems and
in the achievement of the Group’s business objectives. The Group has
a dedicated internal audit function which reviews the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems from time to
time to ensure that they meet with the dynamic and ever-changing
business environment.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wang Yu was appointed as the Company Secretary of the
Company on 28 May 2021. During the year, the Company Secretary
undertook over 15 hours of professional training to update her skills
and knowledge.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board of Directors of the Company has approved and adopted a
dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) effective from 28 February
2019. The Company endeavours to maintain sufficient working
capital to develop and operate the businesses of the Group and to
provide stable and sustainable returns to the shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”). During the year ended 31 December
2022, there has been no change to the Dividend Policy.

In determining the dividend for distribution to Shareholders, the
Board will measure the capital needs in future years based on the
future capital budget plan of the Company and consider factors such
as profitability and financial structure and liquidity of the Company
comprehensively.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is subject
to the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s
Articles of Association and any other applicable laws, regulations.
The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify
and/or cancel the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy
shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Group
in respect of its future dividend and in no way obligate the Group to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young is the external independent auditor of the Company.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the total fees paid/
payable, excluding disbursements, in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by the Group’s external auditors are approximately
as below:
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Audit services 2% 7R B 200
Non-audit services IE 7 w5 R B —
Total At 200

AUDITORS
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year

ended 31 December 2022 was audited by Ernst & Young.

There has been no change of auditors for the preceding 3 years.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association of the Company
(the “Articles”), one or more Shareholders holding not less than 5%
of the Company’s paid up capital having the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company at the date of deposit of the requisition,
can, by depositing a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any businesses specified in such
requisition and put forward proposals; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition.

Unless notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for
election as a Director by any Shareholder(s) and notice in writing by
that person of his willingness to be elected' have been lodged to the
Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
businesses? at least 7 days before the date of the general meeting, no
person, other than a retiring Director, shall be eligible for election to
the office of Director at any general meeting except as recommended
by the Board for election.

Any Shareholder(s) of the Company who wish to raise an enquiry
concerning the Company to the Board may deliver the enquiry
in written form to the Company’s principal place of businesses
mentioned above (or at any address notified by the Company from
time to time) and for the attention of the Chairman of the Board or
the Company Secretary. Upon receipt of the enquiry, the Company
would reply as soon as possible.

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIPS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company values communication with its Shareholders and
investors. There are a number of formal communication channels
which the Company uses to report and account to Shareholders and
investors for the performance of the Company. These include (i) the
publication of interim and annual reports; (ii) the annual general
meeting or extraordinary general meetings, which provide a forum
for Shareholders to raise comments and exchanging views with
the Board; (iii) updates of key information of the Group that are
made available to Shareholders and investors through the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company; (iv) the Company’s
website providing dedicated contact details to facilitate direct
communications between the Company and its Shareholders and
investors; and (v) the Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong,
which serve Shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.
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The Company aims to provide its Shareholders and investors with
high standards of disclosure and financial transparency. The Board
is committed to providing clear, detailed and timely information
that concerns the Group to Shareholders and on a regular basis.
This is achieved through our interim and annual reports, investor
presentations as well as circulars, notices and other announcements.

Apart from formal communication channels mentioned-above,
the Company also publishes press releases and newsletters which
Shareholders can subscribe to for the Company’s latest updates. To
facilitate investors’ understanding of our business, the Company
organises roadshows and site visits to our offices and showroom
for investors, and invites investors to trade shows which the
Company participates in. The Company is also eager to maintain
dialogues with the investor community. In this regard, the Company
participated in a number of investment forums and engaged in
numerous exchanges with business analysts and fund management
companies through various means.

The Board regularly reviews our existing channels of communication
with Shareholders and investors to make sure that they remain
effective and provides recommendations for improvements when
needed. The Board considers our current practices were all
well-implemented throughout the year and achieved satisfactory
results.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Upon the Shareholders’ approval by way of a special resolution
at the 2022 Annual General Meeting (held on 22 April 2022), the
Company has adopted the Amended and Restated Memorandum
and the Amended and Restated Articles of Association. Details
of the changes made in both of the documents can be found in
the Shareholders’ Circular dated 17 March 2022. An up-to-date
consolidated version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles
of Association has been posted on both the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

36 Plover Bay Technologies Limited 2022 Annual Report

A8 ) A B LB AU 5 A 4R it e e
) 07 5 A0 B A WD o S B i R AR
AP B v ) B A T S~ B R A
BRI~ 2 R A 2 o R 1 B R R (AT
R A 4 0 0 BT~ R N KRR ORL

B bt 1E 2% RHURAE Sb > AS A R T B R
i S 2 AR > SR BT B DA AR 2% R A
HWIHE o M BUE & TR BAM B 2E TS
Ay m B A A R 2 B R
(REEE A ST At E S < -
KA ZENE G o AN AREE
BARER R EE - B ARFEZMTZ
IR 5 6w JE - BELSERS AT R R HLAY
A i 2 A 7 OEAT T2 AL -

B E ) A TN BB RO R H
BA W RE > DR e R A A I
e B e O R R - EE G R A ERM
H Al A TE 2 A #8157 AR 47 10 Bt
M BAS T AN R AR

EREXH

28R R AE20224F B O AR & (202248
4H22H Z217) b LUK R Pk i) AL
EN/NEIIRE G R G R I = i
KA, S &84 5T M E F B AL Ak = REAm ) o
T 43 SCAHE 1 5 o R R 2022 4E3 H17H 1)
Je RO R o B T A A LY 2 A A R R R
A Ko A BI) .55 M AE AR 2 5] R B 28 T 4 o o



Profile of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGERS

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (PR7K ) (“Mr. Chan”), aged 55, is
our executive Director and Chairman, and the founder of our Group.
Mr. Chan was appointed as Director on 5 May 2015 and designated
as executive Director and Chairman of the Board on 27 November
2015. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in electronic
engineering and information technology industry. He is responsible
for formulating overall strategies, planning and business development
of our Group.

Mr. Chan received a Higher Certificate in Electronic Engineering
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1988, and obtained an
Executive Master of Business Administration degree at The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology in May 2004.

Mr. Chau Kit Wai ( B & 1€ ) (“Mr. Chau”), aged 48, is our
executive Director, Chief Executive Officer and General Manager,
who joined our Group in October 2007. Mr. Chau was appointed as
Director on 27 November 2015 and designated as executive Director
on 27 November 2015. Since 16 March 2015, Mr. Chau has been a
Director of Pismo Research (Malaysia) SDN. BHD.. Mr. Chau has
over 20 years of experience in sales and marketing in information
technology industry. Mr. Chau joined our Group in October 2007
as a manager of product management and marketing, and was then
promoted to general manager in April 2008. He is responsible for
product development, and managing and implementing sales and
marketing strategies of our Group.

Mr. Chau graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1996, and obtained
a master degree in Business Administration at The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in November 2006.

Mr. Chong Ming Pui (J3EBAi#) (“Mr. Chong”), aged 45, is our
executive Director and Director of Hardware Engineering. Mr.
Chong was appointed as executive Director on 27 November 2015.
Mr. Chong has over 15 years experience in hardware products
developments. He is responsible for overall management of hardware
development and purchasing and production of our Group. In January
2007, Mr. Chong joined our Group as a Product Development
Manager and then was promoted to Director of Hardware
Engineering in February 2011.

Mr. Chong graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering degree in
Electrical Energy Systems Engineering in November 2000 and
obtained a master of Science Degree in Engineering (Communication
Engineering) in December 2004 from the University of Hong Kong.
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Mr. Yeung Yu (5 i) (“Mr. Yeung”), aged 47, is our executive
Director and Director of Software Engineering. Mr. Yeung was
appointed as executive Director on 27 November 2015. Mr. Yeung
has over 20 years experience in software development industry. He
is responsible for overall management of software development and
quality assurance of our Group. In January 2007, Mr. Yeung joined
our Group as a lead engineer of product development department and
then was promoted to Director of Software Engineering in February
2011.

Mr. Yeung graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical
and Computer Engineering from the Ohio State University in March
2000.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Dr. Yu Kin Tim (&%) (“Dr. Yu”), aged 65, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 21 June 2016. Dr. Yu is
currently a director of Brighton Energy Hong Kong Ltd, a company
that operates manufacturing facility for casting, forging, machining,
fabricating and finishing the large steel components required for
nuclear and conventional power generation, for petrochemical and
coal liquefaction pressure vessels, and for other heavy industry uses.
From May 2004 to October 2006, Dr. Yu became the managing
director for North Asia of Allied Telesyn Hong Kong Limited,
a provider of secure IP and Ethernet access solutions, and from
November 2006 to May 2008 he served as the managing director
of Blue Coat Systems HK Limited, a company provides services
of business applications, network infrastructure and information
technology solutions. He subsequently worked as a senior manager,
channel and alliance in SAP Hong Kong Co. Limited, an enterprise
application software provider with its headquarters in Germany, from
July 2008 to May 2009. From June 2009 to January 2010 and from
February 2010 to December 2014, Dr. Yu was general manager of
engineering service group and the president of Brighton Equipment
Corporation Limited, respectively, a company that provides pre-sale
support, installation and after-sale support.

Dr. Yu received a higher diploma from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University)
in November 1981. He then obtained a Master of Business
Administration degree and a doctorate degree in Business
Administration from The University of South Australia in December
1997 and December 2001, respectively.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ho Chi Lam ({1 7 §8) (“Mr. Ho”), aged 64, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 21 June 2016. Mr. Ho was
employed by Cable & Wireless HKT Limited, a company listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 00008) (which was acquired by and
merged to Pacific Century Cyberworks in 2000 and was renamed to
PCCW-HKT Limited), a provider of telecommunications services
in Hong Kong, from August 1980 to February 2000, and his last
position was group manager, corporate planning and development
department. He then joined SUNeVision Holdings Limited, a
company originally listed on the growth enterprise market of the
Stock Exchange which was subsequently transferred to the main
board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 01686) on 22 January 2018,
and provides services such as carrier-neutral data centre services,
installation and maintenance of satellite distribution network,
fibre-optic cable, networking and security surveillance systems, and
consultancy service for wireless and broadband network projects, as a
chief technology officer during its initial public offering in 2000 and
appointed as an executive director in June 2000, and resigned from
the same position in February 2001. Mr. Ho joined The Hong Kong
and China Gas Company Limited, a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00003), an energy supplier
in Hong Kong, as a strategic programme manager of information
technology department from August 2002 to October 2003. He later
joined United Luminous International (Holdings) Limited, a company
designs and manufactures sealed LED which are used for full colour
video screens, information signs, traffic signals, automotive lighting,
LED Backlights for LCD TV and specialty lighting, as a director
of operation from June 2007 to February 2009. Mr. Ho has been a
general manager of The Institute of Network Coding of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong from April 2010 to March 2018.

Mr. Ho obtained a Higher Diploma in Electronic Engineering from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University) in November 1978, a Bachelor of Science
degree in Engineering in November 1980 and Master of Science
degree in Engineering in November 1988 from The University of
Hong Kong, and also completed extramural studies on a diploma
course in Business Management from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong in January 1986. He was admitted as a member and has
become a fellow member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
since March 1986 and June 1996, respectively.

EENSREEERE

MEREE(MEE]D > 6458 0 201646
A2 T BB L ENITEE - H1980
F8H F 20002 H » ] oA Z B X & it E
Al PR 2 A (— [ R 7 W W A 28 5 P A BR
ANF(THEAE AT ER BT AR & &
Al MR L e R - B 5% - 00008 5 FZ A
AR 20004F B 78 A2 B ik B 3R OF 1 4
B AR F B EMARAA) > kA
A RS T AT 1 B AR — MR B A7 2 A E
B R e R AR AE E A o BEFE - e R MA
T A AR A ED (— RO W 5
BIZEMR EHAR > HAZ R 201841 H22H
RS B i A2 Br B AR (B3 058 01686) 5 12
At 48 4% v ST B D RS R A A 4
()2 85 N M vl ~ MRAESLAS - BB RL R
B ) R A D e AR R R A% THE Y R RN
R 5 %5 MR > AE 5% 28 B 20004F B KA
B % B W ] 15 AT 1 R £ 100 B > iR20004F-6
A ZAT B AT F > 1% R 20014F2 H &
EHMATEFIRAL o H2002458 H £ 20034510
H o e A I AT s v 3 5 A R A A
(— MR BT AR BT AT > B &
B VR AR E PS> B R 98 0 00003) > EATE
SR 4 RS s B B AR B o BEAE > H20074E
62200921 » HMAT A2 (£E)
HIRAF (— M e wt & E R &R ER
Bt~ REREGE - s SR - BB IR
K HALCDE ] R HERH M LED T RIE
FE I A H) > WAL B A E o H20104F4
AZE20184F3H » ] 5g A= 16 75 ¥ H S0 K2
& U 15 BIF AT T B AT AR RS T — Tk o

far 56 2B TR 1978 4F 11 A 7 5 JE T2 ¢ (3 44
BEBETIRE)EFIEESH CE
R19804F 11 7 44 15 75 s K £ T FE 51 3 2 2
1B AT > A 1988411 A 1 A its KB T2
PEELAE 1 B2 7 > 3 iR 198641 H 58 AL i
SCRCEE TR A S SRR AR AN o
H19863H K 199646 H > ] 4 4= 43 Al A
Fw LR e g B A LMY
R =

202248 HEREAERAT 39



Profile of Directors and Senior Management
EEREREEERE

Mr. Wan Sze Chung (it BB B2) (“Mr. Wan”), aged 48, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 21 June 2016. Mr. Wan is
currently a director in Jacob Walery Limited, a company specialising
in providing corporate consultancy and training, a position Mr. Wan
has held since 1 March 2007, and an independent non-executive
director of E.Bon Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00599), since 27 September
2004 which is principally engaged in the supply of architectural
hardware, bathroom, kitchen collection and designer furniture in
Hong Kong. He also holds certain workshops at the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Wan graduated with a Bachelor degree of Arts in Accountancy
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1997
and a Master of Business Administration degree from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in December 2002. He then obtained a
Bachelor of Law from Tsinghua University in January 2006, a Master
of Education degree from University of Newcastle upon Tyne, in
July 2006, and a Graduate Diploma in Management Research from
University of South Australia in August 2008. Mr. Wan is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since
April 2002 and April 2007, respectively. He is also a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors and an associate member of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators since July 2012 and February 2003,
respectively.
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The Board submits the Directors’ Report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are the designing, development and
marketing of SD-WAN routers and provision of software licences
and warranty and support services. The principal activities of the
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 1 to the audited
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year is included in the
Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 7 and Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 10 to 21 of this annual report. We monitor
core net profit, which is not a standard measure under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, to provide additional information about
our business performance. Core net profit represents our profit for the
year attributable to owners of the Company before listing expenses
and equity-settled share-based payment expenses.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 75 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HKS5.90 cents (2021: HKS5.32 cents) per
ordinary share was paid on 23 August 2022.

The Board has resolved to declare a second interim dividend of
HKS8.69 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2022, in the
aggregate amount of approximately US$12,205,000. The Dividends
will be paid on 24 March 2023 to shareholders on the register of
members on 10 March 2023.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities and
equity of the Group for each of the five years ended 31 December
2022 is set out on pages 8 to 9 of this annual report. This summary
does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2022,
calculated under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised), of the Cayman Islands, amounted to
approximately US$24,813,000 (2021: US$22,809,000).
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 25 and 26 to the audited
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Kit Wai

Mr. Chong Ming Pui

Mr. Yeung Yu

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Yu Kin Tim

Mr. Ho Chi Lam

Mr. Wan Sze Chung

In accordance with articles 108 and 109 of the articles of association
of the Company, Mr. Ho Chi Lam and Mr. Wan Sze Chung as
independent non-executive Directors, will retire and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 37 to 40 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with any
member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s Board
of Directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. In addition, the directors’
remuneration is reviewed by the Remuneration Committee annually.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save for transactions disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s businesses to which the Company or its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director or controlling shareholders of the
Company and the Director’s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the businesses of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept under to section 352 of the SFO, or as notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were
as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares:

EERESTRAERKRS
HEROREERFHEDRR
KA

R20224F12 A31H » 5 AN T s A7 B
N BRA S 7 B HAR L (e 38 RGE R
Ko 01 B 0 TR 5 S 0 B 610D ) B XV S
B0~ A BE R Oy B fE ME RS > AR R G
I B B A 91 ) S 3520 we Bk B RC M o ER
R 5 CHEE 3B 5 BRI ) R0 81 A 3 ) R W A8 Jor L pop
WA R 2R BOR A > FIE R

RIBGBRABERGNER

Number of
underlying
ordinary
Number of shares of the
ordinary Company held
shares of the under Share Approximate
Company Option percentage of
Name of Directors Nature of interest interested Scheme shareholding
%
REBRE
EEER SrEEEWN
AREEHBERK HEEER IR 840
8 E B E BaLE
%
Chan Wing Hong Alex Through controlled 756,000,000 — 68.9
corporation (note)
B KRR 75 38 1 i 52 B (B AT
Chau Kit Wai Beneficial owner 6,000,000 — 0.5
JE A 1 B A A
Chong Ming Pui Beneficial owner 6,000,000 — 0.5
SHE B 3t B A A
Yeung Yu Beneficial owner 6,000,000 — 0.5
¥ ¥ Bl AN
774,000,000 — 70.4
Note: Bt 7t

The 756,000,000 shares of the Company are held by Namlong Development Limited, a
company beneficially owned by Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex.
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Save as disclosed above, as of the date of this annual report, so far as
is known to any Director or chief executives of the Company, none of
the Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were (i) required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO; or (ii) required to be recorded in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (iii)
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code. Details of the Director’s interests in the share
options granted by the Company are set out below under the heading
“Share Option Scheme”.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme”
below, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2022 was
the Group a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors,
supervisors or chief executives of the Company, to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including
debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME BT E

A share option scheme was conditionally adopted by the Company on [ it #E 5t & % 74 /4 &) i 2016 F6 H21H
21 June 2016, and became effective on the Listing Date (the “Share W5 $R 44 - FL i 77 B 09 A Ak (3% 1% HE =t
Option Scheme”). Details of movements of the share options granted &) o A B # £ 2022F 12 A31HIEFE -
under the Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2022 15 il I 51 &) 457 HH 109 i e M 28 ) 2 A T
are as follows: Lk

Movement of share options during the year

REBRERTRABE
Exercise At At 31
Date of price per 1 January Lapsed/ December
grant share (HK$) Exercise period 2022 Granted Exercised  Forfeited  cancelled 2022
=1
e’ #2022 BE BRAH  R2022fF
RiLAH () i 1818 HA8H HrTE BERE  /Z#  12831A
Director
Bz
Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex  20/7/2016 0.483  20/7/2017-19/7/2021 (1&2) — — — — — —
BRK e e
Mr. Chau Kit Wai 201712016 0.483  20/7/2017-19/7/2021 2) — — — — — —
Mr. Chong Ming Pui 20/712016 0.483  20/7/2017-19/7/2021 2) — — — — — —
AT 5 A
Mr. Yeung Yu 201712016 0.483  20/7/2017-19/7/2021 2) — — — — — —
VR TP
Consultants 20/7/2016 0.483  20/7/2017-19/7/2021 2) — — — — — —
B 10/1012017 1.872  10/10/2019-9/10/2022 4 &11) 1,400,000 — (548,000 — (852,000 —
14/3/2018 1934 14/3/2019-13/3/2023 (S&11) 2,300,000 — (300,000 — — 2,000,000
14/9/2018 102 14/9/2019-13/9/2023 (6&11) 1,200,000 — (75,000) — — 1,125,000
10/5/2019 118 10/5/2021-9/5/2024 (7 52,000 — — — — 52,000
1716/2022 2.988  17/6/2024-16/6/2027 (13) — 800,000 — — — 800,000
Employees 20172016 0.483  20/7/2017-19/7/2021 2) — — — — — —
E8 5/4/2017 072 5/4/2018-4/4/2022 (3&12) 584,000 — (584,000 — — —
10/10/2017 1.872 10/10/2019-9/10/2022 4&12) 1,591,000 — (1,376,000)  (100,000)  (115,000) —
14/3/2018 1934 14/3/2019-13/3/2023 (5&12) 2,080,000 —  (742,000)  (100,000) — 1,238,000
14/9/2018 102 14/9/2019-13/9/2023 6&12) 2,605,000 —  (1,831,000) (251,000 — 523,000
10/5/2019 118 10/5/2021-9/5/2024 (7&12) 1,798,000 — (714,000 (51,000) — 1,033,000
31/12/2019 112 31/12/2021-30/12/2024 (8 & 12) 500,000 — (146,000 — — 354,000
14/12/2020 0922 14/12/2022-13/12/2025 (9 & 12) 1,500,000 —  (396,000) (200,000 — 904,000
9/1172021 297 9/11/2023-8/11/2026 (10) 3,800,000 — — (900,000) — 2,900,000
171612022 2,988 17/6/12024-16/6/2027 (13) — 6,600,000 — (600,000 — 6,000,000
Total: 19,410,000 7,400,000  (6,712,000) (2,202,000)  (967,000) 16,929,000
i
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Notes:

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex is also the beneficial controlling shareholder of the
Company.

For all share options granted on 20 July 2016, the first 25% of the total options
can be exercised 1 year after the date of grant, and each 25% of the total options
will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HK$0.46.

A total of 13,600,000 share options are granted on 5 April 2017. Among that,
25% of 8,400,000 can be exercised 1 year after the date of grant, and a further
25% will become exercisable in each subsequent year. For the remaining
5,200,000 options, 50% of the options can be exercised 2 years after the date
of grant, and 25% will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing
price of the Share immediately before the date on which the options were
granted was HK$0.69.

For all share options granted on 10 October 2017, the first 50% of the total
options can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the
total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price
of the Share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$1.79.

For the 13,500,000 share options granted on 14 March 2018, 25% of the
9,900,000 options can be exercised 1 year after the date of grant, and 25%
will become exercisable in each subsequent year. For the remaining 3,600,000
options, 50% can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and 25% will
become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HK$1.90.

For the 12,264,000 share options granted on 14 September 2018, 25% of
10,864,000 options can be exercised 1 year after the date of grant, and 25%
will become exercisable in each subsequent year. For the remaining 1,400,000
options, 50% can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and 25% will
become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price of the Share
immediately before the date on which the options were granted was HK$0.93.

For all share options granted on 10 May 2019, the first 50% of the total options
can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the total
options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price of
the Share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$1.12.

For all share options granted on 31 December 2019, the first 50% of the total
options can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the
total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price
of the Share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HKS$1.10.

For all share options granted on 14 December 2020, the first 50% of the total
options can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the
total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price
of the Share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$0.92.
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10. For all share options granted on 9 December 2021, the first 50% of the total
options can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the
total options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price
of the Share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$2.77.

11. The weighted average closing share price immediately before the dates on
which the options were exercised by consultants was HK$2.94 per share.

12. The weighted average closing share price immediately before the dates on
which the options were exercised by employees was HK$2.75 per share.

13. For all share options granted on 17 June 2022, the first 50% of the total options
can be exercised 2 years after the date of grant, and a further 25% of the total
options will become exercisable in each subsequent year. The closing price of
the Share immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$2.96.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 26 to
the audited consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

Other than as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief
executives’ interests and short position in shares, underlying shares
and debentures” above, the Directors have not been notified by any
person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
which shall be disclosed to the Company pursuant to the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex (the “Covenantor”) has confirmed with
the Company of his compliance with the terms of the Deed of
Non-Competition during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed compliance
of the Deed of Non-Competition and were satisfied that the terms
had been duly complied with and enforced during the year ended 31
December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, in so far as the Directors were aware, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had any interest in a
business that competed or was likely to compete with the business of
the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 53.9% of
the Group’s total revenue (2021: 55.8%) and the largest customer
accounted for approximately 19.3% of the Group’s total revenue
(2021: 18.7%).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 61.9% of the
Group’s total purchase (2021: 61.4%) and the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 21.2% of the Group’s total purchase
(2021: 24.8%).

To the best of the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an
interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 set out in note 32 to the
audited consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had the
following connected transactions, certain details of which are
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

On 7 January 2022, Pegatrack Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company as tenant, has entered into tenancy
agreements with Ultra Land Limited (“ULL”) and Ultra Prosper
Limited (“UPL”) as landlords for a term of one year and ten months
commencing from 1 March 2022 and expiring on 31 December 2023
for total rental amount of HK$382,680 and HK$349,089 respectively.
ULL and UPL became wholly owned by Mr. Chan Wing Hong Alex
(“Mr. Chan”), an executive Director and the beneficial controlling
shareholder of the Company upon completion of the sales and
purchase agreements between Protean Holdings Limited and Mr.
Chan on 24 February 2022. Please refer to the announcement dated
10 December 2021 of the Company for details.

On 12 April 2022, Pegatrack Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company as tenant, has entered into a new tenancy
agreement with Winning Castle Limited as landlord, which is
beneficially owned by Mr. Chan, an executive Director and the
beneficial controlling shareholder of the Company, for a term of
around one year and nine months commencing from 12 April 2022
and expiring on 31 December 2023 (both days inclusive) for total
rental amount of HK$2,876,880. Please refer to the announcement
dated 12 April 2022 of the Company for details.
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CONNECTED CONTINUING
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has not entered
into any transactions which need to be disclosed as continuing
connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules from the Listing
Date and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 36 of
this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director for
the time being of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director about the execution of the duties of his
office or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such indemnity
shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or dishonesty which
may attach to the Director.

The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate Directors’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2022.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no material subsequent events undertaken by the Company
or by the Group after 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for the reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Wing Hong Alex
Chairman

Hong Kong
23 February 2023

50 Piover Bay Technologies Limited 2022 Annual Report

FEBEXS

AR 20224E12 H31H 1 4E A 4 3 3
4B 5T ST AR IR C TR R SR 14A B H B R
Fr BB A B AR 28 5 -

RARXRIERE

AR AR 24 ) 25 B 1 78 ) S 3 5 1
AN AR CE LA B BT E A -
A AAE P O A T A D 24
I R o

EXRER
AN TR AN 2 A TR B A A
22 B 36E A AT AW -

EEFFREEX

HRUR AR 2 7] 2 A R AR - 2 R BB 0 F
A7 3 305 R 00 A7 3B o B
AR B T T A 88 R 52 2 7 A9 4R 2 oK 5
£ - A RO A A 7 7 b 1 0 4 B
s 29 7 B 2 S A B R B R

REJE 15 05 1R -

AN ) EL B A R Y
LR B -

BREHBIHZ

W [ 55 I RE 1 31 ) — 0 Jor 49 58 5 40 > AN AR A
S e 7 A TR RT S7 B #k 22022412 H31H
1F A B 4 R AT o] B BE B 4 S8 Bk o

WEHAREER

AN T B AR 42 B 20224512 A31H B K E
R AE ¥R H BT I O AT AT ] Ak R AR
BFEIE -

B BLEm

2K B b A 0B AT 0 - AR A
A6 M TR A K 2 2 i A
SV EYNEE S TR

K i

R

BR K B

s

20234F2 H23H



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

OVERVIEW

The Board of Directors of Plover Bay Technologies Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “we”
is pleased to present this Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) Report. The ESG report elaborates on the various work
of the Group in fully implementing the principle of sustainable
development and its performance of environmental, social and
governance from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the “year”).
For information on our corporate governance, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 22 to 36 of this annual
report.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board perceives that sustainable growth is key to the Group’s
long-term success. Together with our employees, investors,
shareholders, customers, business partners, suppliers and contract
manufacturers, we hope to continue to enrich people’s lives by
providing supercharged connectivity in the global communications
market in a responsible manner. The Group considers ESG as part
of its principal duties and strives to embed ESG considerations
into daily operations and management. The Board holds the overall
responsibility on the ESG issues and oversees the relevant strategies,
direction and policies. The Board discusses and reviews the risks and
opportunities, performance, progress, goals and targets regularly to
monitor the ESG performance, related issues and potential risks.

The Group’s businesses and functional departments also help to
formulate relevant strategies in their respective areas and monitor
the effectiveness of the implementation in accordance with the
sustainable development strategies and objectives suggested by
the Board. Meetings are also arranged regularly to evaluate the
effectiveness of current policies and procedures and develop
appropriate solutions to improve the overall performance of ESG
policies.

SCOPE OF ESG REPORT

This ESG report presents the Group’s sustainability approach and the
performance in the environmental, social and governance aspects of
its businesses, covering its activities which are considered as material
by the Group from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022.

Unless otherwise specified, this report covers the Group’s principal
operation in Hong Kong only.
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REPORTING GUIDELINES

This ESG report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.
This report also follows the four reporting principles listed in the
HKEX ESG Reporting Guide, including materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency for report disclosure.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values the views of our stakeholders, including not
only employees, management and Directors, but also investors,
shareholders, customers, business partners, suppliers, contract
manufacturers and communities. We communicate with our
stakeholders on an ongoing basis through communication channels
such as online community forum, interim and annual reports,
surveys, regular dialogue and meetings.

The table below sets out our main communication channels with
these stakeholders:

Stakeholder
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Communication Channel

Employees
& 8

Investors and shareholders

Daily communication and performance appraisal

H Wl M R BLAT A

Interviews, meetings, annual general meeting, earnings reports,

announcements and company website

BOE H KR

Customers and business partners

AR Bk o RO AERE B A GE
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Social media, online community forum, company website, regular

meetings, email and phone communications
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Suppliers and contract manufacturers
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NE R W E R T A

Regular meetings, performance evaluation and site visits

BT il B B M 25 4%

Sponsorships, donations and employee participation
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

In 2017, we commissioned an independent third-party consultant to
assist the Group in conducting a materiality analysis in a fair and
equitable way. Our materiality assessment was implemented with
three main phases. We started by identifying each of the material
issues in respect of environment, society and governance that might
affect our businesses or stakeholders. Then, through a questionnaire
carried out by the consultant, views and expectations of stakeholders
on the Group’s disclosure of ESG issues were understood, and
potential material issues were identified and prioritised accordingly.
Upon reviewing the result of the survey, the Group identified five
most material ESG issues and disclosed relevant information in the
corresponding sections.

The data collected from the materiality assessment formed the
basis for the Group to map out long-term strategies for sustainable
development. The Group continues to assess the relevance of the
ESG framework by frequently communicating with its stakeholders
through the means outlined above. During 2022, considering that
COVID-19 is still impacting the globe, we had an internal review
to revisit the relevance of these material issues identified, and we
determined that the key material aspects identified in 2017 are still
highly relevant to our ESG framework in the year of 2022.

Material Issue Corresponding Section
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Relevance to the Business
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5. Employees’ Remuneration and
Benefits
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Employees’ Benefits
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Occupational Health and Safety

Supply Chain Management and
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Commitment to Customers and
Suppliers
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to
protecting natural resources and the global environment. We comply
with laws and regulations related to environmental protection and our
commitment to emission reduction, energy and resource conservation
encompasses every aspect of our operations. In light of our business
nature, the Group’s operations do not generate massive air, water
or land pollution, nor do they raise any significant environmental
concerns.

During the year, the Group continued to make improvements in
resource intensity in Energy Conservation, Water Management, Use
of Packaging Materials, Waste Management, Climate Change and
Green Operations.

Energy Conservation

Energy consumed during the Group’s office and warehouse
operations is electricity. The Group recognises the importance of
maintaining environmental sustainability in its daily operations.
As part of the Group’s initiatives to reduce energy consumption,
we set up a programme to automatically switch off lights and air
conditioners in the conference rooms after office hours and divide
the office area into different zones using independent lighting
switches. Meanwhile, a series of measures are taken to enhance
energy efficiency, such as encouraging employees to dress in casual
attire in the office, adopting energy-efficient equipment and regular
cleaning for light fixtures and air conditioners. During the year, the
Group’s energy consumption totaled 453 MWh, which was 0.10 MWh
for each square metre of the floor area on average. Energy use is not
a material issue in relation to the Group’s businesses, therefore no
energy use efficiency targets are in place during the reporting year.

Water Management

Water is a precious natural resource. Everyone shares the universal
responsibility to promote sustainable use of water resources on the
Earth. Our business operations generate mainly domestic sewage.
During the year, there was no issue in sourcing water in the Group’s
operations. This year, total water consumption of the Group was 535
cubic meters, which was 0.12 cubic metres for each square metre of
the floor area on average. We encourage employees to conserve the
use of water resources. Water consumption is not a material issue
in relation to the Group’s businesses, therefore no water efficiency
targets are in place during the reporting year.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Use of Packaging Material

The Group is committed to reduce the use of packaging material
to minimise the impact on environment and natural resources. We
reused packaging materials for products after repair or replacement
products. During the year, packaging materials used by the Group
were mainly cardboard paper and plastic, and the usage amounts
were 35,236 kg and 3,348 kg respectively. The weight of packaging
material used per thousand US dollars of revenue was 0.44 kg.
During the year, a total of 2,600 kg of cardboard paper was recycled.

Waste Management

Since the Group’s businesses do not involve manufacturing activities,
solid waste is mainly generated in daily office and warehouse
operations without generation of hazardous waste. We have adopted
the “3Rs” principle, “Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”, as our waste
management strategy. We implement the policy of double-sided
printing and copying, and disseminating information by electronic
means whenever possible to reduce paper consumption. To further
reduce our paper consumption, Office Automation (“OA”) system is
applied to substitute the traditional paper-based office administration
system. We also reduce the use of paper by distributing newsletters
electronically through our online community forum, emails, and
regular updates on our website rather than using paper marketing
materials. Our employees are encouraged to use reusable products
instead of non-refillable stationeries and office supplies. The waste
paper and waste iron casing are recycled and transferred to qualified
recycling companies. We also carry out stock checking regularly to
prevent overstock.

After the implementation of the above measures, non-hazardous
waste generated (including general waste, metal and paper) in the
year amounted to 9.8 tonnes in total, which is 0.11 kg per thousand
US dollars of revenue. The following table shows the non-hazardous
waste generated by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2022:
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RIE - HEBRERWE

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT (continuea)

Non-hazardous Waste generated by the Group during the
year

REEE
AEBARFEAMEEZEEEY

Non-hazardous Waste Generated (tonne)

FFTEEZESEY(QH)

Total Amount Sent Recycled

Amount to Landfill Amount

Waste type % ¥ 38 7 HE XZHEEE EE-

General waste —BEY 59 59 —

Metal & & 0.8 — 0.8

Paper I 3.1 — 3.1
Sum of Non-hazardous Waste B A 5% ) A

Generated 9.8 59 3.9

Waste management is not considered as material in relation to the
Group’s businesses, therefore no reduction targets are in place during
the reporting year.

Climate Change

Climate change has been a worldwide growing issue in recent
years. Climate change poses potential physical and transition risks
to the Group’s businesses. Extreme weather conditions such as
rainstorms, floods and typhoons may affect our business operations
while transition risk may result from the change in environmental-
related regulations. We consulted the “Code of Practice in Times
of Typhoons and Rainstorms” published by the Labour Department
of the HKSAR Government to make special work arrangements to
protect our employees in case of extreme weather conditions. As for
the potential transition risk, the Group continues to monitor climate-
related risks regularly and implement relevant measures to minimise
the potential impact of climate change. Currently, it is expected that
potential extreme weather conditions and change in environmental-
related regulations do not directly impose material threat to the
Group’s operations.

As the Group does not own any manufacturing sites, we work closely

with our contract manufacturers and raw material suppliers to ensure
that they are also environmentally-conscious and sustainable.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Green Operations

Emissions of greenhouse gases (“GHG”) by the Group are mainly
contributed by the consumption of electricity and outsourced logistics
activities. Apart from the many initiatives mentioned in “Energy
Conservation” above, we employ multiple ways to reduce GHG
emission. In terms of transportation, phone and virtual conferences
are held where possible to minimise overseas business travel while
direct flights are chosen to reduce carbon emission caused by any
inevitable business travel. We have also chosen logistics companies
with proven track records on sustainable development to reduce our
GHG emission.

During the year, the GHG emission for the operation was 488 tons,
while 15 tons GHG emission was avoided by recycling of paper.
Thus, the net GHG emission in total was 473 tons, which means
average GHG emission from each square metre of total floor area was
0.10 ton. GHG emissions are not considered as material in relation
to the Group’s businesses, therefore no reduction targets are in place
during the reporting year.

ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM

The Group believes that employees are our valuable asset. The
Group firmly upholds the principle of treating each employee fairly
and consistently in all matters and enforces its employment policies
in accordance with the regulations of the Employment Ordinance.
During the year, we continued to strictly comply with laws and
regulations relating to employment and occupational health and
safety. To attract and retain the best talent, we offer a comprehensive
range of benefits, training and development opportunities, as well as
a conducive and engaging working environment free of safety and
health hazards.

Employment

Effective recruitment process is one of the critical factors of
successful talent management.

The Group does not tolerate any use of child or forced labour. Our
recruitment process consists of age and identity verification to avoid
child labour. Prior to commencement of employment, employees are
provided with key information, such as job duties and working hours
of the position concerned, and the employment conditions are in
line with the terms in the employment contract to prevent any forced
labour.
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM (Continued)

Employment (continued)

As an equal opportunity employer, we are committed to providing
employees with a discrimination-free workplace. Our human
resources policies adhere to the principle of fairness. We hire
employees from diverse backgrounds, regardless of their disability,
gender, family status and race.

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of employees of the Group
is 202.

Gender diversity

The Group operates in the information and communications
technology industry which traditionally had a high concentration of
male employees in the talent pool. According to statistics provided
by the HKSAR Census and Statistics Department, the female ratio in
the industry (defined as the percentage of female employees within
the total number of employees) was 31% in 2021. As at 31 December
2022, both the Group’s overall female ratio and the female ratio
among employees located in Hong Kong was 36%.

The Group has taken and continues to take steps to promote gender
diversity at all levels. These include creating a female-friendly
environment and culture at the workplace, zero-tolerance policy
towards harassment and discrimination, and embracing family-
friendly policies (e.g. flexible working hours) to allow caregivers with
greater flexibility. The Group will continue to increase the female
ratio in our workforce, and provide equal opportunities for career
development and advancement.

Employee Number of the Group (As at 31 December 2022)
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Number % of Total
AE HHEAEEIL
By Gender &= 1% Bl
Male 2R3 129 64%
Female ok 73 36%
Total #Et 202 100%
By Age BEHR
Below or equal to 30 300 AT 55 27%
31 to 40 31 E 4058 85 42%
41 to 50 41 E 508 44 22%
Over 50 505% Lk 18 9%
Total F 202 100%
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT BB FEEEK
TEAM (Continued)
Gender diversity (Continued) 3= (AT
By Gender and Geographic Region Z 1B R # E
Male Female Female Ratio
R g3 Z Bl
Hong Kong s 86 49 36%
Others HoAty 43 24 36%
Total @t 129 73 36%
Employee Turnover Rate of the Group rEBZEEGEE
% of Total
HEBEANEED
By Gender & 14 5l
Male B 18%
Female pealics 9%
By Age ®REFR
Below or equal to 30 30% 2 LA T 16%
30 to 40 315 405% 15%
41 to 50 41 2505 16%
Over 50 505% LA B 6%
By Geographic Region B E
Hong Kong s 16%
Others H At 11%
Employee Benefits EEEF

The Group recognises the importance of each employee and values A< 4E [B] B [ 45 (v {8 & Y 5 22 4 I 58 45 Ath 4"
their benefits. Employees’ remuneration package is reviewed at least HJf&F] o 1§ B FH WP B2 E T LR 2
annually with reference to the comparable market level, employees’ T ¥ /KF- ~ {E B 2 B K FAM 09 B B R B »
performance and our financial performance to ensure retention and i & /D & #EAT — AR & > AR5 | K # #4
attraction of high calibre employees. Apart from basic salary, we = REE 8  BRIEH 7 » A IR 42 6 A £~
also offer guaranteed and/or performance bonus and share options. & ) f& 41 F1 /5K 4% &k 4% 4 DA K i B - 38
Our share option scheme is open to all of our eligible employees. We " % 1§ B i 51 &1 3 304 o7 A & & #% & 2 5
believe that such a share option scheme would keep our employees A o FAIAHAE > 5% M W4 51 & nl LAk B 38
motivated and encourage them to grow together with the Group in the {9 1E B > 3 5 JB) " 75 = 522 A 2k Bl A 4
long run. ) 3 6] = o
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM (Continued)

Employee Benefits (Continued)

As a family-friendly employer, we have implemented flexible
working hours since 2010 to accommodate a better balance between
family obligations and work duties of our employees. Since 2020, we
further extend the flexible working hours in response to COVID-19.
Our employees also enjoy different types of leaves, such as annual
leave, maternity leave, paternity leave and special paid leave.
Employee compensation insurance is provided according to the law,
while other entitlements including medical insurance and travel
insurance are also provided. Upon receipt of a letter of resignation,
an exit interview would be arranged to understand the reason for
leaving and to improve the Group’s operations.

To retain our existing talent pool, we provide some of our qualified
employees the flexibility to keep their employment with the Group if
they are relocating. Our flexible working culture ensures that these
employees would stay well-connected virtually with their teams.

Occupational Health and Safety

Work safety is the cornerstone of the sustainable development of the
Group. We seek to create a pleasant and comfortable workplace for
our employees by carrying out preventive and corrective measures.

We provide employees with news and tips regarding occupational
health and safety to raise their awareness on health and safety,
and maintain office equipment regularly. We also procure tools in
response to employees’ feedback to ensure employees can safely
complete their duties. Employees are encouraged to report accidents,
injuries and unsafe equipment or practices to the management so
that we can follow-up and improve promptly. Emergency exits are
well-maintained to ensure accessibility without barriers. Fire drills
are conducted annually to increase the risk awareness of all office
and warehouse employees by familiarising themselves with the
fire escape routes and the use of firefighting equipment. Also, our
employees who are involved in the work of hardware development
and assembly work in accordance with the code of conduct to avoid
accidents and injuries. Every year, the human resources team and the
compliance team will review the code of conduct to ensure that it is
updated and comply with the labour law.

Over the past 3 reporting years (i.e. up to 31 December 2022),
the number of work-related fatalities was zero, while the total
lost working days due to work injury was also zero. The Group is
committed to preventing any work-related injury to its employees,
and has complied with relevant laws and regulations to provide a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM (Continued)

Occupational Health and Safety (continued)

In addition, we also provide our employees with adjustable seats,
footrests and footsteps. We install air purifiers in the workplace to
remove harmful particles like allergens, fine dust, and viruses and
strengthen air ventilation. We also regularly change water purifiers in
the office to maintain drinking water safety. Fresh fruits are provided
on a weekly basis to encourage our employees to have a healthy diet.

In the meantime, in order to provide more all-rounded health and
wellness protection to our employees, the coverage of medical
insurance policies has been broadened.

As the COVID-19 situation persists in 2022, we continued to extend
our flexible working hours to help employees avoid using public
transport during rush hours, and encouraged employees to work from
home. Also, as new strands of COVID-19 continued to emerge in
different countries, we immediately implemented special working
arrangements for relevant employees in different locations, which
were reviewed and updated regularly.

Our human resources team would send out tips about preventive
measures on a regular basis and update the Group’s COVID-19
Company Policy handbook as needed. To facilitate a smooth
transition to work from home arrangements, the Group has a network
infrastructure in place to support remote work for all employees.
In addition, the workplace was disinfected regularly and more air
purifiers were installed to improve air quality, and new ventilation
systems and automatic doors were installed in washrooms to reduce
the risk of virus transmission. We believe that employees’ health,
safety and well-being comes before work and we will always seek to
create a better working environment for them.

R - HERERME

RAUBFE K

BERERZTZ W)

HAh > AR B B R At nT SR R R - W
s o A TAESG BT & T = R
by > EBRWEUIR - ANEE SR B 5 H FiM
Lo Sl N R 22 SR o FRAM IR a2 B B e
WNENFKEE  DERKAKEZ 2 - M
IR AR AR — T K R S R B (@
ERE -

[l BF > 75 1o {8 5 Rt 4 B 2 i e B £t 19
PRIE > A S ] 2 90 K 8 e AR B B 2 -

FH 7~ 2019 4F 55 284 56 54K 9 2 il 48 92 155 i 2022
MR s FRAM AR 4 TR B AR R
B B OBE BB R 7E 20T IRE [ o A It
22 o N Bk IR B R R TAE - Ak > BEE
2019 4F 37 B 568 R 5 B 5 2 87 24 s 75 MR 5 4
TEAS R B 5 3 B > AP S B 2% 78 AS 5] T
R M B R B R IR TAE L HE 5 e
W AR S B e

FRAM B N 7 R P B R AR A R I
AR 7 o Sl AR % 7 B SR AN 5 F 19 2019
AF B B0 e IR B 2 WO F A o A AR
A JIEL ) 208 O B S K AR > AR @A
Ak L B B LA SR BT A R B B R TAE
BeAh o BAM E B TAR G P AT i 3 - %
R Z AT LR USEERE R > WA
Ve FM L RBnmn R mA BN > LI
8 27 15 4% 09 LB - AN AHAE > R B fa
JE o~ %A RAE AL b TR E R —
B By A A e TARER BT -

202248 HEREAERAT 61



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERHRS

ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM (Continued)

Development and Training

The Group considers employees as the foundation of its achievements
and provides career advancement opportunities to help employees
in reaching their full potentials. In order to establish an excellent
team to accommodate the rapid development of the Group, our
employees are required to receive annual performance evaluations
which thoroughly assess the employees’ attributes, personal ability,
performance and growth at work. Annual appraisal serves not only as
a process to document the performance of our employees, but also a
precious opportunity to assist our employees in outlining their three-
to-five years’ career plans. We believe that two-way communication
is crucial to employee engagement that drives job satisfaction and
productivity and the annual appraisal is an additional platform to
facilitate communication between employees and management.
Our promotion is decided on a fair and open basis and any form
of discrimination is not tolerated. Competent employees will be
considered for internal promotion in recognition of their efforts and
contribution when there is a job vacancy.

To help new employees fit into our culture and get familiar with the
new working environment, on top of an introduction session that
covers topics such as the Group’s background, rules and policies,
we also designed and provided new employees with a half-year
orientation programme. The programme includes introductory
sessions of the Group’s culture and values, sharing sessions from the
Group’s management and experienced employees, and also interactive
sessions that encompass a vast range of personal development topics.
There are also occasional company-wide leisure activities to help new
employees to meet and exchange employees from different functions/
offices, and build up their engagement with the Group.

For appropriate positions, new employees also undergo job-
specific orientations that introduce them to relevant topics such as
professional ethics, basic business protocol, relevant professional
knowledge and skills, operational procedure and production safety
etc. We also encourage and support all employees taking training
courses and workshops that are relevant to their roles internally or at
external organisations to enrich their knowledge and perspective in
discharging their duties.
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ESTABLISHMENT OF AN EXCELLENT
TEAM (Continued)

Development and Training (continued)

Due to the nature of the technology industry, all employees must
regularly keep up to date with latest developments in the Group’s
products and technologies. The Group offers on-the-job training and
certification programmes, namely the Peplink Certified Engineer
(PCE) and Peplink Certified Sales Specialist (PCSS) programmes.
These programmes are designed to solidate knowledge of technical
and marketing aspects of the Group’s products and technological
advancement among employees and channel partners. Within the
Group, all employees engaged in engineering roles and sales and
marketing roles are required to be certified with the PCE and PCSS
respectively. Employees will continue to receive regular updates and
training about the Group’s latest technologies even after their passage
of the programmes.

Training Statistics of Hong Kong Employees
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[Employees receiving training

By Gender % 1 5l
Male B

Female o

By Employment Category ZEEEH
Management & g
Staff BT
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ZillREBES

Average training
hours

T4 5 91

62% 7.7
86% 14.5
60% 9.4
72% 10.3

COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group is committed to maintaining a mutually beneficial good
relationship with our customers and suppliers. To live up to this
commitment, we strive to improve every aspect of our operations to
create greater values for supply chain partners and customers.

Supply Chain Management

Sustainable supply chain is key to our continuous business
development and operations. We focus on stability in the supply
of materials and manage our supply chain in a socially and
environmentally responsible manner. Our major suppliers include
contract manufacturers and raw material suppliers. We interact with
our contract manufacturers and raw material suppliers on a regular
basis to communicate changes in demand and obtain supply chain
intelligence. Regular meetings and performance evaluation are
conducted to ensure local compliance, quality requirements and our
corporate social responsibility requirements are met.
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COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Supply Chain Management (Continued)

In order to evaluate the performance of potential contract
manufacturers, we visit their respective manufacturing facilities to
assure the production scale and manufacturing capabilities. We also
consider the ISO 14001 Environmental Management System and ISO
9001 Quality Management System Certification accreditations as a
primary factor. Before entering into cooperation with the contract
manufacturers, we order product samples to ensure the quality meets
our requirements. Such practice is being implemented to all contract
manufacturers. After initial engagement, our quality assurance team
continuously evaluates and monitors the performance of the Group’s
contract manufacturers under the supervision of the management.

In order to evaluate the performance of potential raw material
suppliers, we request from the potential suppliers samples of the raw
materials and development kits correspond to the raw materials and
perform quality control tests on the samples to prevent the use of
unqualified materials and to ensure its quality. Such practice is being
implemented to all raw material suppliers. A balanced judgement is
made after considering the suppliers’ reputation, performance, test
result, environmental and social factors. After supplier selection,
our quality assurance team continuously evaluates and monitors
the performance of the Group’s raw material suppliers under the
supervision of the management. We also take the green purchasing
principle into consideration. The usage of material is constantly
evaluated to avoid overstocking and squandering resources.

Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region
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COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Customer Focus

With the aim to assure the product safety and provide the best
quality products and services that meet and exceed our customers’
expectations, stringent systematic quality controls and assurance
processes are executed at every production stage, from procurement
of components to the post-sale software improvement.

With customers from Hong Kong and other parts of the world, we
strictly comply with the applicable regulations and laws related to
product health and safety, advertising and labelling in the designated
location, such as the Consumer Goods Safety Ordinance, Sale
of Goods Ordinance and Trade Marks Ordinance in Hong Kong
and the Food and Drug Administration’s Regulations and Federal
Communication Regulations in the U.S. and the Communications
and Multimedia (Technical Standards) Regulations 2000 in Malaysia.
Prior to mass production of our products, we develop sample
prototypes and perform quality control tests and functional tests to
ensure that the target specifications are met and the products comply
with the standards or regulations relating to product health and
safety. The golden sample which has passed the specified reliability
test and regulation compliance test would be transferred to our
contract manufacturers for mass production.

Concerning our product safety obligations, the suppliers responsible
for the safety concerned parts are required to be certified with
international safety approval. With product specifications, the test
cases are developed for the Group and the contract manufacturers
to test the hardware and software of our products. This is to ensure
the final hardware products and software version conform to the
product specifications. While our contract manufacturers test each
product and component manufactured, our quality assurance team
also performs tests for final products at random before shipping to
customers.

In order to strengthen customer communications, an online system
is established to collect customer opinion, and thereby, improve
customer satisfaction. Meanwhile, our customers can avail themselves
of various channels to file a complaint regarding our products and
services. Our customer and technical support teams would investigate
customer complaints and map out solutions to cater for customer
demands.
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COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Customer Focus (Continued)

For individual defective products, customers are allowed to return for
repair and replacement within warranty period. We strive to provide
accurate information on our marketing material and forbid any false,
misleading or inaccurate statement in any form of our marketing
activities. We have numerous moderators who moderate and review
reported problems in forum postings and assess the accuracy of
advice provided by members of our online community platform.
The Group will initiate a recall procedure for a particular batch of
products if any serious defects that could cause harm to customers
or produce legal issues for the Group are detected, given other
alternatives to rectify the defect are exhausted. Such recall procedure
involves risk assessment and issue recall communication (to all
distributors, resellers and other customers). The Group will prepare
and implement a recall action plan necessary for the particular
product. During the year, there were no product recalls due to safety
and health reasons, nor had the Group received any complaints
from customers that had any material adverse impact on the Group’s
brands, businesses and results of operations.

Data Confidentiality

We are fully aware of the importance of our duty in maintaining the
confidentiality of data from customers and business partners under
laws and regulations, such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
The Group spared no effort to protect the customer data.

To safeguard the confidentiality of customer data, every new
employee is required to enter into an employment contract which
strictly forbids the disclosure of confidential or proprietary
information outside the Group, either during or after employment,
without the Group’s authorisation. Access to confidential information
or documents is restricted and granted on a need-to-know basis.

At the software level, our developers ensure that the privacy
and personal data being collected, stored and transmitted by our
products are safeguarded. Our SD-WAN routers are supported by
our proprietary SpeedFusion technology, which provides secured
connections by using encryption to transmit confidential data in
a public WAN connection. If our customers have different branch
offices, our Balance series routers can keep the confidential
information transmitted securely across the public internet. Our
technology ensures a highly secured system to protect customers’
privacy. Besides security measures, we respect the choice of our
customers on the use of their information, if they do not want us to
use their information for marketing purposes. As at 31 December
2022, we were not aware of any data breach relating to the
confidentiality provision by our employees.

66 Plover Bay Technologies Limited 2022 Annual Report

HEEBREFNEARE W

& H %

B EB BB ES > FEFTEREY
AR 2 2 O AVE S0 B B 3 - JRAM B R
HAY W LR > 06 2 RME B
TEAT AT T =X 19 #5885 75 B P 4R AT 0] R 1B
A Ty A Y R o FRAME T2 R
0 B A AR A1 b v BELAE R G SC > IERE
A7 5 Y B T B O R R 0 ME R o i
AT o] 0] 58 ¥ & 5 85 K IR F ok 4G A 4R
A Tk R RE ) B SRR > R A At B
B3 &4 IF 7 35 4% o A B2 T B 3 e AR
B B R AR F o 3% A WA R & JE B R
il R 1) BT A0 B8 P~ A B e N o Ath % R
B EAEE o A E G SF B 5 E B S ET
SGCE it s ER F BT E L E o ARAEEWRA
Rl 22 4 o fi e PR R B B0y i A [ > AR 4R
] IR 4 A BT o] 3 A% SR 13 0 SEBS AR
HEAENERAFEENEFKT -

FAM R 0 BAM AR 98 I N KL (R BR) 6k 1))
S5 5 ) AR 2y TRAM B M S A vl
FRHRE R EENE - A AEGN
Ho PR %5 R o

B R MBS R 0 I
BATIR MG 2 » 22T - R B 16
A e T A DL 2 00 o
W 2 A1 5 S T B AT R o
TP e SR % R 3 L
T TR -

TEHRAE T E > A A B BN B R TR AN AY
FE b AT WS AE a4 B 2 FARE Sl N B
B2 B R B o FAM A SD-WAN % i #% i
1/ 255 () SpeedFusion F il #2 i 52 1% o 3%
M 7E {5 FF) 2 3 B8 Sk A 42 19 L > o
T o o A R > R AL AR o
5 AN % F 8 A A 433 > FAM Balance &
G B A R DA SR B B R A A A 3L
HBRA A o FRAM A Rl B R OR — (8
LRMWNABKUMERE LG - R T L2
Jits Ah o A %5 R 2R AR S A B R
fEEHAE > RMESEEFHERHH
Z R o #K 1E20224F 12 H31H - FRAM I M
HE KA AT IR B AR R 2B -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Data Confidentiality (continued)

In addition, confidential information shared with our suppliers,
contract manufacturers, distributors, resellers and other customers
are protected by confidentiality agreements. If anyone violates the
terms of using our confidential information, we reserve the right to
take necessary legal action and terminate the agreement.

Intellectual Property Right

As an innovation-driven company with continuous development in
our proprietary technologies, we are devoted to protecting our own
intellectual property rights. Our patent team works closely alongside
our research and development team to develop and maintain our
patent portfolio, and conducts regular research and monitoring to
protect our intellectual properties against infringement. Intellectual
property rights associated with the technological achievements
developed by our employees during the course of their employment
belong to the Group. Over the years, we successfully obtained
numerous patents in various countries around the world.

The Group’s Code of Conduct provides detailed explanations
on how business units can legally and compliantly use the
intellectual property rights of other enterprises and individuals. Our
confidentiality agreements protect us from any infringement of our
intellectual property rights that we share with our suppliers, contract
manufacturers, distributors, resellers, other customers and contract
workers.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to observing and upholding high standards
of business integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality and transparency
in all its business dealings at all times. The Group recognises that
fraud or bribery damages a company’s reputation and undermines
its relationship with its regulator and its clients, business partners
and competitors. The Group therefore strictly prohibits any form
of fraud or bribery, and requires strict compliance with all laws
and regulations relating to fraud or bribery. To this end, the Group
has established mechanisms under its Anti-corruption Policy and
Whistleblowing Policy to facilitate the prevention, deterrence,
detection, reporting and investigation of fraud, bribery or other
improprieties. Under the Whistleblowing Policy, our employees
are encouraged to report any suspected impropriety, misconduct or
malpractice through our confidential reporting mechanism.

The Board is accountable for the implementation of the Group’s
anti-corruption efforts and Whistleblowing Policy. These policies
are reviewed by the Board from time to time and revisions may be
commissioned to ensure that they will meet the up-to-date standards.
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COMMITMENT TO SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

Anti-corruption (continued)

Apart from the above, the Directors also attend training about
compliance of various rules and regulations, including anti-
corruption, every year. Training is also provided to employees from
time to time. As new employees sign their employment contracts
with the Group, they are asked to acknowledge and comply with the
Code of Conduct of the Group and rules and regulations including the
Anti-corruption Policy.

We keep a close tab on various expenses to deter corruption and
malpractice. Prior to the commencement of business relations with
suppliers and business partners, we conduct assessment on their
qualification, reputation and financial strength to guard ourselves
against the involvement of money-laundering activities or corruptive
practices. As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not receive any
complaint or report of non-compliance, nor any case of corruption or
bribery committed by our employees.

Community Investment

Apart from our pursuit of business development, the Group spared
no efforts in making commitment to the local community and our
industry. During the year, we donated face masks to Brotherly
Love Swatow Baptist Church to help the people in need. In order to
nourish an innovative environment and stay ahead of the latest trends
and developments in the industry, an online community forum is
established for everyone to seek information and share knowledge
about our industry. Any person may obtain free membership of
our online community forum. In addition to the online community
forum, our distributors are invited to attend exhibitions and events in
order to share our industry knowledge. As an enterprise with strong
social conscience, we will continue to step up our philanthropic
effort and drive employee involvement in serving the community and
constructing an innovative society.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

EY::

To the shareholders of Plover Bay Technologies Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with Iimited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Plover
Bay Technologies Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 75 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.
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Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the

accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EANEFNMEEZRAREEANSE

Revenue from contracts with customers

EFEAKA

During the year, the Group entered into certain contracts
with customers to sell its products and services that
contained multiple performance obligations. For such
contracts, significant assessments and interpretations
might be required to determine the appropriate
accounting, including the identification of performance
obligations and the allocation of transaction prices among
performance obligations in the arrangements, especially
for products and services that were not sold separately.
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For certain contracts with multiple promised goods or
services and when the stand-alone selling price of one
or more of the promised goods or services is unknown,
the Group has used the residual approach to estimate
the stand—alone selling price of a promised good or
service as the difference between the total transaction
price and the observable stand—alone selling prices of
other promised goods or services in the contract, if it
determines certain requirements are met.
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Our principal audit procedures relating to the Group’s
revenue recognition for these revenue contracts
included, among others, the following:
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. we obtained an understanding of and assessed
the Group’s relevant processes and key controls,
as appropriate, over the Group’s revenue
recognition, including the controls to evaluate the
appropriate accounting treatment for contracts
containing multiple performance obligations, the
identification of performance obligations and
the allocation of the transaction prices to the
performance obligations; and
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BREETNSETEHw
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMWEFNMEERRETSE

Key audit matters (consinued)

Key audit matter

HARESASRE

The assessment of management’s evaluation of the
appropriate accounting for such revenue contracts

is significant to our audit because the amounts are
material to the consolidated financial statements and the
assessment process involves significant judgment.
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we inspected a sample of relevant contracts
entered into during the year and evaluated
management’s judgments related to the
interpretation of certain contract provisions
including the identification of performance
obligations; the method of allocating the
transaction prices to the performance obligations
in the arrangements; and the assessment of
the appropriateness of the amount of revenue
recognised.

FAM A A5 A 45 BE 5T S 09 AH B G 40 B9 B AR S A
R R R T A A R ST (R R R A0 3
1) BT AE 2 B 5 8 52 B B A% 20 E 225 %0 8 49 34

The related disclosures about significant accounting
judgements and estimates are included in note 3 to the ®
consolidated financial statements.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

(9 J7 i 5 B Ak P Tl AR SO B RE K B o

BREFHRTPHEMCESR
BARERFEHMME AR - HAE R
BLHE A R B E R (A AR S R
R B BAM AL B B A A% R o

FAM 35 &5 B 5 ¥ 3R B9 B LIS T 3R
MR FRAM IR A B At R B RAT TR
A B 45 o

e T AM 2wt &5 & W B i R > MY R
AT 2 B A R > RS AR > B
il R R A B A A B R R SR A AE R
A R BT TR R DU AR > B
LA B K B R B o 7 AN 2 AT Y
TAE > n 2R FRAM BR A FL A R A EE R B R
Bt > FAM T % o e T
A G AAEATH A -

ESHAAMBHEREARENER

BRAAERAAARBETEGIMA G
SR A 114 e i B B ik o R B R A 8 A
e ) 14 4 B BOR BEM L E TP B AR S
W B i 3R 0 B RLRE A AR S TS R
R M S A7 AE Fh R R BB SR T B0
TR S ik RO T R B A A o AR

202248 HEREAERAE 71



Independent Auditor’s Report
B HEN RS

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
S0.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B HEN RS

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

23 February 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEERERAMEZEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BZE2022F12831HILEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
US$°000 US$’000
FTEx T %7
REVENUE B A 5 86,757 74,128
Cost of sales and services 58 e I 55 B A (40,250) (30,973)
Gross profit E A 46,507 43,155
Other income and gains, net HoA i 25 K ) £5 > 5 E 5 183 57
Selling and distribution expenses B B Ky 8 B 7 3,100) (2,738)
General and administrative expenses — % B AT BB S (8,173) (6,973)
Research and development, consultancy and W #§ ~ &4 #f] K L Ath B 57
other expenses (8,792) (8,657)
Remeasurement loss on a disposal group — A FFEHENEEH
classified as held for sale Al Z B A e R — (68)
Finance costs W 5 1 A 7 (244) 49)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX A0 & A 6 26,381 24,727
Income tax expense JT 45 B BH 52 10 3,722) (3,527)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BRARBEEAEBGEFR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF = A
THE PARENT 22,659 21,200
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hite2HE B
Other comprehensive loss that may be HEWTRREN L
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 18 % A9 L Ath 4 T &5 48 ¢
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of W BB AT E LW
foreign operations [ifE 5, 25 %1 (141) (88)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ®BATHEEAEEER
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO ZHEWH &%

OWNERS OF THE PARENT 22,518 21,112
2022 2021
2022 20214F
US cents US cents
S FEA
EARNINGS PER SHARE BRAREEEEEERA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY ELHERAER

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
Basic FA 2.07 1.96
Diluted 0 2.06 1.94
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
maEBBERRR

31 December 2022
A2022F12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214F
US$°000 US$’000
Txx T %t
NON-CURRENT ASSETS HRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W~ W B 13 3,310 3,311
Intangible assets e E E 15 1,807 1,336
Prepayments and deposits T RIE B A% 4 266 31
Deferred tax assets R I B IH A 24 111 122
Total non-current assets ERBEELRE 5,494 4,800
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories e 16 32,333 18,622
Trade receivables 5 o I WK 17 12,054 11,664
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T8} 3K TH ~ % 4 K
H At 8 Ui E 18 2,634 2,028
Tax recoverable CIN QIR 88 5
Pledged deposit T4 1 A7 3K 19 2,029 2,004
Cash and cash equivalents HeBHEs%EEY 19 28,658 31,641
77,796 65,964
Assets of disposal groups classified as held 7> 7 £f VE & 19
for sale & 2 E 20 — 979
Total current assets REBEEHRE 77,796 66,943
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables, other payables and accruals & & 7 3 JE - HAth
JREAST K T B JE i 3k A 21 6,900 5,625
Lease liabilities 55 & % 14 1,572 1,162
Contract liabilities G #HARK 22 15,114 11,681
Interest-bearing bank borrowings F R SR AT 1 3K 23 6,471 4,639
Tax payable JRE AF o 3K 5,176 4,278
35,233 27,385
Liabilities of disposal groups classified as 73 8 23 Fr fE & 1
held for sale B I 2 A 20 — 3
Total current liabilities AEBBEEHEE 35,233 27,388
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 42,563 39,555
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBDAEE
LIABILITIES 48,057 44,355
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR BRI R

31 December 2022
M2022%12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214F
US$’°000 US$°000
FET TE0
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 673 1,220
Contract liabilities GH A 22 3,745 2,820
Deferred tax liabilities I i B TH A fE 24 348 232
Total non-current liabilities kRBEBEHEE 4,766 4,272
Net assets EEFE 43,291 40,083
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of the parent oy FV R A ON AL HE £5
Issued capital OB AT AR 25 1,414 1,405
Reserves G 27 41,877 38,678
Total equity RERE 43,291 40,083
Chan Wing Hong Alex Chau Kit Wai
R K B2 BgiE
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEERBER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12A318LFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRARBARSE

Share Exchange
Issued  premium Share option fluctuation Retained Total

capital account reserve reserve profits equity
E&f R EhRE EZk3
k& REER 1 e REEA RR4R
Notes U8$°000 US$000 US$000  US$000 US$000 US$000
i TEx T#n T#n T#n T#n T#n

At 1 January 2021 20214 LA LH 1,381 19,587 973 57 13,840 35,838
Profit for the year B — - — - 21,200 21,200
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREbAEER:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign R E B AP EHE £ 1)

operations R ER - - — (88) — (88)

Total comprehensive incomef(loss) for the year 2 L& /(BB 4 - - — (88) 21,200 2,112
Tssue of shares upon exercise of share options 7 B R fE % B 17 e fpy 25(b) % 2550 (508) - - 2,066
Bauity-settled share option arrangements DU 5 45 5 00 B L 26 - - 123 - - 13
Transfer of share option reserve upon the forfeiture 6 % o 2 Ui 3 31 11 8 3

or expiry of share options TR Bt f - - (15) — 15 —
Second interim 2020 dividend 0FE-RPHRE - - - - (8,629) (8,629)
2020 special dividend 2020 45l K - - — - (3,005) (3,005)
Interim 2021 dividend 2001 B - - - - (1422) (7420)
At 31 December 2021 0212 A31H 1,405 0,137 sn3 (1) 15,999 40,083
At 1 January 2022 20225 1 1A 1,403 0,137 513 31) 15999 40,083
Profit for the year R i A - - - - 2,659 2,659
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREt2EES:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign BB B

operations ERER - - - (141) - (141)

Total comprehensive incomel(loss) for the year A2 WL /(B8 48 - - - (141) 22,659 2518
Tssue of shares upon exercise of share options 77 B e BE % 6 17 e 25(b) 9 1449 (263) - - 1,195
Equity-settled share option arrangements DR G RN RER 26 - - 266 - - 266
Transfer of share option reserve upon the forfeiture 16 1% 4 2 Ui 3 51 11 6 8 3

or expiry of share options TR Gt f - - (62) - 62 -
Second interim 2021 dividend QEF WM - - - - 313 1513
2021 special dividend 2021455 B - - - - (989) (989)
Tnterim 2022 dividend 00E 3 Hk & - - - - (8,269) (8,269)
At 31 December 2022 2005121310 1414 23,586 514 (mp 1M 4391
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of US$41,877,000 * % % fifi i E%E R IR R RS Yirt %‘:2 i

(2021: US$38,678,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. ‘2’%;%000% T (20214 : 38,678,000 JT) Z %
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AERERER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12A3181LFE

2022 2021
20224

20214E
US$°000
S

Notes US$°000
M 5k FEx

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RE EZHFFEHELRE
ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax 4 AT i 7] 26,381 24,727
Adjustments for: PR IEH -
Finance costs B B A 7 244 49
Bank interest income SRAT A Sk 28 5 (104) (30)
Write-down of inventories to net O A & 2 ] 5 B (E
realisable value 6 105 295
Covid-19-related rent concessions from € H H FH A (1) BL20194F ¢ B 72
lessors IR B RAHBI L S H 14 — @)
Depreciation g 6 2,009 1,693
Impairment of trade receivables 5 5 JE Wi R H (E 6 11 18
Amortisation of intangible assets filk &1 R A 6 801 739
Loss on disposal of items of property, tH&EWH « ik E KX MHEE 2
plant and equipment 5 18 6 1 —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries B A F 2 I s 6 (57) —
Remeasurement loss on a disposal R FEAE B R B A A
group classified as held for sale O R E R 6 — 68
Equity-settled share option expense HE 75 &5 0 I R R BH 2 26 266 123
29,657 27,678
Increase in inventories &1 (13,816) (6,408)
Increase in trade receivables B 5y I ARk T 3 401) (4,685)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TAAT AE - A K H A
deposits and other receivables JHE Wi 2k JE H ’J\/( ) (841) 174
Increase in trade payables, B 5 AT 3K L Ath, 1 AT 3K
other payables and accruals J‘? it AR E i‘ﬁ' 7JD 1,376 1,071
Increase in contract liabilities EHAE I 4,358 3,620
Cash generated from operations 80 T A5 B 4 20,333 21,450
Hong Kong profits tax paid, net BT E SR R (2,538) (2,532)
Overseas taxes paid, net B 5 AN IR A (223) 2)
Net cash flows from operating RETHFMERLSRETFH
activities 17,572 18,916
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BREZFEFEELRE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received S NS 104 30
Purchase of items of property, plant and W& ¥ 3% ~ W7 K st THH
equipment (765) (532)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, Y 84 3 ~ = M 34 19
plant and equipment BT e & — @31)
Additions to intangible assets WEEEEE 1,274) (958)
Deposits received related to the ULL BLULL X UPLHE HIHM B E
and UPL Disposals WS B A% 42 20 — 101
Disposal of subsidiaries S B A 28 908 —
Increase in a pledged deposit L HE A7 R (25) )
Net cash flows used in investing REZBHFARERE
activities FE (1,052) (1,394)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERTMER

Year ended 31 December 2022
HZE2022F12A318LFE

2022
20225

Notes US$°000
B 5 FEx

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING R EZEBFREHEHRE

2021
20214E
US$°000
SEEST

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from exercise of share options 17 fiff ff§ i T&F)ﬂ IH 1,195 2,066
Dividends paid IR iz (20,771) (19.056)
New bank borrowings B R AT :iah X 21,521 5,282
Repayment of bank borrowings 35 2R A ﬁ &3 (19,680) 4,019)
Interest paid B A A B (185) 31)
Principal portion of lease payments A & A5 3K Z N j[‘ Uiy 29 (1,404) (1,137)
Interest portion of lease payments B A 3K 2 FLEE o 29 (59) (18)
Net cash flows used in financing METBHFARERERE

activities (19,383) (16,913)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN HReHBRSESEYFER

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (& 4) (2,863) 609
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 4F ¥ B & Bl Bl & % fE ¥

of year 31,663 31,151
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [ [ % 5 B 5 28 » {5

net (142) 97)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FARRESHBSZEY

AT END OF YEAR 28,658 31,663
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF REERESEEYERDM

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & R AT 45 8 19 28,658 31,641
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in i %5 & BF %5 iR U 2% 51 AR 19 B 4

the consolidated statement of financial M ¥ & % 154

position 28,658 31,641
Cash and cash equivalents attributable to H & 4 Bl 1 {5 3 4 & B 4 %5

the disposal groups B 20 — 22
Cash and cash equivalents as stated REEBR SR ERINENE &

in the consolidated statement of cash K& 5B

flows 28,658 31,663

80 Plover Bay Technologies Limited 2022 Annual Report



CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Plover Bay Technologies Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The address of the
registered office of the Company is Third Floor, Century
Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand Cayman KYI-
1103, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the
Company is located at Unit B, 5/F, Dragon Industrial Building,
93 King Lam Street, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following
principal activities:

. designing, development and marketing of software defined
wide area network (“SD-WAN”) routers; and

. provision of software licences and warranty and support
services.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of
incorporation
and business

BB

Issued
ordinary share
capital

BT
EERAE

B

Notes to Financial Statements

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company

ARF R

BB

B REERAR FEE

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

ARREEER

H7 8 BB A BR A A F % B 2 R R
B ST B A BR AR AT o AN F] EE A
P 5 19 M btk 5 Third Floor, Century
Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902,
Grand Cayman KYI1-1103, Cayman
Islands o A7 A 32 2 45 26 b 26 47 7t &
W5 JUHE 75 A R X bR 793 9% BE R0 L 3¢
KESHBE -

i A
i)

B REBMAMH T EEE
o KRl BEE LE W E R R
15 48 ([SD-WAN ) % m &% 5 &

o PREECE AT AR B B SR R
B

Coy- PNCE
EARITER J0) PATE ¢Sy IR

Principal activities

IREY

2022
20225

2021
20214

Protean Holdings British Virgin US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited Islands/Hong
Kong
B8 A A B BB
BE/ Bk
Pepwave Limited Hong Kong HKS!1 100 100 Designing, development and marketing of
SD-WAN routers and provision of software
licences and warranty and support services
i 1 T ek~ B BB B SD-WAN B i 5 DA B 2 fit

P TR AR B S B AR
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Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. PEIREBEER w
INFORMATION (Continued)

Place of Issued  Percentage of equity
incorporation ordinary share attributable to the
and business capital Company Principal activities

B8 E#1T LG

ERHE EERAK EZE R FEEH
2022 2021
20225 20214

Peplink International Hong Kong HK$1,000 100 100  Designing, development and marketing of
Limited SD-WAN routers and provision of software
licences and warranty and support services
it 1,000 & ARt~ B R B SD-WAN R 45 DL R £ fit
PR R T AR A6 B S 4R MRS
Pismo Labs Limited Hong Kong HKS$!1 100 100 Development of SD-WAN routers
ik 17 % % SD-WAN B th 7%
Peplink Pepwave Limited Hong Kong HKS$!1 100 100 Designing, development and marketing of

SD-WAN routers and provision of software
licences and warranty and support services

7 i 17T ek~ B BB 5 SD-WAN Bk i 5 A B 2 11t
PR R T AR A6 B S 4R MRS

Pismo Labs Technology ~ Hong Kong HKS$!1 100 100 Intellectual property holding
Limited
AR AT IR A ] ik 1t Fi A S 7 4
Pismo Research Malaysia RM350,000 100 100 Development of SD-WAN routers
(Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.
AT 5 350,000k 5 4§ % JE SD-WAN § i 7
Pismo Technology Asia ~ Hong Kong HKS!1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited
HE R A R AR B 1T R %K
Peplink Pepwave Tech Taiwan NT$1,000,000 100 100 Development of SD-WAN routers
Limited
ARWHMBARRA [ 1,000,000 B JEE SD-WAN i i1 5
ek
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (Continued)

Place of Issued  Percentage of equity
incorporation ordinary share attributable to the
and business capital Company

B 3 6 EET FOFEE

X EERAK EZEA R
2022 2021
20225 20214

BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

PAIREBE R @

Principal activities

IRED

Peplink Pepwave UAB Lithuania EUR2,500 100 100
ALK 2,5008 7T
Pismo Technologies Hong Kong HK$1 100 100
Limited
ik 17
Speedfusion Pte. Limited Singapore SGS$1 100 100
g Ui 3% e
Peplink Pepwave Pte. Singapore SG$1 100 100
Limited
g A 3% 7t
Note:
RM — Malaysian ringgits
NT$ — New Taiwan dollars
EUR — Euro
SG$ — Singapore dollars

Except for Protean Holdings Limited, all of the above
subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group or are of particular importance to the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Designing, development and marketing of
SD-WAN routers and provision of software
licences and warranty and support services

Wk~ B R 5 SD-WAN B i 5 A R 2 11t
PR R T AR A6 B S 4R MRS

Investment holding
HEREK

Designing, development and marketing of
SD-WAN routers and provision of software
licences and warranty and support services

wwk > B BB 5 SD-WAN Bk i 5 A B 2 11t
PR R T AR A6 B S 4R MRS

Development of SD-WAN routers

B J2 SD-WAN B th #8

% T Protean Holdings Limited > DA -
FIT A7 I T8 28 w3 AR 2w R A o

EXRBIMERTRAMS - BHAE
P ) A JRE SR A R 2R A A
AL E E TR AL
B HE R ME AR - EREES
AR 51 EL At B JB8 2 W) B ORI (AR B
BRRICR » SR -
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Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS HRAR L

31 December 2022
2022%12H831H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 RBE%E

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
Disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further
explained in note 2.4 to the financial statements. These
financial statements are presented in United States dollars
(“US$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has, directly
or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(¢) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

W IR 4 e R 55398 (B RT A
Amendments to HKAS 16

s & w55 169E (B 7T 4)
Amendments to HKAS 37

W g wE e QI 2E3758 (B AT A

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

W HER T T]
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework™) issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add
to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle
for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to
determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The
exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent
liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately
rather than assumed in a business combination, an
entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that
contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the
acquisition date. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to business combinations that occurred
on or after 1 January 2022. As there were no business
combinations during the year, the amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position and performance
of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost
of those items as determined by HKAS 2 Inventories, in
profit or loss. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively to items of property, plant and equipment
made available for use on or after 1 January 2021.
Since there was no sale of items produced prior to the
property, plant and equipment being available for use,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

©

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling
that contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled
all its obligations at 1 January 2022 and no onerous
contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets
out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative
Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41.
Details of the amendments that are applicable to the
Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether the
terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those
paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group
has applied the amendment prospectively from 1
January 2022. As there was no modification or
exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities during
the year, the amendment did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR L

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

22 ERBERRBEESE

©

(d)

E A FHENSE 37 (B RTA)
o LR B AW e S 537
SRR A A B E s R
JEAT A AR AR B RS A H
BB LA - LA 40 B AT B
() 5 A 0 455 JBE AT 7% A £ 1 1 &
FRAS () 70 L 45 T bRk ) B B
JEAT A %0 B A B At il A
A3 (B a0 o e B AT A AT Y
¥ WE R EE TR B
DL R & 8 8 BE R BB AR o —
e S AT B AS B A 43l R B
AH B R B FE BH R R AR 1R A A
i) 36 7 B A5 B BEBRAE A o
A% S A% 5% 5 A& FT RIS M
JRE N A 2022451 H1H oK JB 17
Fr A 20 A 4 > B 4 88
R RS 8 - Bt %%
16 5T 7 48 30 B 5 R I Bk 3k
B Sl AT {o] 5 28 o

BB B IR AT I 2018-20204F
I 5 4 B S s B
e HE R SE 198 A W B
HERISEO5E ~ A i BB i 4 e HI
E165% BE B A9 &5 00 HE R B &
W g sk E R S5 4158 o 3O R A
EEMBERTFEHWT

o TS MERISEONE 2
A TR R R AL
HRT Bk AR AE T 4 Rl A I
KB 4 B R Bk R AR
ANEEET &N ER - &
S PR R RN B
HNZ B EAT B E g3k
TH > LA RO B RN
R 3% HoAth 45 7 ST Bkl B
W& A o A 4 F B 2022
AF1A 1 H AT IE M b R R
5T o Hh R A 4F B A A A
CHIESE EN Y TR
Af > BT AEEH
14 B 85 51K I B 2 B 4 AT

foT 5 B o

202248 HEREHAERAT 87



Notes to Financial Statements

BA RS HRAR L

31 December 2022
2022%12H831H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE Q3IECEMEEMREMNESR
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING Bt 7% 3R 25 ZE A
STANDARDS

A AR TSI R TE I S B B ik 3R A E T
PLTR 2 B8 A {5 oK 2B 2% 09 37 w1 M 58
16 7T 7 s B 05 s e A -

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

W B 5 e YR S SR 0 9% R A B wT YRR SR28 B A S LI 2 A B Al 3 Y E

98 (20114F) (& 7T A) L&

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

W B i R R SR 1698 (B 7T A) B 1% 1t [7] 79 7 B A 152

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’

A U RS e e RIS 17 9% R & 7

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’ >

A W B A R R SR 17 5% (B 5T A) R g & #9103

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative Information

A W B A R R SR 17 5% (B 5T A) Bl R A R 1798 R B R A R 9 9E
B KR — H# & #fo

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classitication of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”) %+

g RSB (B RTA) AF B 1 77 B 2% 0 B 2 T O B ([20204F 16 7T A1) 2+

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)?

g RSB (B RTA) i 77 22 it 7Y I 0 B B ([20224F 15 7T K )) 2

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Statement 2
F s o wh e QS8 O S B S o HERVE S & A R Y M
oA A28 (B 5T A%)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’

A i B A e SR 5E (B 7T ) & 14 a1 09 7

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction'

A s g REE R 1258 (B T A Bl B — x5 5 A Y B R B A B 19 20 A B TR
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the

2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

s As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023

o An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed
by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However,
the amendments are available for adoption now.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE Q3IECEMEEMREMNESR

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall
be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions
entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16
(i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, in particular
the determination over whether an entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the
reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify the
situations that are considered a settlement of a liability. In
2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. In addition, the 2022
Amendments require additional disclosures by an entity
that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as
non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of those
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively.
Earlier application is permitted. An entity that applies the
2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously
the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether existing
loan agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary
assessment, the amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures
to ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use
measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting
estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting
estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE Q3IECEMEEMREMNESR

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and did
not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability
for temporary differences for transactions related to leases.
Upon initial application of these amendments, the Group will
recognise deferred tax for all temporary differences related
to leases at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and non-current
assets/disposal groups classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit
if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s

family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i1) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary

of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the

same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of

the entity); and
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Related parties (Continued)
(b)  (Continued)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an
item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy
for “Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

24 EREFTHERE &)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

MK BERRBEURITE @

C RO =N S A N
oS00 S A ) 3 MRS B R A
TEH B9 A 2 HOR B L (E - UL E Y
PR EZAE R

Buildings Over the shorter of lease terms and 3'4%
T F1 HL ) BEL31/59% Y 2 J o 7y e
Furniture and fixtures 20%
B K
Computer equipment 3315%
6 i w2
Offlce equipment 3315%
THE 2 B
Machlne and equipment 3315%
bR L% %

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic
life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.

Patents, licences and trademarks

Patents, licences and trademarks are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 1 to 20 years.

Research and development expenditures
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b

©

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment and laptop computers that are considered to
be of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHEBME »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (conrinucd)
Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised
cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHEBME »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Derecognition of financial assets (continuea)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.
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Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHEBME »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings or payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at
amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and,
in the case of finished goods, comprises direct materials,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature
to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHEBME »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHEBME »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and
all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

(@) Sale of routers and software licences
Revenue from the sale of routers and stand-alone software
licences is recognised at the point in time when control
of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the routers and software.

(b) Provision of licence services
Revenue from the provision of licence services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-line
basis because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

(¢)  Provision of warranty and support services
Revenue from the provision of warranty and support
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as
an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that
will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(¢) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which the
asset relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
of the Group (including directors of the entities comprising
the Group) receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHEBME »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in
note 26 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date
fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in
the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification, that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits

Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as
at the end of each reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. An accrual is made at the end of each reporting
period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the year by the employees and carried forward.

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the
employee leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting
fully, in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 ERETHEBME »

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

Other employee benefits (coninued)

Retirement benefit schemes (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in Malaysia are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme, the
Employees Provident Fund (the “EPF Scheme”) operated by the
Malaysian government. The subsidiary is required to contribute
a certain percentage of payroll costs to the EPF Scheme. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit scheme is to make specified contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in Taiwan chose to
participate in a defined contribution scheme governed by the
Labour Pension Act of Taiwan. This subsidiary contributes
at 6% of the total salaries of participating employees who
have chosen to participate in the defined contribution scheme,
deposited into individual pension accounts at the Bureau of
Labour Insurance of Taiwan.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the
Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds, and
they are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Dividends

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grants the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as
a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in United States
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the United States dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into United States dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into United
States dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the overseas subsidiaries are translated into
United States dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
United States dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from
those involving estimations, which has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Contracts with customers to sell products and services
that contain multiple performance obligations

The Group has entered into contracts with customers to sell
its products and services that contain multiple performance
obligations. For such contracts, significant assessments and
interpretations may be required to determine the appropriate
accounting, including the identification of performance
obligations and the allocation of transaction prices among
performance obligations in the arrangements, especially for
products and services that are not sold separately. The Group
applies significant judgement in the process based on the
relevant circumstances.

For certain contracts with multiple promised goods or services
and when the stand-alone selling price of one or more of
the promised goods or services is unknown, the Group has
determined it is appropriate to use the residual approach to
estimate the stand—alone selling price of a promised good
or service as the difference between the total transaction
price and the observable stand—alone selling prices of
other promised goods or services in the contract if certain
requirements are met. The Group applies significant judgement
to determine the appropriateness of such approach given the
specific circumstances, based on, inter alia, the availability
of information and historical transaction/pricing history and
practice.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continuea)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification of warranty and support services

The Group applied judgement on revenue recognition of
warranty and support services. The Group has determined,
based on the terms and arrangements of the services, whether
the warranty and support services provided are service-type
or assurance-type warranty. The revenue from the provision
of warranty and support services was derived from (i) the
embedded warranty provided with the sale of SD-WAN routers;
and (ii) the extended service-type warranty. For embedded
warranty, it provides customer services such as after-sales
services and updates, which is beyond fixing existing defects in
the products and thus, embedded warranty represents a separate
performance obligation and is considered as a service-type
warranty. For other extended service-type warranty, it is sold
separately and represented a separate performance obligation.
The Group concluded that revenue from warranty and
support services is to be recognised over time because they
represented a separate performance obligation and the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by
the Group.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults
in the sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continuea)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note
17 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts of
inventories with reference to detailed analyses of the Group’s
inventories and management experience and judgement. Based
on this review, write-down of inventories will be made when the
carrying amounts of inventories decline below their estimated
net realisable values. Due to changes in technological, market
and economic environment, actual saleability of goods may be
different from estimation and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in this estimation.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate
of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation
when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries
that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs
to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@) the sale of SD-WAN routers segment that primarily
engages in sale of wired and wireless routers; and

(b) software licences and warranty and support services
segment that primarily engages in the provision of

software licences and warranty and support services.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment
profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax. The
adjusted profit before tax is measured consistently with the
Group’s profit before tax except that other income, selling and
distribution expenses, unallocated general and administrative
expenses, remeasurement loss on a disposal group classified
as held for sale and finance costs are excluded from such
measurement.

There were no material intersegment sales and transfers during
the current and prior years.

4.
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(a) Operating segments (a) R&EDI
Sale of SD-WAN routers Software licences
84 & SD-WAN B H1 28 and warranty and
Wired routers Wireless routers support services Total
REFTRRE
BRRHE BEREME BXERY i
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
20226 2021F 20228 2021 202 2021F 2028 20214
US$000  US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 USS000 US$000 USS 000
T#x TEr T*x TFEr TFEx FEx T
Segment revenue: (note 5) DERULA (B EES)
Sales to external customers MK 14430 12463 46773 42561 25554 19,104 86,757 74,128
Segment results TBEE 4559 498 11458 12950 20,898 15823 36915 33,759
Reconciliation: B
Other income and gains, net ~ FEA Uit K F 4 -
i 183 57
Selling and distribution expenses &4 & & 7 #4 B (3,100)  (2.738)
Unallocated general and B — M RATE
administrative expenses i % (7,373)  (6,234)
Remeasurement loss a disposal 7% £ 45 fF th & 1
group classified as held for sale ;ﬁ il B Rt &
2 - (68)
Finance costs B A (244) (49)
Profit before tax IRR 26,381 24727
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(a) Operating segments (Continued)
Information of assets, liabilities and capital expenditure of
reportable segments is not provided to the chief operating
decision makers for their review. Therefore, no analysis of
the Group’s assets, liabilities and capital expenditure by
reportable segments is presented.

Sale of SD-WAN routers
HESD-WANK B 2
Wired routers
BREmE
2022 2021 2022
WNE 220 200EF
US$000 US$ 000
Tzx TFx
Other segment information: ~ 2 HER
Amortisation of intangible assets {# & ¥ & & 145 79 484
Write-down of inventories to net (5 /7 & £ 7 2 B
realisable value fER 25 67 80

Wireless routers

BEBEME

US$000  US$000
TEn T#x

ReEFEER @

(a) BEDIaw
FHERa MM ERE - AK
B G AR B S R i B R R
FEEEPRE ML A o
Rt - HE 4 5230 4% v] 23R 4 &6
Sl RERERE BERE
AP ST o

Software licences
and warranty and
support services
RHFTRRE
BXRRH

2022 2021
20228 20216
US$°000  US$000
TErn T#x

Total

Bt

2022
20225
US$°000
Txxm

2021
20214

2021
20214
US$'000
T¥x

468 172 192 801 739

228 — — 105 295

(b)

Geographical information
(i)  Revenue from external customers

(b) HEHEFR
G) KEIEEF KA

2022 2021

20224 20214

US$°000 US$’000

FER T %0

North America b2 52,017 43,087
EMEA (Europe, Middle East and B~ SRR E Y

Africa) 21,736 19,658

Asia ERR 11,121 9,322

Others HAth 1,883 2,061

86,757 74,128
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)
(b) Geographical information (continued)
(ii) Non-current assets
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4. BEHTBER w)

(b) i &R )
(i) HFREEE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
US$°000 US$’000
FEx £t
Hong Kong i 4,212 4,107
Others H At 1,171 571
5,383 4,678
The non-current asset information above is based on DA b JE i B A R R R
the locations of the assets and excludes deferred tax B A B HOS LS R I
assets. BTG RE o
() Information about a major customer © —BEXEEEFMNESR

For the year ended 31 December 2022, total revenue
of approximately US$16,743,000 was derived from
transactions with a single customer reporting in the sale
of SD-WAN routers segment and software licences and
warranty and support services segment.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, total revenue
of approximately US$13,863,000 was derived from
transactions with a single customer reporting in the sale
of SD-WAN routers segment and software licences and
warranty and support services segment.

S. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS, NET

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

B E2022F12H31H IEF > ik
A HBFE #)16,743,000 3% 7T 2k H B
— S — % A §4 5 SD-WAN
B 7% 40 30 LA S A 0 n] S fR 1 B
AR MRS o E s 3L G e

B E20214F 12 H31H IR4E > Ik
A HB%E #713,863,000 3% JT 2k [ B
— A — K P IE 55 5 SD-WAN
FH 7 40 0 LA B ik v S fR 1 B
AR MR o EB B3 G e

5. WA~ Hittlzs R A &
#E
A Z AT F

2022 2021
20225 20214F

US$°000 US$’000

Revenue from contracts with EFEAHWBA
customers

FEn TxT

86,757 74,128
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA Htblhz &A% -
GAINS, NET (Coninued) FE
Revenue from contracts with customers EFEEHKA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) ZEUAEZEH
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BZ2022F12831BLFE

Software

Sale of licences and
SD-WAN warranty and
routers support services

HE BRI R

SD-WAN R&E
- 3: e X ER® &5
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
TEn TEx TEn

Types of goods or services AmEREER

Sale of SD-WAN routers 5 & SD-WAN I i 4%

— Wired — A5 14,430 - 14,430

— Wireless — AR 46,773 - 46,773
Provision of warranty and 12 ik {7 A5 B

support services A% Mk B — 21,107 21,107
Sale of software and licence fee & B B {1 )

income AT B A — 4,447 4,447

Total revenue from contracts RAEF&HZ

with customers NG F 61,203 25,554 86,757
Geographical markets it & ™ 45
North America M 36,316 15,701 52,017
EMEA (Europe, Middle East and B ~ 5 F1 3E 3

Africa) 15,857 5,879 21,736
Asia a1 7,815 3,306 11,121
Others Ho Aty 1,215 668 1,883

Total revenue from contracts KARFEHZ
with customers e A B 61,203 25,554 86,757

Timing of revenue recognition U A & 53 B i
Goods transferred at a point in i 3¢ {1H IRf [ 26 #4575

time 2B 61,203 1,801 63,004
Services transferred over time i RF [H] #5 £% 2 MR 7 — 23,753 23,753

Total revenue from contracts KHBRFEHZ
with customers e A % 61,203 25,554 86,757
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS, NET (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (coninued)
Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021

i)

Notes to Financial Statements

5. A

BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

Hof iy 2 R A 2%

= E
BEEESHWA )
(i) DBEYRAZH @)

BZE2021F5128318 L EE

Software
Sale of licences and
SD-WAN warranty and
Segments routers  support services
5 R R AT R
SD-WAN fr {5 B
il B 7 X 4% Mk &t
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000
T%£7T T%£7T T%7T
Types of goods or services BmARBER
Sale of SD-WAN routers 55 & SD-WAN i B 2%
— Wired — A5 12,463 — 12,463
— Wireless — 4 42,561 — 42,561
Provision of warranty and 12 ik {75 B
support services 1% MRS — 15,724 15,724
Sale of software and licence fee  #  # {1 )
income EE- L ON — 3,380 3,380
Total revenue from contracts RKEEFEHZ
with customers PNE 55,024 19,104 74,128
Geographical markets i & ™ 5
North America 363 32,388 10,699 43,087
EMEA (Europe, Middle East and B ~ 5 01 3F
Africa) 14,777 4,381 19,658
Asia CHRV 6,325 2,997 9,322
Others HAth 1,534 527 2,061
Total revenue from contracts KARFEHZ
with customers L 55,024 19,104 74,128
Timing of revenue recognition U A & 5% B i
Goods transferred at a point in i 3 {f IRf [ 26 5 £
time Z B 55,024 1,791 56,815
Services transferred over time P IRy [H] 8 5% 2 IR %5 — 17,313 17,313
Total revenue from contracts KAEFAHZ
with customers i A HB A 55,024 19,104 74,128
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA Htblhz &A% -
GAINS, NET (Conrinued) BFE
Revenue from contracts with customers (conrinued) EFEHBA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) DBERAEZF @)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue R G R R A i T e R
recognised in the current reporting period that were WA g HE A RS Y
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the G R A

reporting period:

2022 2021
20225 20214E

US$°000 US$°000
FXx T X0

Revenue recognised that was FEA R WG A B
included in contract liabilities at i e RR IR A
the beginning of the reporting

period:
Provision of warranty and support it OR A& B S 4% IR B

services 10,023 7,582
Sale of software and licence fee S B WA BT AT 2 R A

income 1,658 961

11,681 8,543
(ii) Performance obligations (i) BHEF

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is A B A 4R R 4 AT B R
summarised below: A
Sale of SD-WAN routers and software #f 87 SD-WAN £ i 8 X # 1
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of J& #1 B AT R 22 AT 8% i A S A
the routers and software and payment is generally due IR 222 i S A R — M IR 22 A 42
within 60 days from delivery. 60 H Ik %5 £f
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BA SRR L

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

5. WA Bz R A&
B E

BEEESHWA
(i) BHEE @)

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS, NET (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (Continued)

Warranty and support services

The revenue from the provision of warranty and support
services was derived from (i) the embedded service-type
warranty provided with the sale of SD-WAN routers; and
(ii) the extended service-type warranty. For embedded
service-type warranty, it provides customer services
such as after-sales services and updates, which is beyond
fixing existing defects in the products and thus, embedded
service-type warranty represents a separate performance
obligation and is considered as a service-type warranty.
For other extended service-type warranty, it is sold
separately and represented a separate performance
obligation. The performance obligation is satisfied over
time as services are rendered and payment in advance is
normally required.

Licence services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment in advance is normally
required.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows:

Amounts expected to be recognised TH 7 58 & It A 1Y

R A5 5 57 IR T

P2 A LR A& B 3 B8 IR B A i A TR
H : (i) bE SD-WAN I H 25 8 15 4%
A A IR B BORAE 5 R Gii) 2
= MBS AR AE o BN I8 i IR B
BARAE > FLHR A 55 a0 B 15 Ik B
WMERFFETFRE > BHEEE
5 B A BOIE R AR s R
N IR B AR 2 B — TH B
KEAT > W HERBE ARG -
o H A At B iR B AR 1B H
WEHE WEAYE —HE
#) AT o JE & AT BE 5 A B
N > HOWE 5 AT RE o

Y &
J& 7 35AT BB 4R £t M B 2 A - B
W AT AROH

RI2A31H A £ 8% B & 51T
(R %22 1 BB 43 oK 2 ) 152 5
fEA% 5T

2022 2021
20225 20214E

US$°000 US$°000
FTXRT X

as revenue: X

Within one year — 4N 15,114 11,681

After one year — AR 3,745 2,820
18,859 14,501
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND S.
GAINS, NET (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations (Continued)
Licence services (Continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations which are expected to
be recognised as revenue after one year relate to licence
services and warranty and support services, of which the
performance obligations are to be satisfied within seven

WA - HAb U R K F &

BHEw

BEEAHWA @

(i) BAIE1F )
AR (a)
o3 BE 2 8% N TE W R — A 1R
R ANELELNL S E
& 4 B8 W K AT IR S AR 1B K&
TR - SR N A
AT 51 7 £ 4 R A -

years.
2022 2021
20224 20214F
US$°000 US$’000
FEx T %t

Other income and gains, net HirwzmRA&w o FE
Sale of parts B B A — 16
Bank interest income SRAT S A 104 30
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries R ) NP & 57 —
Others H At 22 11
183 57
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. ¥iAlE R
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ 7% 42 BB ATV R T 260 BR 7 (REA) DA
(crediting): & TH AR T R B
2022 2021
20225 20214F
US$°000 US$°000
FEx T £ 7T
Cost of inventories sold BT E A 38,355 30,116
Cost of services provided T2 I B A 1,895 857
Depreciation&® Pr # asd 13 2,009 1,693
Amortisation of intangible T B R &
assets® 15 801 739
Lease payments not included ARFAME A B
in the measurement of lease & i 3k
liabilities 14(b) — 88
Auditors’ remuneration % B I 4 210 202
Employee benefit expense i B A8 A B 32
(excluding directors’ (A0 45 36 5 M 4
remuneration — note 8)¢: — Bt 5ES) ¢
Wages, salaries and allowances L B WA KA 9,076 8,791
Equity-settled share-based DIHE 4 &5 5 2 Iy
payment expense A5 3K B 2 247 105
Retirement benefit scheme B AR A FE &) A 3K
contributions (defined (5L R FT &) e
contribution schemes)® 351 310
Less: Government subsidies W U R
— Hong Kong Special — FHUFERAIATEL
Administrative I [ R 5k 2 5t
Region Employee # e
Support Schemef 389) —
Government subsidies BT Al B
— Hong Kong Special — BWRRAT
Administrative i [ 8l B E
Region STEM Gk IR
Internship Scheme! )] 9]
Government subsidies BT Al B
— Lithuanias — P gEe (465) (590)
Government subsidies BT Al B
— Singapore Jobs — BT €
Support Scheme?® - — (1)
8,811 8,614
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BA TS 4R

et

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

6. B AT A 4

2022 2021
20225 20214F
US$°000 US$°000
Tx T % 7T
Equity-settled share-based SCAN T B A DR i
payments for consultants &5 5 2 R A 19 18
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - s M
plant and equipment Z 1 —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 1} & [ J& 2 \] 2 i % 28 57 —
Research and development 4% BH
expenses 7,706 7,879
Consultancy and other expenses 7% &l K& H At B =2 1,086 778
Impairment of financial assets: 4 fll & /& I {H -
Impairment of trade B 5 e W R IE W
receivables, net 8 17 11 18
Write-down of inventories to net MUk 77 & % 7] % BLVF (H
realisable value 105 295
Remeasurement loss on a SRS R EN L E
disposal group classified as Az =R R E R
held for sale 20 — 68
Foreign exchange differences, b R REE %2 22 48 - 1 AH
net 1,657 821

(a) Depreciation for the year of US$285,000 (2021: US$240,000) is included (a) AR T #5285,000 3 IC (20214 1 240,000
in “Cost of sales and services” on the face of the consolidated statement E0) R A SR A R A S H A 4 T i 45 R
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. G R 2 T8 85 B IR B LA e

(b)  The total amount of depreciation includes the depreciation of (b) S AR AE LA 0 AR A A T 51,444,000
right-of-use assets of US$1,444,000 (2021: US$1,079,000). 5 J6 (20214F 1 1,079,0003 JT) »

()  Amortisation of intangible assets for the year of US$801,000 (2021: (c)  ASAF FE# 6 1 JY B A 801,000 3 JT (2021
US$739,000) is included in “General and administrative expenses” F:739,000E ) 2 L OB ELSE S
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other i B Ho Al 2 T U 55 3R B R 2 T— g &
comprehensive income. ATHCBH S I o

(d)  Employee benefit expense of US$5,675,000 (2021: US$5,906,000) is (@ 1R B 48 Fl B 325,675,0003 T (20214
included in “Research and development, consultancy and other expenses” 5,906,000 JC) 2 4 #H O 6L 45 1F 45 5 18
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other Tt S LAt A T fR  R Z [0 38 - 3%
comprehensive income. i) Ko HAB B S v e

(e) There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the (e) A AL AR S AR £ > 306 A AT 2 R At 3K

employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. At 31 December
2022, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its
contributions to pension schemes in future years (2021: Nil).
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued)

(®)

(2)

(h)

The subsidies were granted under the Employment Support Scheme
and STEM Internship Scheme (2021: STEM Internship Scheme) of the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. There are
no unfulfilled conditions relating to the subsidies.

During the year, the Company’s subsidiary located in Lithuania
received subsidies (“Subsidies”) of approximately US$490,000 (2021:
US$646,000) from the Government of Lithuania for several research and
development projects. Subsidies of approximately US$444,000 (2021:
US$565,000) were granted by the Government of Lithuania and are
presented as a reduction in “Research and development, consultancy and
other expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. Subsidies of approximately US$46,000
(2021: US$81,000) are presented as a reduction in “General and
administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. There were no unfulfilled
conditions relating to these Subsidies.

The subsidies were granted under the Jobs Support Scheme by the
Government of Singapore. There were no unfulfilled conditions relating
to the subsidies.

7. FINANCE COSTS

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

6. BATER 4

()

(2)

(h)

2 S W b A R A AT IR R R 4R
(PR 3 3 st 30 ) K D80 502 51 31 (2021
A TAIREIT ) )) 35 - M4 A B %
S5 ol U B R R B R A

AER > AN FFE ST 6 0 B I A R S
W) %6 B 4 15 £9490,0003% I (20214F
646,0003 J0) 1Y 4 A (TRZ S #HRG D) > A
R Z M EEEIEE o 8% 5 i Bl £1444,000
298 (20214F 1 565,0003% JT) i 7. 4 %8 B
JF R o Sl A AR S TR AR B b A T i AR
FI R 2 THF8E ~ G S oAb B 3 | 2
Bl Ry A0 o 5% 55 A 446,000 % IC (2021
AF 81,0003 JG) 15 45 A R 25 K HAth 2 T
Wi % W 2 [— M B AT BB S ) b 250

AT o AT D R B B
ft o

7% S5 i S R B 4 IR AR % [k S 4% B
a0 ML AT B W% S A G Y OR
AT

7. BRI R A

2022 2021

20224 20214

US$°000 US$°000

FE=x T %50

Interest on bank borrowings SRAT M5 B RS 185 31
Interest on lease liabilities MEAaEMNL 59 18
244 49

202248 HEREHAERAT 127



Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEME

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to i IR W5 22 5 BT A IR A W 78 2
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock CEMARDTCETH DD ~ CFHBA
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), A5 1) 25383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c) M (F) Hii
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies DL R CF s o ) (4 % & 3 P 4 R}
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong Companies (Disclosure FUGI) 5200 - A 4F BT o8 5 P Bx
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as I

follows:

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
US$°000 US$°000
FEx T £
Fees: 4
Executive directors PATESE — —
Independent non-executive WL IE AT E
directors 45 45
45 45
Other emoluments: HoAth M 4
Salaries and allowances B4 Mo 1,150 1,230
Retirement benefit scheme AR AR A 5T ) A
contributions (defined (5Lt 3K s #)
contribution schemes) 8 10
1,158 1,240
1,203 1,285
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (coninued) 8. EEME

(a) Independent non-executive directors (@ BIFHTESE:
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors KRAEFE N BLFATEER
during the year were as follows: MEE

2022 2021
20225 20214F

US$°000 US$°000
TXT X

Independent non-executive directors: 8 37 JF $ 17 #E 5 -

Yu Kin Tim AR 15 15
Ho Chi Lam a7 75 Bk 15 15
Wan Sze Chung i 5 15 15
45 45
Save as disclosed above, there were no other emoluments Br bl 4% 8% 35 Ah o A A AR I
payable to the independent non-executive directors during i b A T 8 L JF BT E
the year (2021: Nil). B #r i (20214F : 4E) o
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (coninued) 8. EEME

(b) Executive directors (b) BITESE
Other emoluments paid to executive directors during the A BE ) AT ST R A
year are as follows: B -

Equity-settled

share-based Retirement
Salaries and payment benefit scheme Total
allowances expense contributions remuneration

W

&RZEH BB A
FERERH N E3 & 81 5K MemE
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
TX TX7 TX7 TX7

2022 20224
Executive directors: Wi ES:
Mr. Chan BOE 502 — 2 504
Chau Kit Wai JA 4 216 — 2 218
Yeung Yu R 216 — 2 218
Chong Ming Pui HE B 3 216 — 2 218
1,150 — 8 1,158
2021 20214
Executive directors: Wi ES:
Mr. Chan B4 505 — 2 507
Chau Kit Wai A% 218 — 2 220
Yip Kai Kut EEY 71 — 2 73
Yeung Yu ¥ B 218 — 2 220
Chong Ming Pui 3 B i 218 — 2 220
1,230 — 10 1,240
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or A AF B S M HE S i S Bl IR B R SR AT
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2021: Nil). o] T < 1Y & BF (20214F - ) -
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
directors (2021: three directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the
year of the remaining one (2021: two) highest paid employees
who are not a director of the Company are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

INEESEHEES
AAEE R4 e B R B AR U 4 E
B Q020F: = HEF) > HEZ H M
R HEON LSO RS o T — 4% (2021
A 44 N R AR S B
R B2 FHMsEmumr:

2022 2021

2022F 20214F

US$°000 US$°000

FEx T %o

Salaries and allowances B4 KMOE AL 216 467
Equity-settled share-based DARE 55 &5 5 2 ey

payment expense A5 3K B 32 8 2
Retirement benefit scheme AR AR A F E A 3

contributions 2 4

226 473

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

™A AL A Y JE A R 2
BHEHMT

Number of employees

EES#E

2022
20225

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

1,500,001 %% 7T %2,000,000#5 7T

In prior years, share options were granted to non-director
highest paid employees in respect of their services to the
Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures
in note 26 to the financial statements. The fair value of such
options, which has been recognised in profit or loss over the
vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the financial statements for the current year
is included in the above non-director highest paid employees’
remuneration disclosures.

TR AR AR > JF O R B R )
A A B e A A 5 T A A B RE > A
B W F 1 R B kR M RE26. 2 B
R o % S I BORE 2 N SO AE (R SR
& 9 1 AE 18 4R W AR Y R B
SE > HLRHA AR 4R B I 05 i 3R 1Y 4 B
A B3t JF 38 S m R B B B 4
BERH -
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

10. INCOME TAX 10. FREH
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% W A5 BT AR R AR AR A U E A
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Z Ak R B I R 2 16.5% (20214F
Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of the 16.5%) A » e A< 45 1 6 — [A) B &
Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits ARSI N /N b R &
tax rates regime. The first US$256,000 (2021: US$257,000) of BRI EERE ZWE AR
assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2021: JE BB i A B FT256,0003 JT (2021
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% 4 257,000 J5) 4%8.25% (20214 :
(2021: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have 8.25%) Z BL & FHE > B T MEH B A
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/ F16.5% (20214F : 16.5%) it B o H Ath
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. JRE R Vi ) B B K O 4 A AR KR
P AE B 5% R A R R BLAT B
R o
2022 2021
20225 20214F
US$°000 US$°000
TER T%7T
Current — Hong Kong BAT — Uk
Charge for the year A AR BE B RS 3,447 3,290
Overprovision in prior years DA 4F R E 1 A (140) 31
Current — Elsewhere BEAT — HoAt b 5
Charge for the year A AF BE B S 299 169
Overprovision in prior years DL AF 32 o 4 A 1) —
Deferred (note 24) HE S (Fff 5E24) 127 99
Total tax charge for the year A BE B R S R R 3,722 3,527
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. Frf8 8 )

E R $e 7 it (AR 2 ) S LK 3 4 Wit
B N T K8 T AE M) 2 i R A
B2 5F 5 2 BT e R 2 Bl I B < B
392 B 1 B R 2 T B S A B
1 -

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax at the statutory profits tax rate for Hong Kong in which
the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries operate/
are domiciled to the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as
follows:

2022 2021
20225 20214F
US$°000 US$°000
TR T X7
Profit before tax i Al i A1) 26,381 24,727
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax % & ¥ % & Bl %16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) (20214F : 16.5%) &t 55
Tl 3K 4,353 4,080
Adjustments in respect of current tax i #& 1+ 1 [ & I i 3K
of previous periods PRt 22 i B (asn (€2Y)
Income not subject to tax Uk 78 @R B U 45 (146) (28)
Expenses not deductible for tax AN AT AL B 5 322 346
Tax losses not recognised % T R A4 B JH e 15 30 4
Tax losses utilised from previous By F A BT s 1R
periods (25) (96)
Effect of additional tax deduction ol 25 &1 ' 0E Aff 4 A0 i T Bl o
enacted by tax authority R 52 2 647) (700)
Others HoAth (14) (48)
Tax charge at the Group’s effective % 4% 4 [H F [ Bl K51 5 2
tax rate Bl 3K 2 H 3,722 3,527
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

11. DIVIDENDS

11.

=)

2022 2021
20225 20214E

US$°000 US$’000

Interim — HK35.90 cents (2021: 1 # it &

FEn T X

HKS5.32 cents) per ordinary Ji 38 788 e 5.90 ¥ Al

share (20214F = 5.32#: Al 8,269 7,422
Second interim — HKS.69 cents &5 — ¥k A 3 )X &

(2021: HK8.27 cents) per B B 548 1 8.69 7 Il

ordinary share (20214 : 8.27 % AIl) (a) 12,205 11,567
Special dividend — Nil (2021:  4F 5l & B

HKO.71 cent) per ordinary i - 4 i %

share (20214F = 0.71#5 1) (b) — 993

20,474 19,982

Notes: Bt i -

(a) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a second interim dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of HKS8.69 cents
(2021: HK8.27 cents) per ordinary share, in the aggregate amount of
approximately US$12,205,000 (2021: US$11,567,000), has been declared
by the Directors of the Company.

(b) The Directors of the Company declared a special dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2021 of HKO.71 cent per ordinary share, in the
aggregate amount of approximately US$993,000, subsequent to the end
of the prior reporting period.

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,094,013,375 (2021: 1,081,496,214) in issue
during the year.
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12.

(@ WG WRZE > AR EEFE M
UR B £ 20224F 12 A31H 1R 4F 2 58 K
rp O i S A 18,6935 Al (20214F -
8.27#: M) » A 3£ 4912,205,0003 7T (2021
4E 111,567,000 7T) ©

(b) ARXFEEHNE WA R 2% B
23 IR #R 220214512 A31 8 1F 4F B 45 Al A%
S % B0, 7185l > A 3£ 49993,000
ET0 -

BAREBERBFRAAR
EERER

EY R DR K $5 /AN
ol B A B AN BB A AF A A
AR N B 3% 47 3 8 i 2 i 4 T2 B
1,094,013,375 /8% (20214F : 1,081,496,214
) wHE



12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

(Continued)

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per share
calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares assumed to have been issued at no consideration on the
deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are
based on:

Earnings

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are
based on profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent.

Shares

Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR L

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

12. BRARIEBEREEEAE

EEREN @

o M 48 0 ) B RS AR R B R
EAE A 1AL AR R AR o B
B W T PR 1A 3 A B - 3 BOR
7 A JBE R AT B B R > B BT
S IR AR 1 PV IR R 1 R AR ]
lf i % 7 B R - 2 B D A
S TR A 2 B T AT R
o 7 W B T A B AT -

1910 35 T 9 287 96 B DL
Bt 5
B

g T A Ot R ) AR R R R
YR A5 AN B A AR R A S o

iR £

Number of shares

& 4 8

2022

20224

Weighted average number of FA wt FE IR A BRI Y

ordinary shares in issue during the 4 A £ %% 17 35 48 Jin #

year used in the basic earnings per  “T-3J#{

share calculation 1,094,013,375 1,081,496,214
Effect of dilution — weighted B B W IR

average number of ordinary TN HE S 2 B

shares:

Share options i i e 5,842,182 10,492,244
Number of shares used in the diluted F 7% &1 5 45 i i # & 7 09

earnings per share calculation 8 H 1,099,855,557 1,091,988,458
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ -BERRKRE

Machine Right-of-
Furniture ~ Computer Office and  use assets
Buildings and fixtures  equipment  equipment  equipment — buildings Total
EREEE
BT GARKE EHERE BLZRE BARRE —B7F &t
US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000
TEn T£n T£n T£n T£n Tx7 TEn
31 December 2022 2022%12A31R
At 1 January 2022: #2021 A1R :
Cost A — 1,099 811 468 1,857 2,635 6,370
Accumulated depreciation Zitin e — (870) (645) (365) (1422) (257) (3,359)
Net carrying amount IR (8 — 229 166 103 435 2,378 3311
At 1 January 2022, net of 20221 A1H > 41
accumulated depreciation br 25T E — 229 166 103 435 2,378 3311
Additions NE - 184 126 34 421 1,46 2,011
Remeasurement on lease MEBT 2 EHE
modifications — — — — - 66 66
Depreciation provided during the 4 7t {2 7 8
year - 117 (116) @7) (285) (1,444) (2,009
Exchange realignment It AR - @) @) ®) — (50) (69)
At 31 December 2022, netof 2022612 131H -
accumulated depreciation Bl SRR - 293 168 82 511 2,196 3,310
At 31 December 2022: J#20224E12 311 -
Cost A - 1,264 886 485 2275 3,601 8,511
Accumulated depreciation AR - 971 (718) (403) (1,704) (1,405) (5,201)
Net carrying amount 1 5 £ — 293 168 82 51 2,196 3,310
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥ -BEREZEw

(Continued)
Machine ~ Right-of-
Furniture ~ Computer Office and  use assets
Buildings and fixtures ~ equipment  equipment  equipment ildings Total
B RBREE  EERE BAERE REERE i
US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000
T#x  TEx T#Ex  TER  TEX  T#Ex  TEx
31 December 2021 20216 12R31H
At 1 January 2021: 20204 11 -
Cost A 1,229 1,065 760 412 1,524 3,027 8,017
Accumulated depreciation 2Rt (156) (760) (532) (300 (1,190) (1,970) 4,908)
Net carrying amount 5 £ 1,073 305 228 112 334 1,057 3,109
At 1 January 2021, net of 20211710 »
accumulated depreciation Ik 25t g 1,073 305 228 112 334 1,057 3,109
Additions NE — 54 74 61 343 432 964

Reclassification to assets of B A i
disposal groups classified as  H A 2 B E i

held for sale (note 20) A 3E20) (1,025) — — — — — (1,025)
Remeasurement on lease ME BT 2 EHs

modifications 7 — — — — — 1,990 1,990
Depreciation provided during the 4F (% 3% #7

year (40) (129) (135) (70) (240) (1,079) (1,693)
Exchange realignment R ®) 1) (1 — ) (22) (34)
At 31 December 2021, netof ~ #20214E12/431H »

accumulated depreciation K ZtiE — 229 166 103 435 2,378 3311
At 31 December 2021: 20204121131 H :

Cost KA — 1,099 811 468 1,857 2,635 6,870

Accumulated depreciation At — (870) (645) (365) (1,422) (257) (3,559)

Net carrying amount FETH 7 d — 229 166 103 435 2,378 3,311
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31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

14. LEASE LIABILITIES 4. HEEE
The Group as a lessee rEBEBARARAA
The Group leases certain of its office properties and A% B2 B s FH L8 e T A T A
warehouses used in its operations. Leases for these assets EWELFE EEEMENMH
generally have lease terms between one to ten years. B — s —2 4
(a) Lease liabilities @ HEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the AL B AR R B AR K
movements during the year are as follows: 5 ) 1) R T (L A
2022 2021
2022F 20214F
US$°000 US$’000
FTEx TE7T
Carrying amount at 1 January LA TH B I 1w E 2,382 1,120
New leases i E 1,246 432
Remeasurement on lease AEBTZEHG &
modifications 66 1,990
Accretion of interest recognised  4F [A ffE 52 19 I 5. 3% Jin
during the year 59 18
Covid-19-related rent concessions A& [ i F A (19 B120194F
from lessors B B e IR e = iR
AH BH Y FH 4 2 — “)
Payments A5 BRI (1,463) (1,155)
Exchange realignment i, R % B 45) 19)
Carrying amount at 31 December 12431 H (1) i fi {6 2,245 2,382
Analysed into: e DLF THH 4 4
Current portion BV 58 4 1,572 1,162
Non-current portion FF B HA 3 45 673 1,220
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in R B 68 19 B 40 B B 8% 0 B
note 35 to the financial statements. W5 LB FE3S -
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

14. LEASE LIABILITIES (continuea 4. HEEEGE
The Group as a lessee (Conrinued) AEBHABEA@®
(b) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (b) HHEEERZANERN LW
to leases are as follows: I
2022 2021
20224 20214F
US$°000 US$’000
TEx T £t
Interest on lease liabilities iR DS 59 18
Depreciation charge of right-of- i JfI # & & #7 # #
use assets 1,444 1,079

Expense relating to short-term B 3 AR 5 A BE Y B S
leases (included in selling and (FHA 85 8 L2 7 85 B 32)

distribution expenses) — 88
Covid-19-related rent concessions 2K H i 1 A 9 E220194F
from lessors 1 84 56 SR 9 7 il A
HH A A 4 8 R — )

Total amount recognised in profit i 18 2 (A 58 1 48 4 %8

or loss 1,503 1,181
(¢) The total cash outflow for leases are disclosed in note © AHMHEMWHERBEAHEWNE
29(c) to the financial statements. LB 5 I R I 5E29() o
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE

Licences Patents  Trademarks Total

A LYl L3 CE

US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000
TX7 TX X7 X5

31 December 2022 20225128318
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of R2022F 1 HTH A »

accumulated amortisation fbr 25 5 909 417 10 1,336
Additions NE 1,109 158 7 1,274
Amortisation provided during the year 4 N 7142 # £ (618) (179) @ (801)
Exchange realignment b 4 R 1) 1) — )
At 31 December 2022 22022512 A31H 1,399 395 13 1,807
At 31 December 2022: #20224E 12311

Cost A 4,365 1,109 36 5,510

Accumulated amortisation At # (2,966) (714) (23) (3,703)

Net carrying amount J 0 (E 1,399 395 13 1,807
31 December 2021 2021F12831R
Cost at 1 January 2021, net of JA2021F T HTH AU >

accumulated amortisation 0B 25148 3 829 287 9 1,125
Additions nE 620 335 3 958
Amortisation provided during the year 4 /Ky # 8 (535) (202) 2) (739)
Exchange realignment I, 4 2 G B o) 3) — ®)
At 31 December 2021 #2021 12 H31H 909 417 10 1,336
At 31 December 2021: 20214124318 ¢

Cost A 3,259 952 29 4,240

Accumulated amortisation 25t (2,350) (535) (19) (2,904)

Net carrying amount i T 3 B 909 417 10 1,336
During the year, additions of intangible assets of US$1,274,000 EN B IR BRI R E R B
(2021: US$958,000) were acquired separately. 1,274,000 3 JG (20214 : 958,0003% JL) °
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

INVENTORIES 16. 7 &
2022 2021
2022 20214F
US$°000 US$°000
FEx +£u
Raw materials and consumables JE b B B FE 17,992 13,083
Finished goods A 14,341 5,539
32,333 18,622

TRADE RECEIVABLES

17. EZEWRFIE

2022 2021

20224 20214F

US$°000 US$’000

TEx T %70

Trade receivables H 5 e SR IE 12,078 11,693
Impairment RN (24) (29)

12,054 11,664

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new and individual customers, where payment
on demand or in advance is normally required. The overall
credit period for credit sales is generally within 60 days. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade receivables. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

ZN SLIE VR RS D VA
Sy Wk o AR SOR TR P KB L
J5 4 TR A AR ETH AEHOH o (5 B 8
BRREEEN A0 - A EH
By 3B v oK WSO A R T A A R
AR T o T A6 U A R b A B
S A o A I NI 0 i B ) R SR
TE B A A Ao 415 19 20 At 3 3R 15 B 1
ith o B2 o ME WK T ) 2 4 S EKOH o
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

17. EZEWFIE
TR BB ) K A0 BR s IR I R > R
) K B RE IR R TE Y IR B o BT
L/{1

2022 2021

20226 20214F

US$°000 US$’000

FET x5t

Within 1 month IK(EDEREN 9,344 9,901
1 to 2 months 1ZE 21 H 1,938 1,747
2 to 3 months 2F 38 H 483 14
Over 3 months B A 38 A 289 2
12,054 11,664

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B2 gy W WK TE Y fe 18 8 ARG 5 ) 4
T

2022 2021

20225 20214F

US$°000 US$’000

FEx F%£x

At beginning of year i A ) 29 113

Impairment losses, net (note 6) W R - T 5Ee) 11 18
Amount written off as uncollectible i 55 Z A 7 Ui 1] i) 3K T8 18) (102)

Exchange realignment 5, i % o R 2 —

At end of year AR 24 29

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due. The calculation
reflects reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (coninuea) 17. 5 BWRIE
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure T A A AR R A e
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: 1) 88 T e Wi T 1Y A5 B R B R
As at 31 December 2022 A20224F12 H31H

Past due
eIt

Credit- Less than 1to 4 to 12
impaired Current 1 month  3months months

EERE B DRAER 1E3EB 4Z121E B

Expected credit loss rate HfE B R % 100% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2%
Gross carrying amount e THT 4 (E
(US$°000) (T %) 24 10,638 1,102 296 18 12,078
Expected credit losses SER GRS Y
(US$°000) (T %) 24 — —* —* —* 24
As at 31 December 2021 R20214E12 A31H
Past due
g
Credit- Less than 1to
impaired Current 1 month 3 months
EERE BE  LREAR 1Z3f8 A
Expected credit loss rate G R ER %R 100% 0.1% 0.1% 0.1% 0.2%
Gross carrying amount e T A4
(US$°000) (F%70) 29 10,682 976 6 11,693
Expected credit losses HUEREE
(US$°000) (F%70) 29 —* —* —* 29
* Based on management’s assessment, the expected credit losses for these K R4 HE G SR A 525 AR T
debtors were minimal. {5 B s BT =gk -
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31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

18. AAFIE - HEREAMAEWR

RECEIVABLES MIE
2022 2021
20226 20214F
US$°000 US$°000
FE T Eu
Prepayments TE AT 3R IE 542 497
Deposits and other receivables i 4 T HoAth JRE i FE 2,092 1,531
2,634 2,028

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
deposits and receivables for which there was no recent history
of default and past due amounts. The loss allowance was
assessed by management to be minimal as at 31 December 2022
and 2021.

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
PLEDGED DEPOSIT

G bl &5 R Y ARG W T
B I A R0 Bk Ko A SR IR & K
JEUEIE - 48 3B % R 20224F 12 2021
F12 31 H M e 38 43 45 58 2 2 o -

19. REHEBESEEYREER
R

2022 2021
20224 20214F
US$’000 US$°000
FEx TET
Cash and bank balances B4 KERAT &S i 28,658 31,641
Time deposit E WA 3K 2,029 2,004
30,687 33,645
Less: Pledged time deposit for -l SR AT A S AT 23(a)
bank borrowings E WA 3K (2,029) (2,004)
Cash and cash equivalents He kB &% 8Y 28,658 31,641

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
applicable bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one and four months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates.
The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.
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20. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF

DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS

HELD FOR SALE

On 10 December 2021, Protean Holdings Limited, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
sales and purchase agreements (the “Agreements”) with Mr.
Chan Wing Hong Alex, a director and beneficial controlling
shareholder of the Company, to dispose of its entire equity
interests in Ultra Land Limited (“ULL”) and Ultra Prosper
Limited (“UPL”) and assign the loans due from ULL and
UPL to their holding companies and fellow subsidiaries at the
completion date for total cash considerations (subject to certain
net tangible asset value adjustments) of HK$4,100,000 and
HK$3,800,000, respectively (the “ULL and UPL Disposals”).
Upon the completion of the ULL and UPL Disposals on 24
February 2022, ULL and UPL ceased to be subsidiaries of
the Company. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2021, certain
groups of assets and liabilities of ULL and UPL to be disposed
of pursuant to the Agreements were classified as “Assets of
disposal groups classified as held for sale” and “Liabilities of
disposal groups classified as held for sale”, respectively.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of disposal groups
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2021 were as
follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

BA SRR L

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

0. 7ERBEHENHER

BeEERARE

R20214E12H10H » AARIHEREE
it J& 2% 7 Protean Holdings Limited 82
EN/NEIRE S & SRRy g
KBRS AR WY o U E W ek ([ ) >
£ H A Ultra Land Limited ([ULLJ) Al
Ultra Prosper Limited ([UPL]J) ) &
MEHE > Wi FEULL X UPLZTESE )% H H
Bl R HE LA W) B JR] &R R TR S | B
o MBERBEWALRETAE
I E 1 5 7 5l £54,100,000 45 TG
13,800,000 JC ([ULL Bl UPL 4 & =%
JH ]) o ULL B UPL H & = JH 2 20224F
2H24H5E /A% > ULL X UPL A F A A
o F B & AT o R R 20214F12 A
31H » ULLAIUPL R $5 1 ak ) & 19 36
43 A BLAE A B 4 B o R B T B
B E R ENEEAL 2 EE I
BAFERENBEHANZ B8FE] -

A20214E12 H31H » A A E &
M EHR 2 EE R AKB 2 EEMH
Al

2021
20214F
US$’000
T%7T

Assets B
Property, plant and equipment (note) Y2~ BB Bk i (B ) 957
Cash and cash equivalents Ba KB &5 EY 22

Assets of disposal groups classified as held for 4345 23 ¢ /F 1 8 19 H 8 41 5l

sale ZEE 979
Liabilities A 1%
Accruals & wHEH 1
Tax payable JE AT B 3K 1
Deferred tax liabilities R AT B IH AR 24 1
Liabilities of disposal groups classified as held 4345 23 ¥ 1 1 & 19 H & 41 5l
for sale <z Bk 3
976
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

20. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF 20. 7 EABEHENEHEA
DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS BleEEREEMw
HELD FOR SALE (continued)
Note: Mt -
The buildings included in property, plant and equipment of disposal TR B L R A AR 2 AL R %
groups classified as held for sale with an aggregate net carrying amount o B w R B 5 AR TET IR (B AE 4> B 2 AT 2
of US$1,025,000 immediately before the classification were written down 1,025,00038 G > Fic i 17 (8 B0 Fo fi 80 4
to the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell of JR A 2 [ I £9957,000 5 58 8 iR WE
approximately US$957,000, resulting in an impairment loss of approximately Ji7 48 4768,000 2 JT it # F20214F 12 31 H 1k 4
US$68,000, which was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 JE 8 AR 3R RERR -
December 2021.
The buildings included in property, plant and equipment of disposal groups R20214E 12 H31H - A7 4 & W 5F A0 850 0 35 1F
classified as held for sale with an aggregate net carrying amount of US$957,000 HEZ HEHA R 2 RS B A
as at 31 December 2021 situated in Hong Kong were pledged to secured certain HC AR T I (E £5957,00038 0T > AIE A T ERAT
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 23). T A AR B A5 B0 R HE R (B 3R 23) o
Further details of the ULL and UPL Disposals are also disclosed in the ULL B UPL 45 F I8 1 1 — 25 5E 16 B 88 i A A
Company’s announcement dated 10 December 2021. A H W Z20214F 12 HI0H B A 4 o
=h 1" - =h
21. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES ~ 21. E2E{RR - BB

AND ACCRUALS

B R EFTRA

2022 2021

20225 20214F

US$°000 US$’000

TER T %7t

Trade payables 5 e AT 3] 4,352 3,255
Deposits received BB 4% 4 382 571
Other payables Ay JE A BKIE 53 152
Accruals JRE 5t 2K IE 2,113 1,647
6,900 5,625

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

MR B H I RS R H 5 AT
AR A IR e 3 AT AR

2022 2021

20226 20214F

US$°000 US$’000

FEx T £ 7T

Within 1 month IREDERL 3,973 3,147
1 to 2 months L& 21 H 340 86
2 to 3 months 283 H 18 —
Over 3 months 8 4 340 H 21 22
4,352 3,255
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

21. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES 21. E5EFIE - HitENRK

AND ACCRUALS (coninucd) B SRR E
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally 5 B T RE A SR Y 2y I B H— A
settled within 30-day terms. 30K N & B AT o
22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22. BNEE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: SHAafEFEL T

31 December 31 December 1 January
2022 2021 2021
2022 20214F 20214F

12A31H 1231H 1A1H
US$°000 US$°000 US$’000
FTXR F X T XU

Provision of warranty and support & it ff & 8 % 4%

services I B5 14,381 12,049 9,433
Licensing arrangements ] % BE 4,478 2,452 1,448
Total contract liabilities BEHI B 18,859 14,501 10,881
Contract liabilities include advances received to render B &) AR LA 3 AR AR 1B R SR IR
warranty and support services and in connection with certain W5 B T FF AT 22 PR A B T R Y
licensing arrangements. The increase in contract liabilities in K e 20224F J2 20214 & K A fE I T3
2022 and 2021 was mainly due to the increase in advances F A RS R A AR R AE T 2
received from customers in relation to the provision of warranty 1% MR 5 B 5 n] 2 BE A BRI 1 &
and support services and in connection with certain licensing J5 ISR B e

arrangements at the end of the reporting period.
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31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

[\®)
w
EI,I_'
4
=i
\N
g1
i3
2

23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK
BORROWINGS

Contractual Contractual

interest rate per interest rate per
Notes annum  Maturity US$°000 annum Maturity US$°000
Wi  BELANE HHA TR BERONE #HA Tx%

Current
0
Bank borrowings — secured (a) Term Secured  On demand 726 — — —
Overnight
Financing Rate
(“Term SOFR”)
+1.5%
BATHEH —C LR AR HEK
BB E+1.5%
(a) — — — London  On demand 3,000
Interbank
Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”)
+2.25%
T B AT IR ¥ REX
FE+2.25%
(a) Hong Kong ~ On demand 4,991 HIBOR +2.25%  On demand 1,282
Interbank
Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”)
+2.25%
F kAT Bk Bk BT ¥ &k
FE+2.25% FE+2.25%
(a) HIBOR + 1.5%  On demand 754 — — —
ik BT 2ok
HB+.5%
Long term bank borrowings — secured (b) — — — Hong Kong ~ On demand 357
Dollar Prime
Rate -2.5%
RIS — SR il A 3 REX
2.5%
6,471 4,639
Analysed into:
T IHE M
Loans repayable within one year or on demand 6,471 4,639

A AF i o K 0 A
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

X /=y -
23. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 23. s ERITERw

BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: B FE -

(@  The Group’s bank facilities amounting to US$14,927,000 (2021: (a) A HEE%E14,927,0005 JC (20214F :
US$10,752,000), of which an amount of US$6,471,000 (2021: 10,752,000 J6) # H 196,471,000 5
US$4,282,000) had been utilised as at the end of the reporting period, JC BUEH (20214F : 4,282,00035 J8) 2
are secured by the pledge of a time deposit of the Group amounting to SRATAE 0 22 P A R
US$2,029,000 (2021: US$2,004,000). F T3 RLAS 4 B 2,029,000 JG

(20214 : 2,004,000 J0) {9 & B 15
FAEAEAR -

(b)  These bank borrowings were secured by mortgages over the Group’s (b)  E L ERAT A AR LA AR G I M AR
buildings, which had an aggregate carrying amount of approximately A > 20214812 A31H > HIETH
US$957,000 as at 31 December 2021. Further details of the bank HE#75957,0003 7T © A B4R AT
borrowings are included in note 35 to the financial statements. 8 R HE — 25 TG R B iR R

B 5535 -

(c) Except for the Term SOFR+1.5% secured bank borrowings which are (c) Wk DA 25 o0 5 (B 09 A 1 46 1R B 7
denominated in United States dollars, all the borrowings of the Group R +1.5% S SR AT (6 3K 40
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. A 45 I BT A A S LU ST Rt o

24. DEFERRED TAX 24. 3 #iE Bi 1

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the A% A B IR G B IH B K E Y S )

year are as follows: ey

Deferred tax liabilities EZEHIEEE

Depreciation allowance ~ Depreciation allowance
in excess of related in excess of related

depreciation amortisation Total
BRAERNE BEBEEEH
Wi ERE Wi ERE CE

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
20226 20214 20226 20214 20226 20214
US$000  US$'000  USH000  US$000  US$000  US$000
TExn ¥ Txx T*x Txx T*x

At 1 January MALH 40 14 220 185 260 199
Deferred tax charged ERABRBAGER R

to the consolidated statement HoMt 2 Tl 42 R 1

of profit or loss and other 1% 4 % 8 (K 5k 10)

comprehensive income during the

year (note 10) 12 27 78 36 90 63

Liabilities included in disposal AN B ARELER

groups classified as held for sale i 41 Jil 2 & &

(note 20) (it 3%20) —
Exchange realignment IR gL — — — 0 - U]

—_
—
—
—_
—
—

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 12 H31H A9 4 §i JE
December AEAH 52 40 298 220 350 260
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24. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

24. EFE B IE 40
i IE B IR A E

Losses available for  Depreciation in excess
Provision for paid leave offsetting against future of related depreciation
carried forward taxable profits allowance
ARREHRR ERERAE
FHERBERS  ERHENOER BENGE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2021
WnE 0E WnE wnFE 0nE WF 20215
US$000  USS'000  US$000  US$'000  US$000  USS'000  US$000  USS000
Tin T#x TEn  TEx  TEn TEx  TEn TEx
At 1 January RUAA 47 4 7 97 76 46 150 187
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the ERALE/ (kA
consolidated statement of profitor loss ~ FARELLBET
and other comprehensive income during (5 % 9 & LB E
the year (note 10) (Hf3E10) 1) 3 (25) (69) ) 30 37 (36)
Exchange realignment R T - — - 0 - - - (1)
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 12 A31H 14 €68
EE4n 4 n 2 n 7 76 113 150

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the
Group for financial reporting purposes:

7T 250 A B E R A T SE B
THE M AR C R B IR DL R AT 8 -
R BT T R A SR R
S B TE A& B 2 0T

2022
20224

US$’000

Net deferred tax assets recognised

Ep

W N A
in the consolidated statement of R B B TH K A
financial position 111 122
Net deferred tax liabilities Wi &5 G BB IR B 2% N e R
recognised in the consolidated AR JE B TH B AR
statement of financial position (348) (232)
(237) (110)

As at 31 December 2021, deferred tax liabilities of US$1,000
was included in liabilities of disposal groups classified as held
for sale (note 20).
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DEFERRED TAX (consinuea) 24. ¥ FE B H )
Deferred tax assets (Continued) EEBAEE @
The Group has estimated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of WIEFEEBG Rk > A EEER
US$61,000 (2021: US$170,000), subject to the agreement by A4 A A& W 1961,0003 T (20214
the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, that are available 170,000 78) Z A w Bl TH 5 48 > 7% %%
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of ol TEL fies 8 mT AR B DD A 4K B E A
the companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has S5 e 8 2 o m B SR AR E R B Ui A o A
estimated tax losses arising in Malaysia and Lithuania of B B IR HEA 23 Bl EE AR 8RS AR HE K ST
US$335,000 (2021: US$258,000) and nil (2021: US$76,000) for K i 19335,000 3% JT (20214F : 258,000
offsetting against future taxable profits arising in Malaysia and F ) J & (20214F = 76,0003 7T) Z Al
Lithuania, respectively. FEBLE B 1E o AR EH AR B R AR P R
Lo S7. 1) 5 F) AR 2R R Bt 3 A
As at 31 December 2022, the tax losses of certain subsidiaries FA20224F12 H31H » 2 T & % 55
incorporated in Hong Kong of US$12,000 (2021: US$163,000) JG ST F R JB8 2 ) R e 1 4 R 4 A AR
were recognised as deferred tax assets as the subsidiaries have JRE B A 12,0005 7T (20214F
been generating assessable profits in prior years. In the opinion 163,000 7T ) Z Bt JH fl 18 4 ffe 58 /7y 0%
of the directors, it is considered probable that taxable profits MERBLIREE - HERL - WIS
will be available against which such tax losses can be utilised J& 2N F) AR FE AR AR R B i R o
based on the estimated future taxable profits of the subsidiaries. e SR B i A RTFR E IK E BT B T 2 B
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the VEREGE o AR T E L B E R B
remaining tax losses of the Group arising in Hong Kong as TH Jfeg 15 310 0 e R 2% AR S B TH K E
they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making HEEA AT A — BN M B e 11
for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable W Jag s m) - A R B B i R 1K 8 i )
profits would be available against which their tax losses can be RAZBIEEBERZTRERK - B E
utilised. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect K6 2 VG R K 57 B 46 E A 2 Bl S 4R
of the tax losses arising in Malaysia and Lithuania as it is not BERR By AN K n] BB A e LB Uk R K B
considered probable that taxable profits would be available BN B R AE R i R% S
against which the tax losses can be utilised. TH e RR R I B IH K E o
ISSUED CAPITAL 25. BEITRA
Shares i gvi)
2022 2021
20224 20214
US$°000 US$’000
FEn T &7t
Authorised: WP
4,000,000,000 (2021: 4,000,000,000 % (20214F -
4,000,000,000) ordinary shares 4,000,000,000 1)
of HK$0.01 each 5 JB0.019 JC 2 ¥ 4 i 5,152 5,152
Issued and fully paid: C 8 AT B 7% B -
1,097,523,000 (2021: 1,097,523,000 % (20214F -
1,090,811,000) ordinary shares 1,090,811,000 /%)
of HK$0.01 each T J50.017 TT 2 % 78 it 1,414 1,405
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25. ISSUED CAPITAL (Continued)

Shares (Continued)
A summary of movements in the Company’s issued capital is as

25. BEEITRA w

B 43 a)
oA T B AT IR A 1 2 B 8

follows:
Number of

shares in issue Issued capital Issued capital
BITROHE 2RITRA 2RITRA
Notes HKS$’000 US$°000
M 5 Tt T %0
At 1 January 2021 R20214F1 A 1H 1,071,728,000 10,717 1,381
Share options exercised T AT o 1% i HE (a) 19,083,000 191 24

At 31 December 2021 and 1 42021412 H31H
January 2022 K20224E1H1H 1,090,811,000 10,908 1,405
Share options exercised B AT i i A R (b) 6,712,000 67 9
At 31 December 2022 R20224E12 H31H 1,097,523,000 10,975 1,414

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The subscription rights attaching to 19,083,000 share options were
exercised at the weighted average subscription price of HK$0.842 per
share (note 26), resulting in the issue of 19,083,000 ordinary shares
for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately
US$2,066,000. An amount of approximately US$508,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to share premium account upon
the exercise of the share options.

The subscription rights attaching to 6,712,000 share options were
exercised at the weighted average subscription price of HK$1.393 per
share (note 26), resulting in the issue of 6,712,000 ordinary shares
for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of approximately
US$1,195,000. An amount of approximately US$263,000 was transferred
from the share option reserve to share premium account upon the
exercise of the share options.

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share
options issued under the scheme are included in note 26 to the
financial statements.
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Wi

(@)

(b)

19,083,000/ 1 i #E Bt 415 19 52 W HE LA
HESF- 1 50 A 55 1B 0.842 9% 7T (Fff 3%26) 47
fii > 3 5% £719,083,000/8 % 4 B - 40
k2 A A AR B 4 AR E 3L 492,066,000 3%
I o A MEMEHEAT (4% —4E49508,000 5
G WY 4 A H I ORE G A N O v A
r]}E °

6,712,000 1 i FI% HE BAF 415 (10 520 AR LA Jon 4R
-3 5 W E A 81,3939 ot (Bt 5E26) 17
i EEBELT6,712,000 % % @ B > F0E
2 A AR B4 A 4 491,195,000 96 ©
B R REAT 4% - — £ 49263,000F 01
S B Eh I R o 4 A TR0 R AR -

BRE
7y E) B R R R R AR 4 A% wt

%17

F9 S S HEE 15 A B B R R T

5126 ©



26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, consultants or advisors
of the Group, suppliers of goods or services to the Group,
customers of the Group, the Company’s shareholders, and
any other person, at the sole discretion of the directors. The
Scheme became effective on 21 June 2016 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in
the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the
price of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

Notes to Financial Statements
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26. BRESTE

T T T R B i 2 A 4 I EEE B
BT AEBEEmANL s AARET
B RE ST 8 (THTH)) - NEH 2R
THF o sl A EKSHEEQREA
3 A FE S (CHL A S 8 T IF AT

H) > ALEEHAEE - AL BN
B ~ A A A P 5 kAR s L
P AREE R - AN E R BR
DA AT AT HoAth N+ o 51872201646
H21H B 4G A %8 - HBR9E 5 47 51 85 sk
5T &R A% B 104E R A %L -

MRPEFHE > HA TR 2 R A7
JE R 1 e v S0 E AR S (R 8 AT ) A
28 7] PMAT ] B B AT I 2 10% -
AT AT 1248 A E R - AREF SR T &
GE K2 B R T T AT
1y f5 2 B H RS 28 B AT Al R[] 2
EEAT A 2 1% o WA — 5l
B U R B 2 AT A i R o JE X
N N | R

AR HE R FA R FIE S -~ Fm T
N B Bl R AT T O 4 B BN
LRI HE BB ES
YAt HE o BEAE > FAAT AT 1218 H W
e R NN S P  vaE
YUAT 3 95 AT (] 005 B BN £ AT
] S e HE A 8 A 2% =) AT Ao B [H]
AT A 20.1% » B HH (IR 98 4%
HH S A AT B ) 18500 4 i
TG > ZH TR G R T SRR o A B SR A
1 o
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coninved) 26. FBIRREETE )

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of offer
of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, whichever
is earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares; (ii) the Stock Exchange closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of the share
options; and (iii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme
during the year:

RN ST T 2 SR U AUE
% > B BORE 2 A AR R
A FT28 H LA o £t 1Y S S HEE 9 AT
o 00 PR ol 3 6 E - A o T B AR
PR R > HOR A H R FHAS 10 4F 2R
BN H 2 PR AR -

e By AT (o B S R AN
VIR )AL TS BT 5 (i) R %
HE B HE > AR 2% DB 1) g 22 P i
T s KGRz HAT A 22 5 A
AN R B 09 F- 239 W S BT Wi A - A

R e
S J R 7 e 4 T AN R i S B
B K & B R A -

IR MR R A AR R AT
Z W TR

2022
20224
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
price per  Number of price per  Number of
share options share options
B o 5 1 HE
FHYTHEE BREHE FYTMEE WRRERH
HKS$ HKS$
B Wi T
At 1 January #1ATH 1741 19,410,000 1113 36,408,000
Granted during the year AR AR 2.988 17,400,000 2.970 3,900,000
Forfeited during the year JA AR A R R 2.428  (2,202,000) 1263 (1,783,000)
Expired during the year A A E o 1 1.872 (967,000) 0.483 (32,000)
Exercised during the year TR AE AT 4 1.393  (6,712,000) 0.842  (19,083,000)
At 31 December #12H31H 2.326 16,929,000 1741 19,410,000

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
share options exercised during the year was HK$2.775 per share
(2021: HK$1.999 per share).
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coninuca) 26. BT &
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options AR IR > i ARAT Y W R RE R AT
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 08 S AT R4 T
2022 20224
Number of options Exercise price per share Exercise period
BREHE BRITEE 1TE IR
’000 HKS$
TR i
346 1.934 14-3-2019 to 13-3-2023
1,211 1.934 14-3-2020 to 13-3-2023
825 1.934 14-3-2021 to 13-3-2023
856 1.934 14-3-2022 to 13-3-2023
312 1.020 14-9-2019 to 13-9-2023
414 1.020 14-9-2020 to 13-9-2023
399 1.020 14-9-2021 to 13-9-2023
523 1.020 14-9-2022 to 13-9-2023
235 1.180 10-5-2021 to 9-5-2024
232 1.180 10-5-2022 to 9-5-2024
618 1.180 10-5-2023 to 9-5-2024
104 1.120 31-12-2021 to 30-12-2024
125 1.120 31-12-2022 to 30-12-2024
125 1.120 31-12-2023 to 30-12-2024
254 0.922 14-12-2022 to 13-12-2025
325 0.922 14-12-2023 to 13-12-2025
325 0.922 14-12-2024 to 13-12-2025
1,450 2.970 9-11-2023 to 8-11-2026
725 2.970 9-11-2024 to 8-11-2026
725 2.970 9-11-2025 to 8-11-2026
3,400 2.988 17-6-2024 to 16-6-2027
1,700 2.988 17-6-2025 to 16-6-2027
1,700 2.988 17-6-2026 to 16-6-2027
16,929
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coninuca) 26. BB ESTE )
2021 20214
Number of options Exercise price per share Exercise period
i i HE B H g B AT 115 78 B
’000 HK$
T i
150 0.720 5-4-2019 to 4-4-2022
84 0.720 5-4-2020 to 4-4-2022
350 0.720 5-4-2021 to 4-4-2022
1,460 1.872 10-10-2019 to 9-10-2022
731 1.872 10-10-2020 to 9-10-2022
800 1.872 10-10-2021 to 9-10-2022
372 1.934 14-3-2019 to 13-3-2023
1,632 1.934 14-3-2020 to 13-3-2023
1,126 1.934 14-3-2021 to 13-3-2023
1,250 1.934 14-3-2022 to 13-3-2023
341 1.020 14-9-2019 to 13-9-2023
499 1.020 14-9-2020 to 13-9-2023
510 1.020 14-9-2021 to 13-9-2023
2,455 1.020 14-9-2022 to 13-9-2023
514 1.180 10-5-2021 to 9-5-2024
668 1.180 10-5-2022 to 9-5-2024
668 1.180 10-5-2023 to 9-5-2024
250 1.120 31-12-2021 to 30-12-2024
125 1.120 31-12-2022 to 30-12-2024
125 1.120 31-12-2023 to 30-12-2024
750 0.922 14-12-2022 to 13-12-2025
375 0.922 14-12-2023 to 13-12-2025
375 0.922 14-12-2024 to 13-12-2025
1,900 2.970 9-11-2023 to 8-11-2026
950 2.970 9-11-2024 to 8-11-2026
950 2.970 9-11-2025 to 8-11-2026
19,410
The fair value of the share options granted during the year A AEBE PO I RRE N R E (A
was US$807,000 (US$0.11 each) (2021: US$262,000 (US$0.07 807,000 7T (5 3 0.113% 7T ) (20214 :
each)). The Group recognised a share option expense of 262,000 7T (5 1730.073 JT)) - 4 %
US$266,000 (2021: US$123,000) during the year ended 31 B A 220224 12 H31 H 1k 47 JE il 52
December 2022. 266,0003% JT (20214F © 123,000 JT)

I s HEE B S
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26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year was estimated as at the date of grant using a binomial
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to
the model used:

Dividend yield (%) & B % (%)

Expected volatility (%) TE 19 0 1R (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) & B A1 2 (%)
Expected life of options (year) W Ji W YRR E A 0 (4F)
Weighted average share price iR -1 i A8

(HKS$ per share) (g B #s o)
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26. B AEE 8
A 5 45 1 PR HE S £ 2 7
R L7 52 8 02— SEL SO 5 5 0
A5 45 b 0 IO HE 190 0 14 6 A0 A%
SRS UEL ST SlES

2022 2021
20225 20214E
6.88 12.97
50.96 50.46
2.96 1.03
5.00 5.00
2.94 297

The expected life of the options is not necessarily indicative of
the exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility of the
Company’s share price is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

The 6,712,000 share options exercised during the year resulted
in the issue of 6,712,000 ordinary shares of the Company
and new share capital of approximately US$9,000, as further
detailed in note 25 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 16,929,000
share options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise
in full of the outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 16,929,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital and share premium of approximately
US$22,000 and US$5,019,000 (before expenses), respectively.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 15,191,000 share options outstanding under
the Scheme, which represented approximately 1.4% of the
Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
number of share options permitted to be granted under the
Scheme was 57,428,000, representing approximately 5.2% of
the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

S P HRE 1) T A R — R S T i
H R A AT HE 7 A o DI S AR
2 T B A ) R S O W E R B R At B
(ELR—7E 7 B PR A A1) A9 R L -

VAPIN R N 3 NI g ib)
e HEE 1Y L A 5 B o

A FE AT 8 196,712,000 15 1 i HE & 55
AN F B 176,712,000 % 3 28 I K 4
9,000 JT Z M e A » HE— 2 FEAE
i B S 2 B R 2S e

REREM R > AN FEFE TR
16,929,000 A& A7 f# (1) I I HE o 76 A<
AR BATEARERE T > /7 28R
A7 58 11 g I MEE A% R AR A R R AT
16,929,000 /% #H #h & 4 I K& 4 Al 4
22,0003 5 % 5,019,000 J¢ (1 % B
SR 2 BE A B AR B Iy Yk A -

HEZSFUHEREMMEL > RAFE
#F# T ¥ 415,191,000 i R A7 2
W JBCHE - AH S A S A H AT
ety 2 #11.4% o

HEZEWFECRMMER > w58 T
U A% Y B RE B H £557,428,000
RN EE NN b NS O
2 #152% o
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26.

27.

28.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The number of share options permitted to be granted under the
Scheme at the beginning and the end of the financial year were
64,828,000 and 57,428,000 respectively. The service provider
sublimit under the Scheme is not yet available as at the date of
approval of these financial statements

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options
granted under the Scheme during the financial year 13,717,000
divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue for
the year 1,094,013,375 is 1.3%.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 78 of the financial
statements.

26. B RESTE )
B BUF FER) AR > R E R AR
52 0 1 B RE B H 4 Al 464,828,000
1y J57,428,0000) © # % 5% %5 BB
FHAER > W MEGEE T A MR R A
N IE R o

B BUFERE > SR 8 5T E 4% 0
BE AT T B AT 0 B H 13,717,000
Py Bk DUAE (A B8 AT I 03 19 i RE ST 1
#1,094,013,375%5 5 £41.3%

27. %
e U N )V R o Y R R
SRR T R s B H 8 i B S R
EISHM G A MEm s H £ -

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 28. HEKH B
2022
20224
US$°000
FER
Net assets disposed of: EARR=S - §RE I
Property, plant and equipment S/ ES Jﬁﬂg & i 955
Cash and bank balances B B BRAT & 22
Tax payables ﬁE ﬁ Pl 3K 1
Deferred tax liabilities JiE Bl IA A 1)
975
Exchange fluctuation reserve BEE % )k ) faf 45 1)
974
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries B BT m) 2 i AR 6 57
1,031
Satisfied by: DL 3 7 K AE AT -
Cash W4 1,031
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash 4 Bl thi B Fif i 2> #] 1) BL 4 K
equivalents in respect of the disposal of b L LD RE NG
subsidiaries is as follows: nr
Cash consideration B4 RE 1,031
Cash and bank balances disposed of B 4 KR AT A R 22)
Deposit received in prior year i o A R SR 4% (101)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in 0 B A ED Y B 4 BB &
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries EAEY) A 908
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 2. MEBERERME

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions (@)
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
US$1,246,000 (2021: US$432,000) and US$1,246,000
(2021: US$432,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings.

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b)
activities

EXRERERS

AL AEE S TFNHE
PR A EENEB SR
B DL B B 3 1l 491,246,000
JC (20214 : 432,00032 J0) 21,246,000
37 (Q0214F : 43200035 7T) °

ELXEREETINEEEH

Lease Interest-bearing

liabilities bank borrowings

HESE FHRERITE R

US$°000 US$°000
FEx FEx
At 1 January 2022 #2022 1 H1H 2,382 4,639
New leases B E 1,246 —
Remeasurement on lease HEBFTZEHG =
modifications 66 —
Changes from financing cash flows il & B 4 i & 5% &) (1,463) 1,841
Covid-19-related rent concessions A E WA A EL2019 4F
from lessors B0 7 5 AR S B il % A
B A — —
Interest expense B BH X 59 —
Foreign exchange movement A1 e 5 Tl 45) 9)
At 31 December 2022 R20224F12 H31H 2,245 6,471
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 29. FERERERME @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continuea)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) EXERETEBENEBEEE
activities (continued) (#1)

Lease Interest-bearing

liabilities  bank borrowings

HE A A B R AT A K

US$°000 US$’000
T*£0 T %t
At 1 January 2021 R20214E1 H1H 1,120 3,378
New leases B & 432 —
Remeasurement on lease HEEBFT 2 E &
modifications B 1,990 —
Changes from financing cash flows il & Bl & i & % &) (1,155) 1,263
Covid-19-related rent concessions A E A A EL2019 4
from lessors B0 2 ek R 9 2 il 48 A
R @) —
Interest expense B B 32 18 —
Foreign exchange movement Al R 5 ) (19) )
At 31 December 2021 R2021412 H31H 2.382 4,639
(¢) Total cash outflow for leases ¢ HENBEEARLATE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement A GRERZHENE &
of cash flows is as follows: i AR AT -
2022 2021
20224 20214F
US$°000 US$°000
FEx T %70
Within financing activities Rl I B 1R 1,463 1,155
30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 30. E EE
Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s bank AR [ B SR AT 18 S 4 0 A0 2 A R
borrowings are included in notes 23 to the financial statements. A ORL £ 45 TE W5 R M RE23 ¢ o
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2022%12H31H

31. COMMITMENTS 31. A&IE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of T 3 OR A B B AT 0T R AR R
the reporting period. # o
2022 2021
20224 20214F
US$°000 US$°000
FEx T %o
Contracted, but not provided for: [SEAFOR(ER S
Furniture and fixtures 150, Ko 2 B 145 61
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS N.BBHAIRS
(a) In addition to the transactions, arrangements and balances @ BRTMBMEFLENLS %
detailed elsewhere in these financial statements, the PE K & Bk > A 4R [ A AR A BE O
Group had the following transactions with related parties A LAN BT 58 5

during the year:

2022 2021
20225 20214F

US$°000 US$°000
Fxxn Txt

Lease payments paid to related £ T B 5 28 #)

companies” Z HEA (i) 1,147 927
A Lease payments of nil (2021: US$861,000) included in these . FIARL S B T 2 S AL B AT R E
related party transactions also constitute continuing connected (20214 : 861,0003% JT) 7K #§ W< |
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 7 KR R 55 14.A B T 7 26 10 5 28 B
WAL g e
Note: Wt -
(i)  The lease payments were charged by related companies based A BT B A ) 2 R B A O R
on terms as agreed between the relevant parties. A director WA Wb 2 AR AE o B A
and the beneficial controlling shareholder of the Company, Mr. CIPAaEA & V& N s
Chan, is also a director and beneficial shareholder of the related [ 2 AN F) 22— 24 HE S NCE A8 B
companies. JB B B
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2022%12H31H

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS RN.BEHIXZw

(continued)

(b) 7% 4 [ & 204 7N B G i

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2022 2021

20226 20214F

US$°000 US$’000

TERx T %7

Short term employee benefits k0 I B A A 1,150 1,230

Post-employment benefits ik 1k 1% A 8 10
Total compensation paid to key EACESE -1 YN = EX

management personnel (1% ik ] 4 B 1,158 1,240

AT ST T B0 A A R 4 R
i B 5 ik K T k8 o

B.REHE>HNEMIT A

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 8 to the financial statements.

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial 5 R & R 4 R T H A R
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T B 4 F
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBEREANERNEREE
2022 2021
2022F 20214
US$°000 US$°000
FTER T %t
Trade receivables 5 o) E Wk IR 12,054 11,664
Deposits and other receivables i A N HoAth R i R IE 2,175 1,562
Pledged deposit T K 7 A7 3K 2,029 2,004
Cash and cash equivalents e kB a%EEY 28,658 31,641
44,916 46,871
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33.

34.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

Financial liabilities

Notes to Financial Statements

33.

BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

BENEHNEMIE w

TEMAE

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
BREBHEREAARNESR ARG

2022 2021

2022 20214F

US$°000 US$’000

FEx T %t

Trade payables 5 E AT 3k IR 4,352 3,255

Other payables At JBE ASH BRCIH 53 152
Financial liabilities included in £ 45 7E ME T AR IE Y

accruals et = 591 377

Lease liabilities g AR 2,245 2,382

Interest-bearing bank borrowings wh B SR AT 18 3K 6,471 4,639

13,712 10,805

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities reasonably approximated
to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposit, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, trade payables, other payables, financial
liabilities included in accruals, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank borrowings reasonably approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments or the effect of discounting is not material.

34.

ERMITARAREE

IR > A SR B B AR E AR
1 e T (B BRLHC Y AR MBS B AT -

P RE O AT G B BB e S Y
CARATAF 3K~ B o EWCRIA ~ 128 )
oAty HEWSCETE ~ B2 5 ME AT BROH - HoA
JEAT FRIE ~ B HE 7 JE SRR IE Y 5
A - HEAEAFERGHERZA
FUARAE - 58 A SRR 1 (E A 2 A
Ao R R % S TR 8 A A A B
CAERE 2 BN N
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT . eEMEEREERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposit, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank borrowings. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, trade payables, other
payables and financial liabilities included in accruals, which
mainly arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-bearing bank
borrowings with floating interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on
interest-bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates).

AR M e m TR B4
Be%fEy cEMFER HEA
AR ERATE R - %% ST
HEEZEHA RS AL 2 EE -
A SR T 1 G A e R R E % BB
B oy MEWORKIR ~ 4 B FL At I ik
- B 5 MEAT AR - H At AT S DL
LA RE P M AR o £
HHEELE LB -

A S T 0 9 LR
LB~ A JaL B 5 6 LR
L P BB - 9 B A
SFLJB W 2 SO T % 4
MR ¢

A = ke
A 4 [ T 3 T 3 ) AR A B A JEL B
B A AR [ A OF B R 2 0 TR ORAT
A B -

AR A G i M R R R
AT 16 5 B 1) A 4R 18 B A i A (FE
Pi A A IR 3R OR R ) 3 R R A AT
AE 5 B) (19 UK -

Increase/
(decrease) in

Increase/
(decrease) in

basis points  profit before tax

2 Bt Al 28 A
2, i 2) #m, Of4)
US$’000
T Xt
2022 20225
Hong Kong dollar T (50) 32
Hong Kong dollar T 50 32)
2021 20214F
Hong Kong dollar T (50) 23
Hong Kong dollar T 50 (23)

There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained
profits.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT B.e@EAREEEEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4%)
Foreign currency risk S BE /2 B
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such AL A 32 5 B R B o 5% 5 )RR
exposures mainly arise from revenue generated and/or costs and TR A BR T AR AL T RE B RS
expenses incurred by operating units in currencies other than P U 4 A R AR A KB A
the units’ functional currencies. DA R 7 R BH S e
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of I A o R (i B A
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the Je AR 2> S AR (E Y 52 B)) A 4 1 B
Euro (“EUR”), Renminbi (“RMB”), Pound Sterling (“GBP”), Hil Vi A (76 BT A7 oAt R R A 5 T ) 3k
Canadian dollar (“CAD”) and Australian dollar (“AUD”) gt (TRt ]) ~ AR TARE]) ~ %8s
exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of the (M58 ~ ng Koo (Thotl) &K
Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in the fair values of A EETT (TR T ) b i 225 B AT e 4 )
monetary assets and liabilities). 1 B o

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
exchange rate profit before tax

Ex@i, BATEFEM

Ol 2) ORL &)
% US$’000
% T %70
2022 2022%F
If the United States dollar weakens A 5 T 54, K 7T 15 55
against EUR 5 574
If the United States dollar strengthens A 2 7T 56 K 7T i s
against EUR 5) (574)
If the United States dollar weakens (BTN L ¥
against RMB 5 1
If the United States dollar strengthens i & 7T 58 N B R T o
against RMB %) 1)
If the United States dollar weakens i 287G 56, 5 8% 1 55
against GBP 5 65
If the United States dollar strengthens i 38 70 5 B 8% N o
against GBP ©)] (65)
If the United States dollar weakens 1 & T 58 40 50 1 55
against CAD 5 2
If the United States dollar strengthens 1 & T 58 fn 5T 5
against CAD 5) 2)
If the United States dollar weakens i 2 7T 0,18 I 1 55
against AUD 5 30
If the United States dollar strengthens i 2 76 5818 50 0 58
against AUD O] (30)
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT . crEREEEERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (consinuea) 4)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) S BE /2 B 4w

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
exchange rate profit before tax

XM, BATEFEM

(m 2) (R 2)
% US$°000
% Tt
2021 20214F
If the United States dollar weakens i 2 7G58, K T i 55
against EUR 5 836
If the United States dollar strengthens 116 35 7 5L R T i o
against EUR ©) (836)
If the United States dollar weakens (EPIIWN L ¥
against RMB 5 2
If the United States dollar strengthens i 25 70 5 N BB i 5@
against RMB 5) (2)
If the United States dollar weakens 1 5 JC 5, e 8% 55
against GBP 5 23
If the United States dollar strengthens 1 3 JT 5, g 8% i
against GBP ®)) (23)
If the United States dollar weakens A 2 7T 56,0 ot i 55
against CAD 5 3
If the United States dollar strengthens 116 3% JC 54 10 T i i
against CAD ) 3)
If the United States dollar weakens i 2 7T 5018 JT 8 55
against AUD 5 68
If the United States dollar strengthens 11 38 0 5 I T 0 s
against AUD ) (68)
There is no impact on the Group’s equity except on the retained M TR BB A A > AR 4 B ) RE 25 30 JE
profits. TR o
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group primarily trades on credit terms with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
most customers who wish to trade on credit terms are to a
certain extent subject to certain credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored by the Group’s
management on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 December 2022

12-month ECLs
128 A
REREE

E&

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

B caEREEEERBE

(#)

FERR

A B2 1] 1 2 DAAE A 75 X BRLA R A B gy
HENE =TTETL S - AEEK
BURKLE - BT A A 22 LME 7 SOEFT
oy R P A TR T 45
JH AR 5 AR T o BN B L
&5 B b A 2R R B BT R A R -

EESRBRERIEBEDE

TR AL EEBOR > JIRE
B E K 58 E BT > BRIk
ZE 3 K R AR B %% 7 {F n] A HoA
R RIS 2 32 DL R R 12
H31H Z R P B Ji B BL it - 2
B B Ty A T T R T AR o

7420225128318
Lifetime ECLs

RHRARERE

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FIKE FIER FIRR B CH
US$°000 US$000 US$’000 US$°000 US$°000

Tn Txn TR TEn Tn

Trade receivables* B 5 M FOR — — — 12,078 12,078
Financial assets included in prepayments, & A F {1 55 »
deposits and other receivables e B FA R M
— Normal** FEM MG E
— Egw 2,175 — — — 2,175
Pledged deposit BEiSURcT s
— Not yet past due — i 4 100 2,029 — — — 2,029
Cash and cash equivalents RERB 25BN
— Not yet past due — i A ) 28,658 — — — 28,658
32,862 — — 12,078 44,940
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT . eEMEEREERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4)
EERB @

R2021%F12A31H
Lifetime ECLs

Credit risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2021

12-month ECLs
128 A
BHGEE
BH
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1PE B Fo B H3 B fijfL i Ehi
US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$°000 US$000

T#T TR T %7 TET T#T

Trade receivables* B e R — — — 11,693 11,693
Financial assets included in prepayments,  #FA T A »

deposits and other receivables e A e
— Normal#* FORM MG R
— Ef 1,562 — — — 1,562
Pledged deposit M
— Not yet past due — I A 2,004 — — — 2,004
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEEFEY
— Not yet past due — WA 31,641 — — — 31,641
35,207 — — 11,693 46,900
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach * W7 A R T AL R AR TR 1 B ) R R

TETT 55 o R T R R A S R
B G5 SR B GE 174 6 o

for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in
note 17 to the financial statements.

*E The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, wE FEATEAT FCE > 4 4 By A M i 3
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they SEEENEEEREMAEY - B
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial 9 0 RHREUR 4 R 2E 19 15 8RB B W) 5
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. it 58 LA SR K W 3 o B A TIE | o &
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be J) 4 il E MR B R R AR A TR R -
“doubtful”.

F A AR 4R B £ B DU 1 7 sC B AL g m

Since the Group primarily trades on credit terms with

recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no
requirement for collateral.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by analysis by
customer/counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 13% (2021:
17%) and 49% (2021: 59%) of the Group’s trade receivables
were due from the Group’s largest customer and five largest
customers, respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note
17 to the financial statements.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT B.e@EAREEEEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4%)
Liquidity risk B B
The Group’s objective is to ensure there are adequate funds 2 AR 1 1Y) B AR R R OR L A R A K
to meet its contractual payments for financial liabilities. In TH DL AT 4 Fll 6 1 B A R A K
the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and Hoe MM B RN S > A%
maintains a level of cash and bank balances, and time deposits o BB I AR — o FR R B AR
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s T &5 8% - DL B8 3R A A g
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash HAF K DABEAS A 4R T 2 8 1 R AR
flows. Cash flows of the Group are closely monitored by senior BEmEE 8 REHIE
management on an ongoing basis. MEmERE R EYEE -
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at R A5 A 40 2R B B RO > A 4R R
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual MRz &/ A B IR mT -

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

3 to less
Less than than 12 1to 5to

On demand 3 months months § years 10 years Total
REX 3MEA 128 A 1856 SENF &t
US$000 US$000 US$°000 US$°000 US$000  US$000
TER TEn Tin Tin TEn TEn

Trade payables B 5 e A 3 — 4,352 — — — 4,352

Other payables ot e A FOR — 53 — — — 53
Financial liabilities included in accruals 4% 76 M 1 3B H 19

SRARK 16 575 - - - 591

Lease liabilities HEAR - 279 1,340 450 34 2,393

Interest-bearing bank borrowings AR 6,471 - — — — 6,471

6,487 5,259 1,340 450 324 13,860
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT . eEMEEREERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ()
i Ep M R B oan)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Less than 3 to less than 1 to
On demand 3 months 12 months 5 years Total

D 3ESR

BER A 12f8 A

US$'000  USS000  US$000  USS000  USS'000
TET TET TET TEX TET

1554 aF

Trade payables B 50 e A 3 — 3,255 — — 3,255
Other payables oAl 8 A R — 152 — — 152
Financial liabilities included in accruals W AT
SHARK 16 361 — — 377
Lease liabilities HEAE — 212 998 1,237 2447
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHERAT 4,639 — — — 4,639
4,655 3,980 998 1,237 10,870
Note: i

o A SR Y TS SR AT A5 BREL N (R AR
#6,471,000 3 JC (20214F 4,639,000 J©) [ 4
T8 AR K o 5% S MH 0 B K R B R

Included in the above interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group are
certain term loans with an aggregate carrying amount of US$6,471,000 (2021:
US$4,639,000). The loan agreements of these borrowings contain a repayment

on demand clause giving the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at
any time and therefore, for the purposes of the above maturity profile, the total
amount is classified as “on demand”.

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors of the Company do not
believe that the loans will be called before their respective maturity dates, and
they consider that the loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity
dates as set out in the respective loan agreements. This evaluation was made
considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of approval of the
financial statements; the lack of events of default; and the fact that the Group
has made all previously scheduled repayments on time.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain a
repayment on demand clause, the maturity profile of those
loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the effect of
any repayment on demand clause, is as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

B caEREEEERBE

(4%)

B M R B o)

R 5 4 B SR VR R I A
Ao 7% S O A I OR 09 B IR
P22 (LA & % % B 35 3T DA % 41 460
AT ] $27 TSR 3 G B B 2 3 3]
T

Less than 1to Over 5
1 year 5 years years Total
DR1E 12545 HEiBSE &%
US$°000 US$°000 US$’000 US$°000
T*5t T %0 F%£0 T %70
As at 31 December 2022 #20224F12 A31H 6,579 — — 6,579
As at 31 December 2021 2021412 H31H 4,299 — — 4,299%

* Excluding the Early Repaid Loans

Interest rate benchmark reform

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any financial
instruments based on United States dollar, LIBOR or any other
interest rate benchmark which will transition to an alternative
benchmark rate.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had certain interest-bearing
bank borrowings denominated in US$. The interest rates of
these instruments are based on the LIBOR, which will cease to
be published after 30 June 2023.

FEEERE

A20224F 12 H31H » A 4 8 I 48 AT {a]
FEA T~ i R AT A 2 HF R SAE
AT Ath 1) 3R 356 98 I 3 I ) B AR 5L e
R AT 4/l T H o

A20214F12H31H » AREEH % T2
EICFHEMFHEMRATIE K - %% TH
A % T DA A O8R4 [ 2E HF B A AR
P8 > i SR AT R AR R 20234F6 H
30H Z A% #% AN FE A -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continuea)

Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

The information about financial instruments based on an
interbank offered rate that had yet to transition to an alternative
benchmark rate is as follows:

As at 31 December 2021

. emEREEEERBE

(#)

MEEERE )

HL R SRAT R 2E U S 0 R AR I B
AR R R TRER T :

20214F12 A31H

Non-derivative
financial liabilities
— carrying value

IE ATk & AR
— AR
US$’000
T3£7T
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT R SR AT K
— United States dollar LIBOR — 3 T AR AT IR
A 3,000

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure
and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Conrinued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
total debt to total shareholders’ equity. Total debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings. Total shareholders’ equity
comprises all components of equity attributable to owners of
the parent. The Group’s policy is to maintain the gearing ratio
at a reasonable level. The gearing ratios as at the end of the
reporting periods were as follows:

Interest-bearing bank borrowings

At B ERAT A A e AR 5 A A
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I EcREREEEEREKE
(4%)
EXEE m)
% 4 1 DA 20 L R B S AR 5 B S
400 A1 T R HE 25 A0 RO HL R o 1 TS
406 4R 5 SR AT A K o M S 2%
4003 95 £ ) B AT A 5 HE 25 10
FF A I o A% 2 11 5 ) 2 5 s 2
B 5% 4 45 76 4 T OKF o 2 W45 0
o I AL 2

2022
20224

2021
20214F
US$°000
T £ 70

US$°000
FXx

and total debt 6,471 4,639
Total shareholders’ equity Ji R HE 4 AR R 43,291 40,083
Gearing ratio BE R 14.9% 11.6%
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36. QA B AR R &R

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

A% % T W A K 2 B R
o001 F -

2022 2021
20226 20214F
US$’000 US$°000
FET + £
NON-CURRENT ASSET ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary W — A B g > m) 2 B 7 7
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other T KIH ~ 4% 4 K& Ho At FE i3 IE
receivables 50 40
Amounts due from subsidiaries  JE Ui B & 2\ &) #KIE 105,701 81,251
Cash and cash equivalents He kB &% EY 6,357 10,555
Total current assets REBEEHTE 112,108 91,846
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Other payables and accruals Ay B AT BRCIE B R R 60 54
Amounts due to subsidiaries JREAF A JB > ] IR 85,314 67,012
Total current liabilities RBEEAE 85,374 67,066
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEESRE 26,734 24,780
Net assets EEFRE 26,741 24,787
EQUITY =
Issued capital CEAT IR A 1,414 1,405
Reserves (note) GRS 25,327 23,382
Total equity ERHARHE 26,741 24,787
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BRI Pt

31 December 2022
2022%12H31H

36. XA B AR R T @

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note:

ARFRHZMEDT

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

Share Share
premium options Retained
account reserve profits Total
RGmEER BRERE REEF A%

US$’000 US$°000 US$°000 US$’000

T%7T T%5T T %7t T %7t

At 1 January 2021 202141 H1H 19,587 973 10,076 30,636

Profit for the year A 1A g — — 9,637 9,637
Issue of shares upon exercise of share AT 105 0% T HE % 58 AT IR M

options 2,550 (508) — 2,042
Equity-settled share option arrangements DA i &5 5 1) [ 1 E <4 Pk — 123 — 123
Transfer of share option reserve upon the i & # 1% i =k 3 ) 1%

forfeiture or expiry of share options i A HE £ — (15) 15 —
Second interim 2020 dividend 20204 55 Y i B — — (8,629) (8,629)
2020 special dividend 20204F 5 Fll i 5 — — (3,005) (3,005)
Interim 2021 dividend 20214 A 11 B — — (7,422) (7,422)
At 31 December 2021 and at 1 January  fA20214F12H31H &

2022 R20224F1 1A 22,137 573 672 23,382
Profit for the year AF A Vi — — 21,264 21,264
Issue of shares upon exercise of share AT 108 i R 1% AT IR A

options 1,449 (263) — 1,186
Equity-settled share option arrangements  PAHE #5 45 55 (19 [ 1% A 2 B — 266 — 266
Transfer of share option reserve upon the i i HE # 17 Wi 5 2| #A 1% 4

forfeiture or expiry of share options I U % it A5 — (62) 62 —
Second interim 2021 dividend 20214F 55 W IS — — (11,513) (11,513)
2021 special dividend 20214F 45 Al i 18 — — (989) (989)
Interim 2022 dividend 20224 1 S — — (8.269) (8.269)
At 31 December 2022 R2022412 A31H 23,586 514 1,227 25,327
Under the Company Law of the Cayman Islands, a company WRIESRENFE » NFRETIH
may make distributions to its members out of the share VR A4 UR A s fEE T HR A -
premium in certain circumstances.

37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 37 WEBKHRE

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 23 February 2023.

5% 55 W BS i 3K b #E 25 @r ih20234F2 A
23 H 3 A8 K b E B A o
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Five Year Financial Summary

EFNBEE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of i 51 4% 48 3] i 48 1 # W B4 BUAE B2 1Y) 28
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from AHDI R EE N AfE > SR A EHH K
the published audited financial statements and reclassified as A% B4 B 3R S 488 0 40 81 (A8 ) -
appropriate, is set out below. This summary does not form part of the I 45 223l /S #§ 5 48 25 4% W BS o % 2 — #68
audited financial statements. )

RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3BLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

20225 20214F 20204F 20194 20184F
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$ 000
FET T %0 T £ F£o0 FE0

REVENUE A 86,757 74,128 52,818 45,910 41,806
PROFIT BEFORE TAX A E R 26,381 24,727 16,042 13,994 12,213
Income tax expense T 45 B BH = (3,722) (3,527) (1,812) (1,905) (1,593)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR & ATREEA

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EAERZF

OWNERS OF THE

PARENT 22,659 21,200 14,230 12,089 10,620
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

As at 31 December
M12H31H

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

202245 20214F 20204F 20194F 20184F
US$°000 US$000 US$000 US$000  US$ 000
FET TE70 T £ TE0 T¥ET

TOTAL ASSETS EEHE 83,290 71,743 59,307 50,078 45,295
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEHAE (39,999) (31,660) (23.469)  (15,964)  (12,577)
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